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PART I

Item 1. BUSINESS

General
Company Background

Barrett Business Services, Inc. (“BBSI,” the “Company,” “our” or “we”), is a leading provider of business management solutions for small and mid-sized 
companies. The Company has developed a management platform that integrates a knowledge-based approach from the management consulting industry with 
tools from the human resource outsourcing industry. This platform, through the effective leveraging of human capital, helps our business owner clients run their 
businesses more effectively. We believe this platform, delivered through a decentralized organizational structure, differentiates BBSI from our competitors. 
BBSI was incorporated in Maryland in 1965.

Certain statements below contain forward-looking information that is subject to risks and uncertainties. See “Forward-Looking Information” in Item 7 of Part II of 
this report and “Risk Factors” in Item 1A of Part I of this report.

Common Stock Split

On June 4, 2024, we amended our Charter to increase the number of authorized shares of common stock from 20,500,000 shares to 82,000,000 shares, and 
our Board of Directors declared a four-for-one split of the Company’s common stock effected in the form of a stock dividend (the “2024 Stock Split”). Each 
stockholder of record at the close of business on June 14, 2024 received a dividend of three additional shares of common stock for each then-held share, 
distributed after close of trading on June 21, 2024. All share and per share amounts presented herein have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the impact of 
the 2024 Stock Split. The shares of common stock retain a par value of $0.01 per share. Accordingly, an amount equal to the par value of the increased shares 
resulting from the stock split was reclassified from additional paid-in capital to common stock.

Business Strategy

Our strategy is to align local operations teams with the mission of small and mid-sized business owners, driving value to their business. To do so, BBSI:

• partners with business owners to leverage their investment in human capital through a high-touch, results-oriented approach;

• brings predictability to each client organization through a three-tiered management platform; and

• enables business owners to focus on their core business by reducing organizational complexity and maximizing productivity.

Business Organization

We operate a decentralized delivery model using operationally-focused business teams, typically located within 50 miles of our client companies. These teams 
are led by experienced business generalists and include senior level professionals with expertise in human resources, organizational development, risk 
mitigation and workplace safety, recruiting, employee benefits, and various types of administration, including payroll. These teams are responsible for growth 
and profitability of their operations, and for providing strategic leadership, guidance and expert consultation to our client companies. The decentralized structure 
fosters autonomous decision-making in which business teams deliver plans that closely align with the objectives of each business owner client.

Services Overview

BBSI’s core purpose is to advocate for business owners, particularly in the small and mid-sized business segment. Our evolution from an entrepreneurially run 
company to a professionally managed organization 
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has helped to form our view that all businesses experience inflection points at key stages of growth. The insights gained through our own growth, along with the 
trends we see in working with more than 8,100 companies each day, define our approach to guiding business owners through the challenges associated with 
being an employer. BBSI’s business teams align with each business owner client through a structured three-tiered progression. In doing so, business teams 
focus on the objectives of each business owner and deliver planning, guidance and resources in support of those objectives.

Tier 1: Tactical Alignment
The first stage focuses on the mutual setting of expectations and is essential to a successful client relationship. It begins with a process of assessment and 
discovery in which the business owner’s business objectives, attitudes, and culture are aligned with BBSI’s processes, controls and culture. This stage includes 
an implementation process, which addresses the administrative components of employment.

Tier 2: Dynamic Relationship
The second stage of the relationship emphasizes organizational development as a means of achieving each client’s business objectives. There is a focus on 
process improvement, development of best practices, supervisor training and leadership development.

Tier 3: Strategic Counsel
With an emphasis on advocacy on behalf of the business owner, the third stage of the relationship is more strategic and forward-looking with a goal of 
cultivating an environment in which all efforts are directed by the mission and long-term objectives of the business owner.

In addition to serving as a resource and guide, BBSI can provide workers’ compensation coverage as a means of meeting statutory requirements and 
protecting our clients from employment-related injury claims. Through our third-party administrators, we provide claims management services for our clients. 
We work to manage and reduce job injury claims, identify fraudulent claims and structure optimal work programs, including modified duty. 

In 2023, BBSI began offering additional employee benefit programs to our clients. The new benefit programs available to clients include medical, dental and 
vision plans, flexible spending accounts and health savings accounts, life insurance and voluntary accident coverage, critical illness and disability coverage, 
among others. These additional employee benefit programs are offered through fully insured arrangements with third-party carriers and are designed to provide 
strategic value to our clients through access to best-in-class plans and service. 

Categories of Services
We report financial results in two categories of services: Professional Employer Services (“PEO”) and Staffing. See Item 7 of Part II of this Report for 
information regarding the percentages of total net revenues provided by our PEO and staffing services for each of the last three fiscal years, and our 
consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of Part II of this Report for information regarding revenues, net income and total assets in our single reportable 
segment. 

PEO

We enter into a client services agreement to establish a co-employment relationship with each client company, assuming responsibility for payroll, payroll taxes, 
workers’ compensation (if elected) and benefits coverage (if elected) and certain other administrative functions for the client’s existing workforce. We provide 
our PEO clients access to human resource advisors, retirement plans, a learning management system and our web-based technology platform, myBBSI.
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We refer to employees of our PEO clients as worksite employees (“WSEs”). The client maintains physical care, custody and control of the WSEs, including the 
authority to hire and terminate employees. During 2024, we supported in excess of 8,100 PEO clients with total average WSEs of 129,577. 

Staffing and Recruiting

Our staffing services include on-demand or short-term staffing assignments, contract staffing, direct placement (including for PEO and non-PEO clients), and 
long-term or indefinite-term on-site management. On-site management employees are BBSI management employees who are based on the client-site and 
whose jobs are to assist BBSI staffing employees. Our recruiting experts maintain a deep network of professionals from which we source candidates. Through 
an assessment process, we gain an understanding of the short and long-term needs of our clients, allowing us to identify and source the right talent for each 
position. We then conduct a rigorous screening process to help ensure a successful hire.

Clients and Client Contracts
Our PEO business is typically characterized by long-term relationships that result in recurring revenue. The terms and conditions applicable to our client 
relationships are set forth in a client services agreement, which typically provides for an initial term of one year with renewal for additional one-year periods, but 
generally permits cancellation by either party upon 30 days’ written notice. In addition, in most cases we may terminate the agreement at any time for certain 
breaches of contract, including nonpayment or failure to follow our workplace safety recommendations. 

The PEO client services agreement also provides for indemnification by the client against losses arising out of any default by the client under the agreement, 
including failure to comply with any employment-related, health and safety, or immigration laws or regulations. Our client service agreement requires that clients 
enter a co-employment arrangement and maintain comprehensive liability coverage in the amount of $1.0 million for acts of their employees. It is nevertheless 
possible that claims not satisfied or covered through indemnification or insurance may be asserted against us, which could adversely affect our results of 
operations.

We have PEO client services agreements with customers in a diverse array of industries, including, among others, construction, manufacturing, transportation 
and warehousing, waste management and remediation services, retail, leisure and hospitality and wholesale trade. None of our clients individually represented 
more than 1% of our total revenues in 2024.

Market Opportunity
As a PEO that aligns with the mission of business owners by providing resources and guidance to small and mid-size businesses, BBSI believes its growth is 
driven by the desire of business owners to focus on mission-critical functions, reduce complexity associated with the employment function, mitigate costs and 
maximize their investment in human capital. Our integrated management platform has enabled us to capitalize on these needs within the small to mid-size 
business sector.

The small and mid‑sized business segment is particularly attractive because:

• it is large, continues to offer significant growth opportunity and remains underserved by professional services companies;

• it typically has fewer in-house resources than larger businesses and, as a result, is generally more dependent on external resources;

• we generally experience a relatively high client retention rate and lower client acquisition costs within this market segment; and

• we have found that small to mid-sized businesses are responsive to quality of service when selecting a PEO or staffing services provider.
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Competition
The business environment in which we operate is characterized by intense competition and fragmentation. BBSI is not aware of reliable statistics regarding the 
number of its competitors, but certain large, well-known companies typically compete with us in the same markets and have greater financial and marketing 
resources than we do, including Automatic Data Processing, Inc., ManpowerGroup, Inc., Kelly Services, Inc., Insperity, Inc., TriNet Group, Inc., Robert Half 
International Inc. and Paychex, Inc. We face additional competition from regional providers and we may in the future also face competition from new entrants to 
the field, including other staffing services companies, payroll processing companies and insurance companies. The principal competitive factors in the business 
environment in which we operate are price and level of service.

We believe that our growth is attributable to our ability to provide small and mid-sized companies with the resources and knowledge base of a large employer 
delivered through a local operations team. Our level of integration with each client business provides us an additional competitive advantage.

Technology Platform
Our client-facing technology platform, myBBSI, includes both internally developed and licensed software which gives our clients a wide range of tools, including 
the ability to process payroll, collect and process time and attendance information, manage human resource information including employee onboarding and 
termination, as well as compensation, benefits, and payroll tax reporting.  

Growth Strategy
We believe our clients are one of our best advocates and powerful drivers of referral-based growth. In each market, operations teams provide expertise, 
consultation and support to our clients, driving growth and supporting retention. We anticipate that by adding business teams to existing branches, we can 
achieve incremental growth in those markets, driven by our reputation and by client referrals. In most markets, business development efforts are led by area 
managers and are further supported by business development managers.

Our business growth has three primary sources: referrals from existing clients, direct business-to-business sales efforts by our area managers and business 
development managers, and an extensive referral network. Partners in our referral network include insurance brokers, financial advisors, attorneys, CPAs, and 
other business professionals who can facilitate an introduction to prospective clients. These referral partners facilitate introductions to business owners on our 
behalf, typically in exchange for a fee equal to a small percentage of payroll.

We see two key drivers to our growth:

• Increase market share in existing markets. We seek to support, strengthen and expand branch office operations through the ongoing 
development of business teams. We believe that strengthening and expanding the operations of each location is an efficient and effective means 
of increasing market share in the geographic areas in which we do business, and that our business teams serve a dual purpose: 1) Delivering 
high-quality service to our clients, thereby supporting client business growth and retention, and driving client referrals, and 2) Incubating and 
acquiring talent at the branch level to support expansion into new markets.

• Penetrate new markets. We intend to expand our geographic presence as opportunities arise. We continue to refine our approach to geographic 
expansion, which now includes an "asset-light" entry to new markets until sufficient scale is reached to warrant a physical office location. As part 
of this effort to expand geographically, we have become licensed to provide PEO services nationwide.
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Workers’ Compensation
Through our client services agreement, BBSI can provide workers’ compensation coverage to its clients. We provide this coverage through a variety of 
methods, all of which are subject to rigorous underwriting to assess financial stability, risk factors and cultural alignment related to safety and the client’s desire 
to improve their operations. In providing this coverage, we are responsible for complying with applicable statutory requirements for workers' compensation 
coverage.

Risk mitigation is also an important contributor to our principal goal of helping business owners operate their business more efficiently. It is in the mutual 
interests of the client and BBSI to commit to workplace safety and risk mitigation. We maintain clear guidelines for our area managers and risk management 
consultants, directly tying their continued employment to their diligence in understanding and addressing the risks of accident or injury associated with the 
industries in which client companies operate and in monitoring clients’ compliance with workplace safety requirements.

Elements of Workers' Compensation System

State law (and for certain types of employees, federal law) generally mandates that an employer reimburse its employees for the costs of medical care and 
other specified benefits for injuries or illnesses, including catastrophic injuries and fatalities, incurred in the course and scope of employment. Most states 
require employers to maintain workers' compensation insurance or otherwise demonstrate financial responsibility to meet workers' compensation obligations to 
employees. The benefits payable for various categories of claims are determined by state regulation and vary with the severity and nature of the injury or illness 
and other specified factors. In return for this guaranteed protection, workers' compensation is an exclusive remedy and employees are generally precluded from 
seeking other damages from their employer for workplace injuries. In many states, employers who meet certain financial and other requirements are permitted 
to self-insure.

Insured Program

The Company provides workers’ compensation coverage for client employees primarily through arrangements with fully licensed, third-party insurers (the 
“insured program”). Under this program, carriers issue policies or afford coverage to the Company’s clients under a program maintained by the Company. 
Approximately 85% of the Company’s workers’ compensation exposure is covered through the insured program.

Effective July 1, 2021, the Company entered into a fully insured arrangement for its insured program, whereby third-party insurers assume substantially all risk 
of loss for claims incurred under the program. This fully insured arrangement has been extended annually and covers claims incurred between July 1, 2021 and 
June 30, 2025, with an option to renew through June 30, 2026.

Each annual fully insured policy allows BBSI to participate in savings if claims develop favorably up to a maximum per policy year ranging from $20.5 million to 
$28.5 million, depending on the policy period. For only the policy period from July 1, 2021 to June 30 2022, BBSI can also incur additional premium up to $7.5 
million if claims develop adversely. No additional premium can be charged based on claim performance for other policy years.

Premiums incurred but not paid are recorded as either current or long-term premium payable on the consolidated balance sheets based on the expected timing 
of the payments.

For claims incurred under the insured program prior to July 1, 2021, the Company retains risk of loss up to the first $3.0 million per occurrence on policies 
issued after June 30, 2020 and $5.0 million per occurrence on policies issued before that date. 

Claim obligations for policies issued under the insured program between February 1, 2014 and June 30, 2018 were removed through loss portfolio transfers in 
2020 and 2021.
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Self-Insured Programs 

The Company is a self-insured employer with respect to workers' compensation coverage for all employees, including employees of PEO clients that elect to 
participate in our workers’ compensation program, working in Colorado, Maryland, Ohio, and Oregon. In the state of Washington, state law allows only the 
Company's staffing services and internal management employees to be covered under the Company's self-insured workers' compensation program. The 
Company also operates a wholly owned, fully licensed insurance company, Ecole, which provides workers’ compensation coverage to client employees working 
in Arizona and Utah. Approximately 15% of the Company’s workers’ compensation exposure is covered through self-insurance or Ecole (the “self-insured 
programs”).

For all claims incurred under the Company’s self-insured programs, the Company retains risk of loss up to the first $3.0 million per occurrence, except in 
Maryland and Colorado, where the Company’s retention per occurrence is $1.0 million and $2.0 million, respectively. For claims incurred under the Company’s 
self-insured programs prior to July 1, 2020, the Company retains risk of loss up to the first $5.0 million per occurrence, except in Maryland and Colorado, where 
the retention per occurrence is $1.0 million and $2.0 million, respectively.

Claims Management

As a result of our status as a self-insured employer in four states and our remaining retention arrangements, our workers' compensation expense is tied directly 
to the incidence and severity of covered workplace injuries. We seek to contain our workers' compensation costs through a comprehensive approach to claims 
management. We use managed-care systems to reduce medical costs and keep time-loss costs to a minimum by assigning injured workers, whenever 
possible, to short-term assignments which accommodate the workers' physical limitations. We believe that these assignments minimize both time actually lost 
from work and covered time-loss costs. We engage a third-party claims administrator ("TPA") to provide the primary claims management expertise. Typical 
claims management procedures include performing thorough and prompt on-site investigations of claims filed by employees, working with physicians to 
encourage efficient medical management of cases, denying questionable claims and attempting to negotiate early settlements to eliminate future adverse 
development of claims costs. We also maintain a corporate-wide pre-employment drug screening program and a post-injury drug test program. We believe our 
claims management program has resulted in a reduction in the frequency of fraudulent claims and in accidents in which the use of illicit drugs appears to have 
been a contributing factor.

Sponsored Benefits
In 2023, BBSI began offering employee benefits to its PEO client employees. As a plan sponsor, BBSI engages with third-party insurance carriers to enter into 
fully insured arrangements to offer a wide range of employee benefit programs to our clients, including medical, dental and vision plans, flexible spending 
accounts and health savings accounts, life insurance and voluntary accident coverage, and critical illness and disability coverage, among others.

As the sponsor and administrator of the PEO benefit programs, BBSI negotiates the terms of the benefit programs with third-party insurance carriers and 
benefit providers, pays insurance carrier premiums, and maintains the plans to comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws and regulations. We also 
provide access to benefit consultants who design benefit plans that meet the specific needs of our clients, produce tailored benefit guides that assist our 
worksite employees in selecting benefit products that are right for them, and we provide a custom enrollment interface through myBBSI. We believe that the 
administration services and the wide array of benefit products that we offer as a plan sponsor would traditionally only be available to large organizations. By 
providing our small and medium-sized business clients with access to best-in-class benefits and administration services, we are providing strategic value that 
improves our clients' ability to attract and retain top talent for their organizations. 
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Human Capital 
At December 31, 2024, we had a total of 3,658 employees, including 870 managerial, sales and administrative employees (together, “management 
employees”), 4 executive officers and 2,784 staffing services employees. We are also the administrative employer for certain limited purposes such as 
processing payroll and remitting payroll taxes for 132,069 WSEs in our co-employment arrangements with our PEO clients. The number of employees and 
WSEs at any given time may vary significantly due to business conditions at BBSI and our client companies. We believe our employee relations with 
management employees are good.

BBSI believes that making significant investments in the best management employee talent available allows us to leverage the value of this investment many 
times over. Additionally, we believe our Company’s success depends on our ability to attract, develop and retain our management employee and staffing 
workforce. As such, we strive to be an employer of choice and promote the health, welfare and safety of our employees. This involves promoting diversity and 
treating all employees with dignity and respect, while providing our management employees with fair, market-based, competitive and equitable compensation. 
Because of our continuous commitment to our employees, we have recently been recognized as a Great Place to Work Certified company for our fourth 
consecutive year.

We motivate our management employees through a compensation package that includes a competitive base salary and the opportunity for profit sharing. At the 
branch level, profit sharing is in direct correlation to client WSE growth and workers’ compensation claims performance, reinforcing a culture focused on 
achievement of client goals. We also provide a comprehensive benefits package as well as an employee stock purchase plan to our employees. We seek 
feedback from employees regarding our benefits package through employee surveys. This information is used by management to make improvements as we 
continuously strive to be an employer of choice. 

We offer various qualified employee benefit plans to our employees and WSEs for whom we are the administrative employer in a co-employment arrangement 
with a PEO client that so elects. Our qualified staffing and management employee benefit plans include our 401(k) plan. Beginning in 2023, qualified employees 
may enroll upon reaching 21 years of age and completing six months of service. We match 100% of contributions by management and staffing employees up to 
3% of each participating employee's annual compensation and 50% of the employee's contributions up to an additional 2% of annual compensation. Matching 
contributions to the 401(k) plan for management and staffing employees are made under a safe harbor provision, which are immediately 100% vested. WSEs 
covered under a PEO arrangement may participate in our 401(k) plan at the sole discretion of the PEO client.

We also offer a cafeteria plan under Section 125 of the Internal Revenue Code and group health, life insurance and disability insurance plans to qualified 
staffing and management employees. Generally, qualified employee benefit plans are subject to provisions of both the Internal Revenue Code and the 
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 ("ERISA"). 

Certain highly compensated employees of the Company are allowed to participate in a nonqualified deferred compensation plan. Under the plan, participants 
are permitted to defer receipt for income tax purposes of up to 90% of salary and up to 100% of any incentive bonus. Participants earn a return on their 
deferred compensation based on the investment performance of participant-selected investments. As an incentive to participate in the plan, the Company 
awards restricted stock units with a value equal to 35% of the amount deferred under the plan, up to a maximum of $75,000 per year. The restricted stock units 
vest in full on the fifth anniversary of the grant date, contingent on the continued employment of the participant.

The Company established a Rabbi trust under which compensation deferred by participants is deposited and held separately from the Company's other assets, 
subject to the claims of the Company's creditors in the event of its bankruptcy or insolvency.

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act and the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 (collectively, the “Acts”) subject us to potential 
penalties unless we offer to our employees minimum essential healthcare coverage that is affordable. Because each PEO client is considered to be the sole 
employer in the application of any rule or law included within the scope of the Acts, we are not required to offer health care coverage to the WSEs of our PEO 
clients. However, in 2023 we began offering 
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sponsored benefits, including healthcare coverage, to eligible PEO client employees as part of our PEO service offering. To comply with the employer mandate 
provision of the Acts for our staffing and management employees, we offer health care coverage to all staffing and management employees eligible for 
coverage under the Acts. 

Regulatory and Legislative Environment
We are subject to the laws and regulations of the jurisdictions within which we operate, including those governing self-insured employers under the workers' 
compensation systems in Oregon, Maryland, Ohio, and Colorado, as well as in Washington for staffing and management employees. We are also subject to 
laws and regulations governing our two wholly owned insurance companies in Arizona. While the specific PEO laws and regulations vary among these 
jurisdictions, they typically require some form of licensing or registration and often have statutory requirements for workplace safety and notice of change in 
obligation of workers’ compensation coverage in the event of contract termination. Although compliance with these requirements imposes some additional 
financial risk, particularly with respect to those clients who breach their payment obligation to us, such compliance has not had a material adverse effect on our 
business to date.

Our operations are affected by numerous federal and state laws relating to labor, tax and employment matters. Through our client services agreement, we 
assume certain obligations and responsibilities as the administrative employer under federal and state laws. Since many of these federal and state laws were 
enacted prior to the development of nontraditional employment relationships, such as professional employer, temporary employment, and outsourcing 
arrangements, many of these laws do not specifically address the obligations and responsibilities of nontraditional employers. In addition, the definition of 
"employer" under these laws is not uniform.

As an employer, we are subject to all federal statutes and regulations governing our employer-employee relationships for staffing and management employees. 
Subject to the discussion of risk factors below, we believe that our operations comply in all material respects with applicable federal statutes and regulations.

Due to the nature of our operations, we collect, store, process, use and retain significant amounts of confidential and sensitive personal employee and client 
information. As such, we are subject to a variety of federal and state laws and regulations associated with data privacy and security. For further discussion on 
the federal and state laws and regulations associated with data privacy and security, including protected health information ("PHI") and the related federal and 
state regulations such as HIPAA and the HITECH act, refer to “Risk Factors” in Item 1A of Part I of this report. 

Additional Information
Our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), including our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports 
on Form 8-K, proxy statements, and registration statements, as well as any amendments to these filings, are accessible free of charge at our website at 
http://www.bbsi.com as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with the SEC. By making this reference to our website, we do not 
intend to incorporate into this report any information posted on our website. The website should not be considered part of this report. 

The SEC also maintains a website at http://www.sec.gov that provides access to reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding 
issuers that file electronically with the SEC, including the Company.

Item 1A. RISK FACTORS
In addition to other information contained in this report, the following risk factors should be considered carefully in evaluating our business.
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Risks Relating to Workers’ Compensation 
Our ability to continue our business operations under our present service model is dependent on maintaining workers' compensation insurance 
coverage.
Our arrangement with fully licensed, third-party insurers under the insured program provides workers’ compensation coverage to BBSI’s PEO clients through 
June 30, 2025, with the possibility of additional annual renewals. If our fully licensed third-party insurers are unwilling or unable to renew our arrangement in the 
future, we would need to seek coverage from a small number of alternative insurers. If replacement coverage were unavailable or available only on significantly 
less favorable terms, our business and results of operations would be materially adversely affected.

We continue to have retention for certain workers' compensation claims incurred prior to July 1, 2021 in the majority of states in which we operate.
For claims incurred under the insured program prior to July 1, 2021, the Company retains risk of loss up to the first $3.0 million per occurrence on policies 
issued after June 30, 2020, and $5.0 million per occurrence on policies issued before that date. 

For all claims incurred under the Company’s self-insured programs, the Company retains risk of loss up to the first $3.0 million per occurrence, except in 
Maryland and Colorado, where the Company’s retention per occurrence is $1.0 million and $2.0 million, respectively. For claims incurred under the Company’s 
self-insured programs prior to July 1, 2020, the Company retains risk of loss up to the first $5.0 million per occurrence, except in Maryland and Colorado, where 
the retention per occurrence is $1.0 million and $2.0 million, respectively.

On June 29, 2020, the Company entered into a loss portfolio transfer agreement (“LPT 1”) to remove all outstanding workers’ compensation claims obligations 
for claims incurred under its insured program between February 1, 2014 and December 31, 2017. On June 30, 2021, the Company entered into a loss portfolio 
transfer agreement (“LPT 2”) to remove all remaining outstanding workers’ compensation claims obligations for client policies issued under its insured program 
up to June 30, 2018.

Thus, for claims incurred before July 1, 2020, the Company has financial risk for most workers’ compensation claims under $5.0 million on a per occurrence 
basis, except for claims transferred under the insured program as part of LPT 1 and LPT 2. For claims incurred between July 1, 2020 and June 30, 2021, the 
Company has financial risk for most workers' compensation claims under $3.0 million on a per occurrence basis. This level of per occurrence retention may 
result in higher workers’ compensation costs to us with a corresponding negative effect on our operating results and financial condition.

Collateral requirements could increase beyond our ability to satisfy those requirements.
The Company is required to provide collateral for its insured program and by certain states related to its current and former status as a self-insured employer. 
Various factors, including adverse loss experience or a decline in the fair value of investments in our collateral accounts, could cause the counterparties to 
require that additional collateral be posted. To partially satisfy these collateral requirements, the Company has provided surety bonds and standby letters of 
credit. If there are significant changes to the market for these credit products, or if we are unable to renew these agreements, we may incur increased costs or 
be required to deposit additional capital as collateral. 

Failure to manage the severity and frequency of workplace injuries will increase our workers’ compensation expenses.
Significant increases in the relative frequency or severity of workplace injuries due to failures to accurately assess potential risks or assure implementation of 
effective safety measures by our clients may result in increased workers’ compensation claims expenses, with a corresponding negative effect on our results of 
operations and financial condition.
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Risks Related to Technology
To succeed, we must constantly improve our technology to meet the expectations of our clients. If we fail to meet those expectations, we may lose 
clients and harm our business.
To attract and retain clients and satisfy their expectations, the software, hardware and networking technologies we use must be frequently and rapidly 
upgraded, enhanced and improved in response to technological advances, competitive pressures, client expectations, and new and changing laws. Failure to 
successfully implement technological improvements could result in harm to our reputation, loss of market share, reduced revenue, or client claims against us, 
any of which could materially harm our business.

As we continue to invest in upgrades or replacements to our existing systems, including enhancements and additional security measures, we may incur 
substantial costs and risks relating to development, installation and implementation, including disruptions in our service offerings or increases in expected costs, 
which may have a material adverse effect on our operating results and financial condition.

We are dependent upon technology services, and if we experience damage, service interruptions or failures in our computer and 
telecommunications systems, our client relationships and our ability to attract new clients may be adversely affected.
We rely extensively on computer systems, including systems of third-party vendors, to provide service offerings to our clients, manage our branch network, 
perform employment-related services and accounting and reporting functions, and summarize and analyze our financial results. These systems are subject to 
damage or interruption from telecommunications failures, power-related outages, third-party disruptions, computer viruses and malicious attacks, security 
breaches and catastrophic events. If these systems are damaged or fail to function properly, we may incur substantial costs to repair or replace them, 
experience loss of critical data and interruptions or delays in our ability to manage our operations and encounter a loss of client confidence. In addition, our 
clients’ businesses may be adversely affected by any system or equipment failure or breach we experience. As a result, we may suffer damage to our 
reputation, we may lose clients, our ability to attract new clients may be adversely affected, and we could be exposed to contractual liability. 

We depend on third-party software to provide our services and support our operations.
Significant portions of our services and operations rely on software that is licensed from third-party vendors. The fees associated with these license agreements 
could increase in future periods, resulting in increased operating expenses. If there are significant changes to the terms and conditions of our license 
agreements, if we are unable to renew these license agreements, if the software is not up to date with current legal requirements such that we become non-
compliant, if the software is not updated to meet our needs as our business evolves, or if the software becomes unavailable for any other reason, we may be 
required to make changes to our vendors or information technology systems. These changes may impact the services we provide to our clients or the 
processes we have in place to support our operations, which could have an adverse effect on our business. 
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We could be subject to reduced revenues, increased costs, liability claims, or harm to our reputation as a result of data theft, cyberattacks or other 
security vulnerabilities.
The nature of our business involves the receipt, storage, and transmission of personal and proprietary information about thousands of employees and clients. 
Attacks on information technology systems continue to grow in frequency and sophistication, and we and our third-party vendors are targeted by unauthorized 
parties using malicious tactics, code, and viruses. Hardware or applications we develop or procure from third-party vendors may contain defects in design or 
other problems that could unexpectedly compromise the confidentiality, integrity or availability of data or our systems. Because the techniques used to obtain 
unauthorized access and disable or sabotage systems change frequently and may be difficult to detect for long periods of time, we and our third-party vendors 
may be unable to anticipate these techniques or implement adequate preventive measures. Additionally, as our employees may work from home more 
frequently and access the Company's systems remotely, the Company may be exposed to heightened security risks, including the risk of cyber-attacks. 

The methods and techniques used by cyber threat actors to gain entry into our network and access our computer systems, software and data will become more 
advanced with the use of artificial intelligence ("AI") and may become increasingly difficult or impossible to detect and prevent. As these threats continue to 
evolve, we may be required to invest significant additional resources to modify and enhance our information security and controls or to investigate and 
remediate any security vulnerabilities. While our technology infrastructure is designed to safeguard and protect personal and business information, we have 
limited ability to monitor the implementation of similar safeguards by our vendors.

Any cyberattack, unauthorized intrusion, malicious software infiltration, network disruption, corruption of data, misuse or theft of private or other sensitive 
information, or inadvertent acts by our own employees, could result in the disclosure or misuse of confidential or proprietary information, which could have a 
material adverse effect on our business operations or that of our clients. If we experience a significant data security breach, fail to detect and appropriately 
respond to a significant data security breach, or fail to comply with the various state cybersecurity regulations including the California Consumer Privacy Act 
("CCPA") and the California Privacy Rights Act ("CPRA"), we could be exposed to government enforcement actions and private litigation. These losses may 
exceed our insurance coverage for such incidents. In addition, our employees and clients could lose confidence in our ability to protect their personal and 
proprietary information, which could cause them to terminate their relationships with us. Any loss of confidence arising from a significant data security breach 
could hurt our reputation, further damaging our business.

Our business may be materially affected – either positively or negatively – by the emergence of disruptive new technologies or approaches enabled 
by the rapid pace of innovation unfolding in the artificial intelligence space. 
The safe and responsible integration of AI functionality as it rapidly evolves presents emerging ethical and legal challenges, and the use of such technologies 
may result in diminished brand trust and reputational harm. As with many innovations, AI presents risks and challenges that could significantly disrupt our 
business model. In addition, the use of AI by bad actors presents increasingly complex and sophisticated security threats to our confidential customer, 
employee, and Company data, and we must make additional efforts to maintain network security. The regulatory landscape surrounding AI technologies is 
evolving, and the ways in which these technologies will be regulated by governmental authorities, self-regulatory institutions, or other regulatory authorities 
remains uncertain and may be inconsistent from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. Certain jurisdictions in which we operate are considering or have proposed or 
enacted legislation and policies regulating AI and non-personal data, such as the recent Executive Order on AI. Such regulations may result in operational costs 
to modify, maintain, or align our business practices, or constrain our ability to develop, deploy, or maintain these technologies. 
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Other Risks Related to our Business and Industry
New service offerings may subject us to additional risks.
Future new service offerings may introduce additional risks and uncertainties to our business. Our efforts to implement new services may place substantial 
additional demands on our employees, as well as our information systems and technology platforms. We may also need to invest significant additional 
resources in our people, processes, controls and information security. Failure to successfully implement new service offerings, including the appropriate 
controls, policies and procedures, information systems, and data privacy and security, could have a material adverse effect on our business, reputation, results 
of operations and financial condition. 

New service offerings, including health care benefits, may also introduce additional legislative and regulatory requirements with which we are not familiar, or 
from which we are currently exempt. Violation of such laws and regulations could subject us to fines, penalties, and damages, damage our reputation, 
constitute a breach of our client agreements, impair our ability to obtain and renew required licenses, and decrease our profitability or competitiveness. If any of 
these effects were to occur, our operating results and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.

To continue to grow revenues, we are dependent on retaining current clients and attracting new clients.
The Company’s revenue growth can be volatile and is dependent on same customer sales and the addition of new clients. Revenues increased 7.0% in 2024 
and increased 1.4% in 2023. There can be no assurance that we will continue to maintain current levels of revenues. Efforts to achieve business growth 
intensifies pressure on retaining current clients and attracting increasing numbers of new clients.

Our business is subject to risks associated with geographic market concentration.
Our California operations accounted for approximately 72% of our total revenues in 2024. As a result of the current importance of our California operations and 
anticipated continued growth from these operations, our profitability over the next several years is expected to be largely dependent on economic and 
regulatory conditions in California. If California experiences an economic downturn, or if the regulatory environment changes in a way that adversely affects our 
ability to do business or limits our competitive advantages, our profitability and growth prospects may be materially adversely affected. Similarly, due to our 
geographic concentration in California, a natural disaster or major event that disrupts these markets or the related workforce could have an immediate and 
material adverse impact on our operations and profitability. 
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Economic conditions may impact our ability to attract new clients and cause our existing clients to reduce staffing levels or cease operations.
Weak economic conditions, including periods of elevated inflation and interest rates, may have a negative impact on small-and mid-sized businesses, which 
make up the majority of our clients. In turn, these businesses could cut costs, including trimming employees from their payrolls, or closing locations or ceasing 
operations altogether. If current economic conditions were to weaken further, these forces may result in decreased revenues due both to the downsizing of our 
current clients and increased difficulties in attracting new clients in a poor economic environment. An economic downturn may also result in additional bad debt 
expense to the extent that existing clients cease operations or are otherwise unable to meet their financial obligations. Additionally, weak economic conditions 
may result in higher unemployment, which is correlated with increased workers’ compensation claims. The spread of a highly infectious or contagious disease, 
and the response by federal, state, and local government agencies, including preventative actions taken such as shelter-in-place orders, restrictions on travel, 
temporary closures of businesses deemed to be high-risk or non-essential, and other government mandates, could create significant economic disruption that 
results in a material reduction in business operations. Clients who are impacted by government restrictions and economic disruptions may experience liquidity 
and other financial issues, which may reduce their capacity to pay for our services.

Additionally, trade policies, including tariffs or other import restrictions, may increase costs for our clients, particularly those reliant on global supply chains. 
Higher input costs due to tariffs could lead our clients to reduce payroll expenses, delay hiring, or cut jobs, which could negatively impact our revenue. Supply 
chain disruptions caused by trade restrictions may also result in business slowdowns or closures, further affecting our ability to grow and retain clients. These 
factors could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

Our business depends on reliable access to labor, which may be affected by economic conditions, government policies, and public health crises. 
Our PEO and staffing revenue is based on client payroll, and our business growth depends on the availability of a sufficient and stable workforce for our clients. 
The availability of labor may be affected by various factors, including, among others, economic conditions; demographic trends, including outmigration from 
states in which we operate; government policies on immigration; and public health crises. The spread of highly infectious diseases can reduce workforce 
participation due to illness, quarantine requirements, or caregiving responsibilities. Economic downturns or shifts in labor market dynamics can impact 
workforce participation rates and overall labor availability. Additionally, changes in government administrations can result in shifts in immigration policies, which 
may affect our clients’ ability to recruit and retain workers. Stricter visa requirements, limitations on work permits, delays in processing, or reductions in visa 
allocations could lead to labor shortages, particularly in industries that rely on immigrant labor, such as agriculture, construction, and hospitality. Businesses 
that depend on seasonal labor, including those utilizing temporary work visa programs, may be especially vulnerable to such changes. Any of these factors 
could adversely impact our business and financial performance.

Our staffing business is vulnerable to economic fluctuations.
Demand for our staffing services is sensitive to changes in the level of economic activity in the regions in which we do business. As economic activity slows 
down, companies often reduce their use of temporary employees before undertaking layoffs of permanent staff, resulting in decreased demand for staffing 
services. On the other hand, during strong economic periods or tight labor markets due to other factors, we often experience shortages of qualified employees 
to meet customer needs.

Because we assume the obligation to make wage, tax and regulatory payments in respect of some employees, we are exposed to client credit risks.
We generally assume credit risk associated with our clients’ employee payroll obligations, including liability for payment of salaries and wages (including payroll 
taxes), as well as retirement benefits. These obligations are fixed whether or not the client makes payments to us as required by our services 
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agreement. We attempt to mitigate this risk by invoicing our clients at the end of their specific payroll processing cycle. We also carefully monitor the timeliness 
of our clients' payments and impose strict credit standards on our customers. If we fail to successfully manage our credit risk, our results of operations and 
financial condition could be materially and adversely affected.

Increases in unemployment claims could raise our state and federal unemployment tax rates that we may not be able to pass on to our customers.
During weak economic conditions in our markets, the level of unemployment claims tends to rise as a result of employee layoffs at our clients and lack of work 
in our temporary staffing pool. The rise in unemployment claims often results in higher state and federal unemployment tax rates, which in most instances 
cannot be concurrently passed on to our customers either due to existing client services agreements or competitive pricing pressures. Increases in our state 
and federal unemployment tax rates could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, particularly in the early part of the calendar year when 
payroll tax rates are at or near their maximum.

If we are unable to maintain our brand image and corporate reputation, our business may suffer.
Our success depends in part on our ability to maintain our reputation for providing excellent service to our customers. Service quality issues, whether actual or 
perceived, and even when due to dissemination of false information or unfounded perceptions, could tarnish the image of our brand and may cause customers 
to use other companies. Also, adverse publicity surrounding labor relations, data breaches, SEC investigations, and the like, could negatively affect our overall 
reputation. Damage to our reputation could reduce demand for our services and thus have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations.

Our service agreements may be terminated on short notice, leaving us vulnerable to a significant loss of customers in a short period of time, if 
business or regulatory conditions change or events occur that negatively affect our reputation.
Our client services agreements are generally terminable on 30 days’ notice by either us or our client. As a result, our clients may terminate their agreement with 
us at any time, making us particularly vulnerable to changing business or regulatory conditions or changes affecting our reputation or the reputation of our 
industry.

We may be exposed to employment‑related claims and costs and periodic litigation that could adversely affect our business and results of 
operations.
We either co-employ employees in connection with our PEO client services agreements or place our employees in our customers' workplace in connection with 
our staffing business. As such, we are subject to several risks inherent to our status as the administrative employer, including without limitation:

• claims of misconduct or negligence on the part of our employees, discrimination or harassment claims against our employees, or claims by our 
employees of discrimination or harassment by our clients;

• immigration-related claims;

• claims relating to violations of wage, hour and other workplace regulations;

• claims relating to employee benefits, entitlements to employee benefits, or errors in the calculation or administration of such benefits; and

• possible claims relating to misuse of customer confidential information, misappropriation of assets or other similar claims.

If we experience significant incidents involving any of the above-described risk areas, we could face substantial out-of-pocket losses, fines or negative publicity. 
In addition, such claims may give rise to 
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litigation, which may be time-consuming, distracting and costly, and could have a material adverse effect on our business. With respect to claims involving our 
co-employer relationships, although our client services agreement provides that the client will indemnify us for any liability attributable to the conduct of the 
client or its employees, we may not be able to enforce such contractual indemnification, or the client may not have sufficient assets to satisfy its obligations to 
us. An increase in employment-related claims against us may have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

We are dependent on certain key personnel and recruitment and retention of key employees may be difficult and expensive.
We believe that the successful operation of our business is dependent upon our retention of the services of key personnel, including our Chief Executive 
Officer, other executive officers and area managers. We may not be able to retain all our executives, senior managers and key personnel in light of competition 
for their services. If we lose the services of one of our executive officers or a significant number of our senior managers, our results of operations likely would 
be adversely affected.

We depend on attracting and retaining qualified employees; during periods of economic growth, our costs to do so increase and attracting and 
retaining people becomes more difficult.
Our teams of client-facing professionals are the foundation of our value proposition. Our ability to attract and retain qualified personnel could be adversely 
affected by lower unemployment rates and higher compensation levels. During periods of economic growth, we face increased competition for retaining and 
recruiting qualified personnel, resulting in higher advertising and recruiting costs and increased salary expenses. If we cannot attract and retain qualified 
employees, the quality of our services may deteriorate and our reputation and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We do not have an expansive in-house sales staff and therefore rely extensively on referral partners.
We currently maintain a limited internal professional sales force, instead relying heavily on referral partners to provide referrals to new business. In connection 
with these arrangements, we pay a fee to referral partners for new clients. These referral firms and individuals do not have an exclusive relationship with us. If 
we are unable to maintain these relationships or if our referral partners increase their fees or lose confidence in our services, we could face declines in our 
business and additional costs and uncertainties as we attempt to hire and train an internal sales force.

Failure to maintain health insurance coverage or significant increases in the cost of health insurance coverage could adversely affect our business 
and results of operations.
In 2023, BBSI began offering health insurance benefits as part of our PEO services. Our arrangement with third-party insurers provides health insurance 
coverage to BBSI’s PEO clients through December 31, 2025, with the possibility of additional annual renewals. If our third-party insurers are unwilling or unable 
to renew our arrangement in the future, we would need to seek coverage from alternative insurers. If replacement coverage were unavailable or available only 
on significantly less favorable terms, our business and results of operations would be materially adversely affected. Additionally, if maintaining health insurance 
coverage becomes significantly more costly due to claims experience or other factors, this could also have a material adverse effect on our business and 
results of operations.

Our business is subject to risks associated with healthcare reforms.
The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act and the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 (collectively, the “Acts”) subject us to potential 
penalties unless we offer our employees minimum essential healthcare coverage that is affordable. To comply with the employer mandate provision of the Acts, 
we offer health care coverage to all temporary and permanent employees eligible for coverage under the Acts other than employees of our PEO clients, which 
are responsible for providing required 
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health care coverage to their employees. Designating employees as eligible is complex and is subject to challenge by employees and the Internal Revenue 
Service (“IRS”). While we believe we have properly identified eligible employees, a later determination that we failed to offer the required health coverage to 
eligible employees could result in penalties that may materially harm our business. 

Additionally, we began offering employee health and welfare benefits to our PEO clients beginning in 2023. We cannot be certain that compliant insurance 
coverage will remain available to us on reasonable terms, and we could face additional risks arising from future changes to or repeal of the Acts or changed 
interpretations of our obligations under the Acts. If new healthcare legislation or future changes to the Acts were to increase the cost of providing health care 
benefits, or to limit our ability to offer health care benefits to our PEO clients, our business, operating results, and financial condition could be materially 
adversely affected.

Failure to comply with applicable data security and privacy regulations related to our health care offering could adversely affect our business. 
As BBSI began offering health benefits to our PEO clients in 2023, we have access to protected health information ("PHI") of our client employees. Compliance 
with federal and state regulations such as HIPAA and the HITECH Act is required for handling this PHI. HIPAA imposes limitations on the use and disclosure of 
PHI, and sets requirements for health data privacy, security, and breach notification. Non-compliance with HIPAA can lead to penalties and fines. Failure to 
appropriately comply with data security regulations could materially adversely impact our business, reputation, operating results, and financial condition. 

We face competition from several other companies.
We face competition from various companies that may provide all or some of the services we offer. Our competitors include companies that are engaged in 
staffing services such as Robert Half International Inc., Kelly Services, Inc., and ManpowerGroup Inc.; companies that are focused on co-employment, such as 
Insperity, Inc., and TriNet Group, Inc.; and companies that primarily provide payroll processing services, such as Automatic Data Processing, Inc. and Paychex, 
Inc. We also compete with insurance carriers and other providers of workers’ compensation insurance, and our offerings must be priced competitively with 
prices provided by these competitors for us to attract and retain our clients. Maintaining competitive pricing in the workers’ compensation market could lead to 
reduced margins and profitability. Additionally, we face competition from information technology outsourcing firms and broad-based outsourcing and consulting 
firms that perform individual projects.
Several of our existing or potential competitors have substantially greater financial, technical and marketing resources than we do, which may enable them to:

• develop and expand their infrastructure and service offerings more quickly and achieve greater cost efficiencies;

• invest in new technologies;

• expand operations into new markets more rapidly;

• devote greater resources to marketing;

• compete for acquisitions more effectively and complete acquisitions more easily; and

• aggressively price products and services and increase benefits in ways that we may not be able to match financially.

To compete effectively in our markets, we must target our potential clients carefully, continue to improve our efficiencies and the scope and quality of our 
services, and rely on our service quality, innovation, education and program clarity. If our competitive advantages are not compelling or sustainable, then we 
are unlikely to increase or sustain profits and our stock price could decline.
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Our investment portfolio is subject to market and credit risks, which could adversely impact our financial condition or results of operations.
We seek to hold a diversified portfolio of high-quality investments that is managed by a professional investment advisory firm in accordance with our investment 
policy and routinely reviewed by management and approved by the Risk Management Committee of our Board of Directors. However, our investments, 
including those held as collateral for our various insurance programs, are subject to general economic conditions and market risks, as well as risks inherent to 
particular securities, including credit, interest rate and liquidity risks. Our portfolio consists primarily of fixed-rate debt securities and is subject to changing 
valuation based on interest rate fluctuations, and the risk that certain investments may default, become impaired due to deterioration in the financial condition of 
one or more issuers of the securities, or will need to be sold for realized losses. Although our investment strategy is designed to preserve our capital, we cannot 
be certain that our investment objectives will be achieved, and we could incur substantial realized and unrealized investment losses in future periods which 
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may be unable to draw on our revolving credit facility in the future.
If our business does not perform as expected, including if we generate less revenue than anticipated from our operations or encounter significant unexpected 
costs, we may fail to comply with the financial covenants under our credit facilities. If we do not comply with our financial covenants and we do not obtain a 
waiver or amendment from our lender, the lender may elect to cause all amounts owed to become immediately due and payable or may decline to renew our 
credit facility. In that event, we would seek to establish a replacement credit facility with one or more other lenders, including lenders with which we have an 
existing relationship, potentially on less desirable terms. There can be no guarantee that replacement financing would be available at commercially reasonable 
terms, if at all.

Changes in our income tax positions or adverse outcomes resulting from on-going or future tax audits could harm our business, operating results, 
financial condition and prospects.
Significant judgments and estimates are required in determining our provision for income taxes and other tax liabilities. In determining the adequacy of our tax 
provision, we assess the likelihood of adverse outcomes that could result if our tax positions were challenged by the IRS and other tax authorities. The tax 
authorities in the U.S. regularly examine our income and other tax returns. The ultimate outcome of tax examinations and disputes cannot be predicted with 
certainty. Should the IRS or other tax authorities assess additional taxes as a result of these or other examinations, we may be required to record charges to 
operations that could have a material impact on our results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

Our long-term growth strategy may include acquisitions which could be unsuccessful or cause disruptions to our business, which could adversely 
impact our financial condition or results of operations. 
Potential future acquisitions may introduce several risks related to the integration of businesses, personnel, product lines, and technologies. If we discover 
compliance or regulatory issues after an acquisition, encounter greater than anticipated costs and/or use of management time associated with evaluating 
potential acquisitions and integrating acquired businesses into our operations, or are unable to successfully identify appropriate acquisition candidates, 
negotiate favorable terms, and successfully integrate an acquisition, our business, financial condition, and results of operation could be materially and adversely 
affected. 
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Risks Related to Our Regulatory Environment
Failure to interpret and comply with applicable federal and state payroll tax and unemployment tax laws could materially adversely affect our 
business, reputation, results of operations and financial condition.
As the administrative employer in our co-employer relationships with our clients, we are subject to a complex and evolving set of federal, state and local payroll 
tax laws and regulations, including requirements related to withholding, reporting and remitting payroll taxes on behalf of our clients. Compliance with these 
laws requires significant resources, and failure to comply with payroll tax laws in any jurisdiction in which we operate could subject us to financial penalties, 
interest charges and other liabilities. Additionally, our clients may be eligible for various legislative and regulatory programs, including those established under 
the CARES Act and the American Rescue Plan Act, such as the Employee Retention Tax Credit (“ERC”), which use payroll tax credits or deferrals as the 
mechanism to provide benefits to small businesses and employees. When clients and former clients wish to utilize these programs, the associated tax forms 
must be filed through the PEO, which creates additional administrative effort for the PEO. Additionally, determining eligibility for these programs is complex and 
is based on company-specific data that PEOs do not possess for their clients. If the IRS determines that clients who received payroll tax credits through BBSI 
are ineligible, and if the tax authorities or our clients attempt to hold BBSI liable for these amounts, this could have a materially adverse effect on our business, 
reputation, results of operation, and financial condition.

We operate in a complex regulatory environment, and failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations could adversely affect our business.
Corporate human resource operations are subject to a broad range of complex and evolving laws and regulations, including those applicable to payroll 
practices, benefits administration, employment practices, workers’ compensation coverage, and privacy. Because our clients have employees in many states 
throughout the United States, we must perform our services in compliance with the legal and regulatory requirements of multiple jurisdictions. Some of these 
laws and regulations may be difficult to ascertain or interpret and may change from time to time. Violation of such laws and regulations could subject us to fines, 
penalties, and damages, damage our reputation, constitute a breach of our client agreements, impair our ability to obtain and renew required licenses, and 
decrease our profitability or competitiveness. If any of these effects were to occur, our operating results and financial condition could be adversely affected.

If we are determined not to be an “employer” under certain laws and regulations, our clients may stop using our services, and we may be subject to 
additional liabilities.
We are the administrative employer in our co-employment relationships under the various laws and regulations of the IRS and the U.S. Department of Labor. If 
we are determined not to be the administrative employer under such laws and regulations and are therefore unable to assume our clients’ obligations for 
employment and other taxes, our clients may be held jointly and severally liable for payment of such taxes. Some clients or prospective clients may view such 
potential liability as an unacceptable risk, discouraging current clients from continuing a relationship with us or prospective clients from entering into a new 
relationship with us. Any determination that we are not the administrative employer for purposes of ERISA could also adversely affect our ability to offer health 
care benefits to our PEO clients by subjecting us to additional state and federal laws and regulations, and could materially adversely affect our business, 
financial condition, and results of operations.
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Changes in government regulations may result in restrictions or prohibitions applicable to the provision of employment services or the imposition 
of additional licensing, regulatory or tax requirements.
Our business is heavily regulated, and we cannot provide assurance that regulatory authorities in jurisdictions in which we conduct or seek to conduct business 
will not:

• impose additional regulations that prohibit or restrict employment-related businesses like ours;

• require additional licensing or add restrictions on existing licenses to provide employment-related services; or

• increase taxes or make changes in the way in which taxes are calculated for providers of employment-related services.

Any changes in applicable laws and regulations may make it more difficult or expensive for us to do business, inhibit expansion of our business, or result in 
additional expenses that limit our profitability or decrease our ability to attract and retain clients.

We may find it difficult to expand our business into additional states due to varying state regulatory requirements.
Future growth in our operations depends, in part, on our ability to offer our services to prospective clients in new states, which may subject us to different 
regulatory requirements and standards. To operate effectively in a new state, we must maintain all necessary licenses and regulatory approvals, adapt our 
procedures to that state's regulatory requirements and modify our service offerings to adapt to local market conditions. As we expand into additional states, we 
may not be able to duplicate in other markets the financial performance experienced in our current markets.

Our wholly owned insurance companies are subject to substantial government regulation.
Our wholly owned insurance companies are primarily regulated by state insurance commissioners in the states in which they conduct business. Such regulation 
includes monitoring the financial status of these companies, approving policies and premium rates, maintaining requirements for capital surplus and types of 
investments, and approving any significant changes to the legal or operating structure of these entities. State regulators can also impose taxes and other fees 
on insurance companies under their jurisdiction. These regulations may restrict our ability to operate these companies in the manner we believe is best, which 
could increase the cost of our operations, restrict our access to insurance coverage or adversely affect our liquidity.

Increasing regulatory focus on privacy and security issues and expanding laws and regulatory requirements could impact our business models and 
expose us to increased liability.
We are subject to national data protection, privacy and security laws, and regulations that relate to our various business units and data processing activities, 
which may include sensitive, confidential, and personal information. These laws, regulations and codes may be inconsistent across jurisdictions and are subject 
to evolving and differing (sometimes conflicting) interpretations. Government officials and regulators, privacy advocates and class action attorneys are 
increasingly scrutinizing how companies collect, process, use, store, share and transmit personal data. This scrutiny can result in new and shifting 
interpretations of existing laws, thereby further impacting our business. State laws on privacy, data and related technologies create additional privacy and 
security compliance obligations and expand the scope of potential liability.

The dynamic and evolving nature of these laws, regulations and codes, as well as their interpretation by regulators and courts, may affect our ability to 
implement our business models effectively and to adequately address disclosure requirements. Perception of our practices and services, even if unfounded, as 
a violation of individual privacy, data protection rights or cybersecurity requirements, may subject us to public criticism, lawsuits, investigations, claims and other 
proceedings by regulators, industry groups or 
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other third parties, all of which could disrupt or adversely impact our business and reputation and expose us to increased liability, fines and other punitive 
measures.

Risks Related to Ownership of our Common Stock
Our stock price may be volatile or may decline, resulting in substantial losses for our stockholders.
The market price of our Common Stock has been, and may continue to be, volatile for the foreseeable future. Important factors that may cause our trading price 
to decline include the factors listed below and other factors that may have a material adverse effect on our business or financial results, including those 
described above in this “Risk Factors” section:

• actual or anticipated fluctuations in our results of operations, including a significant slowdown in our revenue growth or material increase in our 
workers’ compensation expense;

• our failure to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting or otherwise discover material errors in our financial reporting;

• imposition of significant fines or penalties or other adverse action by regulatory authorities against the Company;

• adverse developments in legal proceedings involving claims against the Company;

• our failure to meet financial projections or achieve financial results anticipated by analysts; or

• changes in our Board of Directors or management.

Maryland law and our Charter and bylaws contain provisions that could make the takeover of the Company more difficult.
Certain provisions of Maryland law and our Charter and bylaws could have the effect of delaying or preventing a third-party from acquiring the Company, even if 
a change in control would be beneficial to our stockholders. These provisions of our Charter and bylaws permit the Board of Directors to issue up to 500,000 
shares of preferred stock with such rights and preferences, including voting rights, as the Board may establish, without further approval by the Company's 
stockholders, which could also adversely affect the voting power of holders of our Common Stock.

In addition, the Company is subject to the Maryland control share act (the “Control Share Act”). Under the Control Share Act, a person (an “Acquiring Person”) 
who acquires voting stock in a transaction (a “Control Share Acquisition”) which results in its holding voting power within specified ranges cannot vote the 
shares it acquires in the Control Share Acquisition unless voting rights are accorded to such control shares by the holders of two-thirds of the outstanding voting 
shares, excluding the Acquiring Person and the Company's officers and directors who are also employees of the Company.

The Company is also subject to the provisions of Maryland law limiting the ability of certain Maryland corporations to engage in specified business combinations 
(the “Business Combination Act”). Subject to certain exceptions, the Business Combination Act prohibits a Maryland corporation from engaging in a business 
combination with a stockholder who, with its affiliates, owns 10% or more of the corporation's voting stock. These provisions will not apply to business 
combinations that are approved by the Board of Directors before the stockholder became an interested stockholder.

Item 1B.     UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
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Item 1C.     CYBERSECURITY

Risk Management and Strategy
Cybersecurity Risk Management Process

We have developed and continue to enhance our cybersecurity program to help secure our computer systems, software, networks, and data against material 
risks from cybersecurity threats, and help manage the material cybersecurity risks associated with our use of third-party service providers.

BBSI has integrated cybersecurity risk management into our overall risk management framework to identify, assess, and manage cybersecurity risks. As part of 
our integrated risk management process, our technology and information security team work closely with our management team on an ongoing basis to identify 
and respond to cybersecurity threats. Our proactive approach to cybersecurity risk management includes cybersecurity risk assessments performed internally 
by our IT security team and externally by third-party experts, penetration and vulnerability testing using third-party vendors and tools, tabletop exercises that 
simulate cybersecurity incidents, cybersecurity awareness training, and internal audit assessments of critical IT controls.

Use of Cybersecurity Experts

Due to the complex and evolving cybersecurity threat landscape, BBSI engages third-party experts to conduct in-depth threat assessments, identify 
vulnerabilities, monitor and detect threats, and offer strategic insights into our risk management process. Leveraging the knowledge, expertise, and resources 
of third-party experts, we regularly evaluate our cybersecurity risk management strategy to help us align with best practices and address cybersecurity threats 
that could impact our ability to achieve our business objectives.

Third-Party Service Provider Risk Management

We utilize third-party service providers for a variety of reasons, including, without limitation, infrastructure and SaaS cloud computing services, technology and 
business process service providers, content delivery to customers, back-office support, and other functions. Such providers may have access to information 
about BBSI or that we hold about our customers, associates or vendors. 

To mitigate the cybersecurity risk associated with the use of third-party service providers, we tier our third-party service providers based on their risk profile to 
establish applicable cybersecurity risk review standards and evaluate those providers in accordance with the tiering process. BBSI also relies on its third-party 
service providers to maintain cybersecurity control environments that address the risks associated with the products and services they provide to BBSI.

Cybersecurity Threats

We are not aware of any risks from cybersecurity threats that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect BBSI, including our business 
strategy, results of operations, or financial condition.  Despite our efforts to ensure the integrity of our computer systems, software, networks, third-party 
relationships, and other technology assets, we may not be able to anticipate, detect, or recognize threats to our systems and assets, or to implement effective 
preventative measures against all cyber threats, given the sophistication of the techniques used. For further discussion, see Item 1A. “Risk Factors – Risks 
Related to Technology."

Governance
Board Oversight of Cybersecurity Risk

Our Board of Directors has a significant role in the oversight of BBSI’s cybersecurity risk. The Board’s Risk Management Committee provides oversight of 
BBSI’s enterprise-wide risk management framework, including the strategies, policies, procedures, processes, and systems established by management to 
identify, assess, measure, monitor, and manage cybersecurity and other risks facing the Company. The 
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Board of Directors also periodically receives reports from third-party consultants on the current cybersecurity threat environment, the results of third-party 
penetration testing, and the evaluation of the Company’s cybersecurity preparedness.

Management’s Role in Assessing and Managing Cybersecurity Risk

BBSI’s Chief Information Security Officer (“CISO”) leads our enterprise information security program and is primarily responsible for the assessment and 
management of the Company’s cybersecurity risks. The CISO has extensive experience in information technology and cybersecurity, including at another 
publicly traded company. The CISO oversees our cybersecurity risk management framework and manages a team of IT security professionals to identify and 
prioritize cybersecurity risks. The CISO also utilizes the expertise of third-party security partners to provide threat detection support, vulnerability management, 
incident response, penetration testing, and consulting services.

Ongoing Monitoring and Reporting of Cybersecurity Incidents

The Company has an internal security team, supplemented with third-party security partners, to regularly monitor, detect and respond to potential cybersecurity 
incidents. The Company has a cybersecurity incident reporting protocol that provides a mechanism for the appropriate members of management and the Board 
to be made aware of cybersecurity incidents. The Company also requires security awareness training for all internal employees to enable employees to 
understand their role in preventing and reporting cybersecurity incidents. 

Reporting to the Board of Directors

The CISO and Chief Information Officer (“CIO”) regularly update the Board's Risk Management Committee on cybersecurity risks that the Company faces and 
the risk mitigation strategies that the Company employs to respond to those risks, with meetings generally occurring quarterly.

Item 2. PROPERTIES
We operate through 45 branches. The following table shows the number of branches in each state. We also lease office space in other locations in our market 
areas which we use to recruit and place employees.
 

    Number of
Offices   Branches

California   20
Oregon   4
Washington   4
Utah   3
Arizona   2
Colorado   2
Idaho   2
Maryland   2
Nevada   2
Delaware   1
North Carolina   1
Pennsylvania   1
Tennessee   1

 
On December 31, 2024, our leases had expiration dates ranging from less than one year to seven years. We own our 65,300 square foot corporate 
headquarters building, which is located in Vancouver, Washington.
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Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
BBSI is not subject to material legal proceedings and claims other than those which arise in the ordinary course of our business, except for those matters 
discussed in “Note 11 - Litigation” to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of Part II of this report.

Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not Applicable.

PART II

Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY 
SECURITIES

Our common stock (the "Common Stock") trades on the Global Select Market segment of The Nasdaq Stock Market under the symbol "BBSI." At February 7, 
2025, there were 26 stockholders of record and approximately 10,741 beneficial owners of the Common Stock.

The following table summarizes information related to stock repurchases during the quarter ended December 31, 2024. 

 
    Total           Total Number of     Approximate Dollar Value of  
    Number of     Average Price     Shares Repurchased     Shares that May Yet  
    Shares     Paid     as Part of Publicly     Be Repurchased  
Month   Repurchased     Per Share     Announced Plan     Under the Plan  
                      (in thousands)  
Oct 1 - Oct 31, 2024     —     $ —       —     $ 36,858  
Nov 1 - Nov 30, 2024     20,700       42.88       20,700       35,970  
Dec 1 - Dec 31, 2024     141,400       43.29       141,400       29,849  
Total     162,100             162,100        

(1) On July 31, 2023, the Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $75.0 million of the Company’s common stock over a two-year period beginning July 31, 2023. As 
of December 31, 2024, the Company had repurchased 1,493,758 shares at an aggregate purchase price of $45.2 million under the new repurchase program.

(1) (1)
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The following graph shows the cumulative total return at the dates indicated for the period from December 31, 2019 until December 31, 2024, for our Common 
Stock, The Nasdaq Composite Index, and the S&P 1500 Human Resource & Employment Services Index, a published industry index that is considered 
reflective of the Company’s peers. 

The stock performance graph has been prepared assuming that $100 was invested on December 31, 2019 in our Common Stock and the indexes shown, and 
that dividends are reinvested. The stock price performance reflected in the graph may not be indicative of future price performance.

 
    12/19 12/20 12/21 12/22 12/23 12/24

               
Barrett Business Services, Inc.  100.00 77.10 79.34 108.75 136.77 207.11
NASDAQ Composite   100.00 144.92 177.06 119.45 172.77 223.87
S&P 1500 Human Resource & Employment Services Index 100.00 100.85 152.43 113.87 121.22 143.93
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview
The Company is a leading provider of business management solutions for small and mid-sized companies. The Company has developed a management 
platform that integrates a knowledge-based approach from the management consulting industry with tools from the human resource outsourcing industry. This 
platform, through the effective leveraging of human capital, helps our business owner clients run their businesses more effectively. We believe this platform, 
delivered through a decentralized organizational structure, differentiates BBSI from our competitors.

We report revenues in our financial results in two categories of services: professional employer services (“PEO”) and staffing.

With our PEO clients, we enter into a co-employment arrangement in which we become the administrative employer while the client maintains physical care, 
custody and control of their workforce. Our PEO services are billed as a percentage of client payroll; the gross amount invoiced includes direct payroll costs 
plus an additional percentage amount to cover employer payroll-related taxes, workers’ compensation coverage (if provided), other service-related costs and a 
margin. However, actual costs can be higher or lower than anticipated. PEO customers are invoiced following the end of each payroll processing cycle, with 
payment generally due on the invoice date. Revenues for PEO services exclude direct payroll billings because we are not the primary obligor for those 
payments.

We generate staffing services revenues primarily from short-term staffing, contract staffing, on-site management and direct placement services. For staffing 
services other than direct placement, invoiced amounts include direct payroll, an amount intended to cover employer payroll-related taxes, workers’ 
compensation coverage, other service-related costs and a margin. Staffing customers are invoiced weekly and typically have payment terms of 30 days. Direct 
placement services are billed at agreed fees at the time of a successful placement.

Our business is concentrated in California, and we expect to continue to derive a majority of our revenues from this market in the future. Revenues generated in 
our California operations accounted for 72% of our total revenues in 2024, 72% in 2023 and 73% in 2022. Consequently, weakness in economic conditions, 
changes in the regulatory or insurance environment, or natural disasters or other major disruptive events in California could have a material adverse effect on 
our financial results.

Our cost of revenues for PEO services includes employer payroll-related taxes, workers’ compensation costs and employee benefits costs. Our cost of 
revenues for staffing services includes direct payroll costs, employer payroll-related taxes, and workers’ compensation costs. Direct payroll costs represent the 
gross payroll earned by staffing services employees based on salary or hourly wages. Payroll taxes and benefits consist of the employer’s portion of Social 
Security and Medicare taxes, federal and state unemployment taxes, and employee benefit costs, which primarily comprises health insurance premiums paid to 
third-party insurers and underwriting and benefit consultant payroll. Workers’ compensation costs consist primarily of premiums paid to third-party insurers, 
claims reserves, claims administration fees, legal fees, medical cost containment (“MCC”) expense, state administrative agency fees, third-party broker 
commissions, and risk manager payroll, as well as costs associated with operating our two wholly owned insurance companies, Associated Insurance 
Company for Excess (“AICE”) and Ecole Insurance Company (“Ecole”).

Selling, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of payroll and personnel related costs, incentive compensation, information systems costs, rent 
and professional and legal fees.

Depreciation and amortization represent depreciation of property and equipment, leasehold improvements, software and internally developed software costs. 
Property, equipment, software and internally developed software costs are depreciated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, which 
range from 3 to 39 years. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the lease term or estimated useful life. 
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Critical Accounting Estimate
We have identified the following accounting estimate as critical to our business and the understanding of our results of operations. For a detailed discussion of 
the application of this and other accounting policies, see “Note 1 - Summary of Operations and Significant Accounting Policies” to the consolidated financial 
statements in Item 8 of Part II of this report. The preparation of this Annual Report on Form 10-K requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the 
reporting period. Management bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from 
other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Workers' Compensation Costs

For all claims incurred under the Company’s workers’ compensation programs, we record an estimate for the total amount of workers’ compensation costs, 
which represents the amount necessary to pay claims and related expenses, including premiums to third-party insurers, with respect to workplace injuries that 
have occurred under our various workers’ compensation insurance programs.  

When a claim involving a probable loss is reported, our independent third-party administrator for workers’ compensation claims (“TPA”) establishes a case 
reserve for the estimated amount of ultimate loss. The estimate reflects a judgment based on established case reserving practices and the experience and 
knowledge of the TPA regarding the nature and expected amount of the claim, as well as the estimated expenses of settling the claim, including legal and other 
fees and expenses of claims administration. The adequacy of such case reserves depends in part on the professional judgment of the TPA to evaluate the 
economic consequences of each claim properly and comprehensively.

Our estimate of ultimate losses includes an additional component for potential future increases in the cost to finally resolve open injury claims and claims 
incurred in prior periods but not reported (together, "IBNR") based on actuarial estimates provided by the Company’s independent actuary. IBNR does not apply 
to a specific claim but rather applies to the entire population of claims arising from a specific time period. IBNR primarily covers costs relating to:

• Future claim payments in excess of case reserves on recorded open claims; 

• Additional claim payments on closed claims; and 

• Claims that have occurred but have not yet been reported to us. 

The process of estimating claims and claims adjustment expense involves a high degree of judgment and is affected by both internal and external events, 
including changes in claims handling practices, modifications in reserve estimation procedures, changes in individuals involved in the reserve estimation 
process, inflation, trends in the litigation and settlement of pending claims, and legislative changes.

Our estimates are based on actuarial analyses and informed judgment, derived from individual experiences and expertise applied to multiple sets of data and 
analyses. We consider significant facts and circumstances known both at the time that loss reserves are initially established and as new facts and 
circumstances become known. Due to the inherent uncertainty underlying loss estimates, the ultimate expense incurred will likely vary from the related loss 
estimate at the reporting date. Therefore, as specific claims are paid out in the future, actual paid losses may be materially different from our current loss 
estimates. 

A basic premise in most actuarial analyses is that historical data and past patterns demonstrated in the incurred and paid historical data form a reasonable 
basis upon which to project future outcomes, absent a material change. Significant structural changes to the available data can materially impact the estimation 
process. To the extent a material change affecting the ultimate claim amount becomes known, such change is quantified to the extent possible through an 
analysis of internal company data and, if available and when appropriate, external data. Actuaries exercise a considerable degree of judgment in the evaluation 
of these factors and the need for such actuarial judgment is more pronounced when faced with material uncertainties.
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To illustrate the sensitivity of changes in our estimate of workers’ compensation costs, a 5% increase in estimated ultimate losses for 2024 would result in a 
$0.5 million increase in workers’ compensation expense, and a 5% decrease in estimated ultimate losses would result in a $7.1 million decrease to workers’ 
compensation expense. This asymmetric impact on workers’ compensation expense is due to our insured program, which limits our expense if claim costs 
increase but passes through savings if claim costs are lower than expected.

We believe that the amounts that we have recorded for our estimated workers’ compensation costs are reasonable. Nevertheless, adjustments to such 
estimates will be required in future periods if the development of claim costs varies materially from our estimates, and such future adjustments may be material 
to our results of operations.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
For a discussion of recent accounting pronouncements and their potential effect on the Company's results of operations and financial condition, see “Note 1 - 
Summary of Operations and Significant Accounting Policies” to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of Part II of this report.

Forward-Looking Information
Statements in this Item or in Items 1, 1A, 3 and 9A of this report include forward-looking statements, which are not historical in nature and are forward-looking 
statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements include, among others, discussion of 
economic conditions in our market areas, especially in California, and their effect on revenue levels; the competitiveness of our service offerings; the availability 
of certain fully insured medical and other health and welfare benefits to qualifying worksite employees; our ability to attract and retain clients and to achieve 
revenue growth; the effect of changes in our mix of services on gross margin; labor market conditions; the adequacy of our workers' compensation reserves; 
the effect of changes in estimates of our future claims liabilities on our workers’ compensation reserves, including the effect of changes in our reserving 
practices and claims management process on our actuarial estimates; expected levels of required surety deposits and letters of credit; the outcome of audits; 
the effect of our formation and operation of two wholly owned licensed insurance subsidiaries; the risks of operation and cost of our insured program; the 
financial viability of our excess insurance carriers; the effectiveness of our management information systems; our relationship with our primary bank lender and 
the availability of financing and working capital to meet our funding requirements; litigation costs; the effect of changes in the interest rate environment on the 
value of our investment securities; the adequacy of our allowance for expected credit losses; and the potential for and effect of acquisitions.

All our forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause the actual results, performance or 
achievements of the Company to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking 
statements. Such factors with respect to the Company include: our ability to retain current clients and attract new clients; difficulties associated with integrating 
clients into our operations; economic trends in our service areas and the potential effects of changing governmental policies and natural disasters; the potential 
for material deviations from expected future workers’ compensation claims experience; changes in the workers’ compensation regulatory environment in our 
primary markets; PEO client benefit costs, particularly with regard to health insurance benefits; security breaches or failures in the Company’s information 
technology systems; collectability of accounts receivable; changes in executive management; changes in effective payroll tax rates and federal and state 
income tax rates; the carrying values of deferred income tax assets and goodwill (which may be affected by our future operating results); the effects of inflation 
on our operating expenses and those of our clients; the impact of and potential changes to the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, escalating medical 
costs, and other health care legislative initiatives on our business; the effect of changing interest rates and conditions in the global capital markets on our 
investment portfolio; and the availability of capital, borrowing capacity on our revolving credit facility, or letters of credit necessary to meet state-mandated 
surety deposit requirements for maintaining our status as a qualified self-insured employer for workers' compensation coverage or our insured program. 
Additional risk factors affecting our business are discussed in Item 1A 
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of Part I of this report. We disclaim any obligation to publicly announce any revisions to any of the forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect future 
events or developments.

Results of Operations
The following table sets forth the percentages of total revenues represented by selected items in the Company's consolidated statements of operations for the 
years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, included in Item 8 of Part II of this report. 
 
    Percentage of Total Net Revenues    
($ in thousands)   Years Ended December 31,    
    2024       2023       2022    
Revenues:                                          

Professional employer services   $ 1,063,386       92.9   %   $ 982,268       91.9   %   $ 937,363       88.9   %
Staffing services     81,145       7.1         87,039       8.1         116,963       11.1    

Total revenues     1,144,531       100.0         1,069,307       100.0         1,054,326       100.0    
Cost of revenues:                                          

Direct payroll costs     61,010       5.3         65,042       6.1         87,944       8.3    
Payroll taxes and benefits     628,534       54.9         555,758       52.0         522,392       49.5    
Workers’ compensation     201,736       17.6         205,975       19.2         209,145       19.8    

Total cost of revenues     891,280       77.8         826,775       77.3         819,481       77.7    
Gross margin     253,251       22.2         242,532       22.7         234,845       22.3    
Selling, general and administrative 
   expenses     185,869       16.2         174,772       16.3         169,642       16.1    
Depreciation and amortization     7,601       0.7         7,110       0.7         6,228       0.6    
Income from operations     59,781       5.3         60,650       5.7         58,975       5.6    
Other income, net     11,041       1.0         8,338       0.8         6,328       0.6    
Income before income taxes     70,822       6.3         68,988       6.5         65,303       6.2    
Provision for income taxes     17,829       1.6         18,376       1.7         18,035       1.7    

Net income   $ 52,993       4.7   %   $ 50,612       4.8   %   $ 47,268       4.5   %
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We report PEO revenues net of direct payroll costs because we are not the primary obligor for wage payments to our clients’ employees. However, 
management believes that gross billings and wages are useful in understanding the volume of our business activity and serve as an important performance 
metric in managing our operations, including the preparation of internal operating forecasts and establishing executive compensation performance goals. We 
therefore present for purposes of analysis gross billings and wage information for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022. 
 
  Year Ended  
  December 31,  
(in thousands) 2024     2023     2022  
Gross billings $ 8,327,091     $ 7,716,152     $ 7,393,808  
PEO and staffing wages $ 7,245,093     $ 6,711,115     $ 6,425,286  

In monitoring and evaluating the performance of our operations, management also reviews the following ratios, which represent selected amounts as a 
percentage of gross billings. Management believes these ratios are useful in understanding the efficiency and profitability of our service offerings.
 
  Percentage of Gross Billings  
  Year Ended  
  December 31,  
  2024     2023     2022  
PEO and staffing wages   87.0 %     87.0 %     86.9 %
Payroll taxes and benefits   7.6 %     7.2 %     7.0 %
Workers' compensation   2.4 %     2.7 %     2.9 %
Gross margin   3.0 %     3.1 %     3.2 %
 
We refer to employees of our PEO clients as worksite employees (“WSEs”). Management reviews average and ending WSE growth to monitor and evaluate the 
performance of our operations. Average WSEs are calculated by dividing the number of unique individuals paid in each month by the number of months in the 
period. Ending WSEs represents the number of unique individuals paid in the last month of the period.
 
  Year Ended  
  December 31,  
  

2024    
Year-over-year

% Growth     2023    
Year-over-year

% Growth     2022  
Average WSEs   129,577       4.2 %     124,306       1.9 %     122,001  
Ending WSEs   132,069       4.4 %     126,446       3.4 %     122,306  
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Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023
Net income for 2024 was $53.0 million compared to net income of $50.6 million for 2023. Diluted net income per share for 2024 was $1.98 compared to diluted 
income per share of $1.85 for 2023.

Revenue for 2024 totaled $1,144.5 million, an increase of $75.2 million or 7.0% over 2023, which reflects an increase in the Company’s PEO service revenue of 
$81.1 million or 8.3% and a decrease in staffing services revenue of $5.9 million or 6.8%.

The increase in PEO services revenues was primarily attributable to a 4.2% increase in average number of WSEs as well as a 3.4% increase in average billing 
per WSE.

Gross margin for 2024 totaled $253.3 million or 22.2% of revenue compared to $242.5 million or 22.7% of revenue for 2023. The decrease in gross margin as a 
percentage of revenues is primarily a result of the factors discussed within the separate components of gross margin below.

Direct payroll costs for 2024 totaled $61.0 million or 5.3% of revenue compared to $65.0 million or 6.1% of revenue for 2023. The decrease in direct payroll 
costs as a percentage of revenues was primarily due to a decrease in staffing services within the mix of our customer base in 2024 as compared to 2023.

Payroll taxes and benefits for 2024 totaled $628.5 million or 54.9% of revenue compared to $555.8 million or 52.0% of revenue for 2023. The increase in payroll 
taxes and benefits expense as a percentage of revenue was primarily due to higher average payroll tax rates in 2024 and PEO client benefit costs of $33.4 
million in 2024 compared to $10.5 million in 2023.

Workers’ compensation expense for 2024 totaled $201.7 million or 17.6% of revenue compared to $206.0 million or 19.2% of revenue for 2023. The decrease 
in workers’ compensation expense as a percentage of revenue was primarily due to lower workers' compensation costs in the current year as well as favorable 
prior year liability and premium adjustments of $18.5 million in 2024, compared to prior year liability and premium adjustments of $14.9 million in 2023.

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses for 2024 totaled $185.9 million or 16.2% of revenue compared to $174.8 million or 16.3% of revenue for 
2023. The increase of $11.1 million in SG&A expense was primarily attributable to increased employee-related costs, including increased variable employee 
compensation and incentive pay related to stronger financial results compared to 2023.

Other income, net for 2024 totaled $11.0 million compared to other income of $8.3 million for 2023. The increase was primarily attributable to an increase in 
investment income in 2024. 

Our effective income tax rate for 2024 was 25.2% compared to 26.6% for 2023. Our income tax rate typically differs from the federal statutory tax rate of 21% 
primarily due to state taxes as well as federal and state tax credits. See “Note 8 - Income Taxes” to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of 
Part II of this report for additional information regarding income taxes.

A discussion of our financial condition and results of operations for 2023 compared to 2022 can be found in Part II, Item 7. Management's Discussion and 
Analysis in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, filed with the SEC on March 1, 2024.
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Fluctuations in Quarterly Operating Results
We historically have experienced significant fluctuations in our quarterly operating results, including losses or minimal income in the first quarter of each year, 
and expect such fluctuations to continue in the future. Our operating results may fluctuate due to a number of factors such as seasonality, wage limits on 
statutory payroll taxes, claims experience for workers’ compensation, demand for our services, and competition. Payroll taxes, as a component of cost of 
revenues, generally decline throughout a calendar year as the applicable statutory wage bases for federal and state unemployment taxes and Social Security 
taxes are exceeded on a per employee basis. Our revenue levels may be higher in the third quarter due to the effect of increased business activity of our 
customers’ businesses in the agriculture, food processing and forest products-related industries. In addition, revenues in the fourth quarter may be reduced by 
many customers’ practice of operating on holiday-shortened schedules. Workers’ compensation expense varies with both the frequency and severity of 
workplace injury claims reported during a quarter and the estimated future costs of such claims. Positive or adverse loss development of prior period claims 
during a subsequent quarter may also contribute to the volatility in the Company’s estimated workers’ compensation expense.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
The Company's cash balance of $82.6 million, which includes cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, increased $7.7 million for the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2024, compared to a decrease of $32.5 million for the comparable period of 2023. The increase in cash at December 31, 2024 as compared to 
December 31, 2023 was primarily due to proceeds from the sale and maturities of investments and restricted investments, increased accrued payroll and 
related benefits, and net income, partially offset by increased trade accounts receivable, decreased workers' compensation claim liabilities, purchases of 
investments and restricted investments, and repurchases of common stock.

Net cash provided by operating activities in 2024 amounted to $10.1 million, compared to net cash provided of $67.2 million for the comparable period of 2023. 
In 2024, net cash provided by operating activities was primarily due to increased accrued payroll and related benefits of $55.2 million and net income of $53.0 
million, largely offset by increased trade accounts receivable of $63.1 million and decreased workers’ compensation claims liabilities of $39.4 million.

Net cash provided by investing activities totaled $38.8 million in 2024, compared to net cash used of $55.2 million for the comparable period of 2023. In 2024, 
net cash provided by investing activities consisted primarily of proceeds from the sale and maturity of investments and restricted investments of $90.8 million, 
partially offset by the purchases of investments and restricted investments of $37.9 million and the purchase of property, equipment and software of $14.2 
million.

Net cash used in financing activities in 2024 was $41.1 million compared to net cash used of $44.6 million for the comparable period of 2023. In 2024, net cash 
used in financing activities primarily consisted of repurchases of common stock of $29.1 million and dividend payments of $8.1 million.

The Company is required to maintain minimum collateral levels for certain policies issued under the insured program, which is held in a trust account (the “trust 
account”). The balance in the trust account was $197.1 million and $210.9 million at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. The trust 
account balance is included as a component of the current and long-term restricted cash and investments in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

See “Note 5 - Revolving Credit Facility and Long-Term Debt” to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of Part II of this report for information 
regarding the Company’s credit agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.
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Contractual Obligations
The Company's contractual obligations as of December 31, 2024 are summarized below:
 

    As of December 31, 2024  
    Payments Due by Period  

(in thousands)         Less than     1 - 3     4 - 5     After  
    Total     1 Year     Years     Years     5 Years  

Operating leases   $ 30,755     $ 7,772     $ 13,397     $ 7,063     $ 2,523  
Total contractual obligations   $ 30,755     $ 7,772     $ 13,397     $ 7,063     $ 2,523  

(1) As of December 31, 2024, the Company has additional operating leases that have not yet commenced of $7.1 million and remaining balances on short-term 
operating leases of $0.06 million, included in the table above. In January 2022, the Company paid off all of its long-term debt.

Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
The Company's exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates primarily relates to its investment portfolio and outstanding borrowings on its line of credit. 
The Company's investments and restricted investments, which are classified as available-for-sale, consist primarily of fixed-rate debt securities, the fair value of 
which fluctuates with prevailing interest rates. Our cash equivalents consist primarily of money market funds, which are not meaningfully impacted by interest 
rate risk. We attempt to limit our investment portfolio's exposure to market risk through low investment turnover and diversification. Based on the Company's 
overall interest exposure at December 31, 2024, a 50 basis point increase in market interest rates would have a $4.2 million downward effect on the fair value 
of the Company's investment portfolio. Outstanding borrowings on the Company's line of credit bear interest at a variable market rate, which makes the cost of 
borrowing on the line of credit susceptible to changing interest rates. At December 31, 2024, the Company had no outstanding borrowings on its line of credit.

(1)
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Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of
Barrett Business Services, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Barrett Business Services, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2024 
and December 31, 2023, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, stockholders' equity, and cash flows, for each of the three 
years in the period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, and the results of its 
operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal 
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 28, 2025, expressed an unqualified opinion on the 
Company's internal control over financial reporting. 

Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial 
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company 
in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures 
to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. 
Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included 
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter 
The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that were communicated or required 
to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our 
especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial 
statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on 
the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.
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Workers' Compensation Claims Liabilities

Workers’ compensation claims liabilities represent management’s estimate of future obligation amounts under workers’ compensation programs where the 
Company retains the risk. These estimates utilize actuarial expertise and projection techniques at a given reporting date, and are based on an evaluation of 
information provided by the Company’s third-party administrator for workers’ compensation claims, coupled with an actuarial estimate of future loss 
development with respect to reported claims and incurred but not reported claims (together, “IBNR”). The Company’s estimates are based on actuarial analysis 
and informed judgment, derived from individual experience and expertise applied to multiple sets of data and analyses. The Company considers significant 
facts and circumstances known both at the time that loss reserves are initially established, and as new facts and circumstances become known.

Given the subjectivity of estimating future loss development with respect to reported claims and incurred but not reported claims, the related audit procedures to 
evaluate the workers’ compensation claims liabilities required a high degree of auditor judgment and an increased extent of effort, including involvement of our 
actuarial specialists.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to the workers’ compensation claims liabilities included the following:

• We tested the effectiveness of controls related to the workers’ compensation claims liabilities, including those involving management’s estimates 
and ultimate loss projections.

• We tested the underlying data that served as the basis for the actuarial analysis, including historical claims, to test that the inputs to the actuarial 
estimate were complete and accurate.

• With the assistance of our actuarial specialists, we evaluated the methods and assumptions used by management to estimate the workers’ 
compensation claims liabilities by:

o Performing a retrospective review, including comparing management’s prior year estimates of expected incurred losses to actual 
experience during the current year, to identify potential bias in the determination of the workers’ compensation claims liabilities.

o Developing a range of independent estimates of the workers’ compensation claims liabilities, and comparing our estimated ranges to 
management’s estimates and assessed the consistency of management’s approach.

/s/ Meghann Hartley
Portland, Oregon 
February 28, 2025

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2016.
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Barrett Business Services, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2024 and 2023

(In Thousands, Except Par Value)
 
 
    December 31,     December 31,  
   2024     2023  

ASSETS            
Current assets:            

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 55,367     $ 71,168  
Investments     66,492       81,027  
Trade accounts receivable, net     234,533       171,407  
Income taxes receivable     2,662       7,987  
Prepaid expenses and other     18,698       18,443  
Restricted cash and investments     97,690       97,470  

Total current assets     475,442       447,502  
Property, equipment and software, net     56,781       50,295  
Operating lease right-of-use assets     20,329       19,898  
Restricted cash and investments     134,454       145,583  
Goodwill     47,820       47,820  
Other assets     6,205       6,222  
Deferred income taxes     4,477       4,218  
Total assets   $ 745,508     $ 721,538  

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY            
Current liabilities:            

Accounts payable   $ 6,787     $ 6,593  
Accrued payroll and related benefits     215,648       160,930  
Payroll taxes payable     49,685       73,150  
Current operating lease liabilities     6,231       6,623  
Current premium payable     31,134       35,276  
Other accrued liabilities     10,330       10,674  
Workers' compensation claims liabilities     39,081       50,006  

Total current liabilities     358,896       343,252  
Long-term workers' compensation claims liabilities     89,365       117,757  
Long-term premium payable     49,840       37,812  
Long-term operating lease liabilities     15,215       14,590  
Customer deposits and other long-term liabilities     10,788       8,987  
Total liabilities     524,104       522,398  
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 5, 7 and 11)            
Stockholders' equity:            

Common stock, $.01 par value; 82,000 shares authorized, 25,784
   and 26,290 shares issued and outstanding in 2024 and 2023, respectively     258       263  
Additional paid-in capital     40,396       36,743  
Accumulated other comprehensive loss     (19,245 )     (20,801 )
Retained earnings     199,995       182,935  

Total stockholders' equity     221,404       199,140  
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity   $ 745,508     $ 721,538  

(1) Prior period results have been adjusted to reflect the four-for-one stock split effected in the form of a stock dividend in June 2024. See the Business section in Item 1 of Part I 
of this report for details.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

(1)
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Barrett Business Services, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Years Ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022
(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

 
 
  Year Ended  
  December 31,  

  2024   2023   2022  
Revenues:            

Professional employer services $ 1,063,386   $ 982,268   $ 937,363  
Staffing services   81,145     87,039     116,963  

Total revenues   1,144,531     1,069,307     1,054,326  
Cost of revenues:            

Direct payroll costs   61,010     65,042     87,944  
Payroll taxes and benefits   628,534     555,758     522,392  
Workers' compensation   201,736     205,975     209,145  

Total cost of revenues   891,280     826,775     819,481  
Gross margin   253,251     242,532     234,845  

Selling, general and administrative expenses   185,869     174,772     169,642  
Depreciation and amortization   7,601     7,110     6,228  

Income from operations   59,781     60,650     58,975  
Other income (expense):            

Investment income, net   11,130     8,643     6,476  
Interest expense   (178 )   (166 )   (141 )
Other, net   89     (139 )   (7 )

Other income, net   11,041     8,338     6,328  
Income before income taxes   70,822     68,988     65,303  

Provision for income taxes   17,829     18,376     18,035  
Net income $ 52,993   $ 50,612   $ 47,268  

Basic income per common share $ 2.03   $ 1.88   $ 1.66  
Weighted average number of basic common shares outstanding   26,076     26,921     28,521  
Diluted income per common share $ 1.98   $ 1.85   $ 1.64  
Weighted average number of diluted common shares outstanding   26,708     27,394     28,905  

(1) Prior period results have been adjusted to reflect the four-for-one stock split effected in the form of a stock dividend in June 2024. See the Business section in Item 1 of Part I 
of this report for details.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)
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Barrett Business Services, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
Years Ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022

(In Thousands)
 
 
    Year Ended  
    December 31,  
    2024     2023     2022  
Net income   $ 52,993     $ 50,612     $ 47,268  
Unrealized gains (losses) on investments, net of tax of $595, $2,596, and ($10,958) in 2024, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively     1,556       6,793       (28,673 )
Comprehensive income   $ 54,549     $ 57,405     $ 18,595  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Barrett Business Services, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity
Years Ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022

(In Thousands)
 
 
                   Accumulated              
                    Other              
 

            Additional    
Comprehensiv

e              
  Common Stock     Paid-in     Income     Retained        
  Shares     Amount     Capital     (Loss)     Earnings     Total  
Balance, December 31, 2021   29,660     $ 297     $ 28,831     $ 1,079     $ 178,323     $ 208,530  
Common stock issued on exercise of options,
   purchase of ESPP shares and vesting of 
   restricted stock units and performance awards   339       3       708       —       —       711  
Common stock repurchased on vesting of
   restricted stock units and performance awards   (92 )     (1 )     (1,691 )     —       —       (1,692 )
Share-based compensation expense   —       —       7,390       —       —       7,390  
Company repurchase of common stock   (2,424 )     (24 )     (2,700 )     —       (44,444 )     (47,168 )
Cash dividends on common stock ($0.30
   per share)   —       —       —       —       (8,524 )     (8,524 )
Unrealized loss on investments, net of tax   —       —       —       (28,673 )     —       (28,673 )
Net income   —       —       —       —       47,268       47,268  
Balance, December 31, 2022   27,483     $ 275     $ 32,538     $ (27,594 )   $ 172,623     $ 177,842  
Common stock issued on exercise of options,
   purchase of ESPP shares and vesting of 
   restricted stock units and performance awards   436       4       698       —       —       702  
Common stock repurchased on vesting of
   restricted stock units and performance awards   (130 )     (1 )     (2,992 )     —       —       (2,993 )
Share-based compensation expense   —       —       8,465       —       —       8,465  
Company repurchase of common stock   (1,499 )     (15 )     (1,966 )     —       (32,211 )     (34,192 )
Cash dividends on common stock ($0.30
   per share)   —       —       —       —       (8,089 )     (8,089 )
Unrealized gain on investments, net of tax   —       —       —       6,793       —       6,793  
Net income   —       —       —       —       50,612       50,612  
Balance, December 31, 2023   26,290     $ 263     $ 36,743     $ (20,801 )   $ 182,935     $ 199,140  
Common stock issued on exercise of options,
   purchase of ESPP shares and vesting of 
   restricted stock units and performance awards   497       5       926       —       —       931  
Common stock repurchased on vesting of
   restricted stock units and performance awards   (153 )     (2 )     (4,835 )     —       —       (4,837 )
Share-based compensation expense   —       —       8,840       —       —       8,840  
Company repurchase of common stock   (850 )     (8 )     (1,278 )     —       (27,847 )     (29,133 )
Cash dividends on common stock ($0.31 
   per share)   —       —       —       —       (8,086 )     (8,086 )
Unrealized gain on investments, net of tax   —       —       —       1,556       —       1,556  
Net income   —       —       —       —       52,993       52,993  
Balance, December 31, 2024   25,784     $ 258     $ 40,396     $ (19,245 )   $ 199,995     $ 221,404  

(1) Prior period results have been adjusted to reflect the four-for-one stock split effected in the form of a stock dividend in June 2024. See the Business section in Item 1 of Part I 
of this report for details.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

(1) (1) (1)



 

40

Barrett Business Services, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022
(In Thousands)

 
 
    Year Ended  
    December 31,  
    2024     2023     2022  
Cash flows from operating activities:                  

Net income   $ 52,993     $ 50,612     $ 47,268  
Reconciliations of net income to net cash provided by operating activities:                  
Depreciation and amortization     7,601       7,110       6,228  
Non-cash operating lease expense     6,470       7,036       6,955  
Investment (accretion) amortization and (gains) losses recognized     (221 )     1,396       1,859  
Losses recognized on disposal of property and equipment     65       256       139  
Deferred income taxes     (854 )     4,626       (2,169 )
Share-based compensation     8,840       8,465       7,390  
Changes in certain operating assets and liabilities:                  

Trade accounts receivable     (63,126 )     (7,569 )     (8,131 )
Income taxes     5,325       (8,597 )     (1,063 )
Prepaid expenses and other     (255 )     1,344       (2,181 )
Accounts payable     194       (1,671 )     3,779  
Accrued payroll and related benefits     55,170       5,698       12,219  
Payroll taxes payable     (23,465 )     7,030       12,697  
Other accrued liabilities     (736 )     (4,177 )     1,371  
Premium payable     7,886       54,168       12,081  
Workers' compensation claims liabilities     (39,350 )     (51,246 )     (64,222 )
Operating lease liabilities     (6,668 )     (7,099 )     (6,740 )
Other assets and liabilities, net     218       (160 )     298  

Net cash provided by operating activities     10,087       67,222       27,778  
Cash flows from investing activities:                  

Purchase of property, equipment and software     (14,160 )     (11,827 )     (15,973 )
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment     8       120       —  
Purchase of investments     (7,902 )     (4,387 )     —  
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments     23,319       10,352       18,732  
Purchase of restricted investments     (29,971 )     (66,734 )     (4,345 )
Proceeds from sales and maturities of restricted investments     67,491       17,289       62,740  

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities     38,785       (55,187 )     61,154  
Cash flows from financing activities:                  

Proceeds from credit-line borrowings     415       12,313       —  
Payments on credit-line borrowings     (415 )     (12,313 )     —  
Payments on long-term debt     —       —       (3,510 )
Repurchase of common stock     (29,133 )     (34,192 )     (47,168 )
Common stock repurchased on vesting of stock awards     (4,837 )     (2,993 )     (1,692 )
Dividends paid     (8,086 )     (8,089 )     (8,524 )
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and purchase of ESPP     931       702       711  

Net cash used in financing activities     (41,125 )     (44,572 )     (60,183 )
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash     7,747       (32,537 )     28,749  

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period     74,841       107,378       78,629  
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period   $ 82,588     $ 74,841     $ 107,378  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Barrett Business Services, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

 
Note 1 - Summary of Operations and Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of operations
Barrett Business Services, Inc. (“BBSI” or the “Company”), is a leading provider of business management solutions for small and mid-sized companies. The 
Company has developed a management platform that integrates a knowledge-based approach from the management consulting industry with tools from the 
human resource outsourcing industry. This platform, through the effective leveraging of human capital, helps our business owner clients run their businesses 
more effectively.

We believe this platform, delivered through our decentralized organizational structure, differentiates BBSI from our competitors. The Company supports clients 
with a local presence in 67 markets throughout the United States. Approximately 72%, 72% and 73%, respectively, of our revenue during 2024, 2023 and 2022 
was attributable to our California operations. BBSI was incorporated in Maryland in 1965.

The Company operates a wholly owned, fully licensed captive insurance company, Associated Insurance Company for Excess ("AICE") and a wholly owned, 
fully licensed insurance company, Ecole. AICE and Ecole provide access to more competitive and cost-effective insurance markets and provide cost-effective 
risk management. See “Note 4 - Workers’ Compensation Claims” for additional information on the Company’s insurance programs.

Principles of consolidation
The accompanying financial statements are prepared on a consolidated basis. All intercompany account balances and transactions between BBSI, AICE, and 
Ecole have been eliminated in consolidation.

Common stock split 
On June 4, 2024, we amended our Charter to increase the number of authorized shares of common stock from 20,500,000 shares to 82,000,000 shares, and 
our Board of Directors declared a four-for-one split of the Company’s common stock effected in the form of a stock dividend (the “2024 Stock Split”). Each 
stockholder of record at the close of business on June 14, 2024 received a dividend of three additional shares of common stock for each then-held share, 
distributed after close of trading on June 21, 2024. All share and per share amounts presented herein have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the impact of 
the 2024 Stock Split. The shares of common stock retain a par value of $0.01 per share. Accordingly, an amount equal to the par value of the increased shares 
resulting from the stock split was reclassified from additional paid-in capital to common stock.

Reportable segment
BBSI has one operating and reportable segment which provides business management solutions to small and mid-sized companies. The Company’s Chief 
Executive Officer is the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”). The CODM is provided financial information presented on a consolidated basis, including 
consolidated gross margin and consolidated net income, to assess the financial performance of the Company and to decide how to allocate resources, 
including by reinvesting profits into our single operating segment or pursuing other strategic initiatives, such as stock repurchases or acquisitions. The financial 
information presented to the CODM, including the expense categories, is consistent with the financial information contained in these consolidated financial 
statements.

The accounting policies of our reportable segment are the same as those of the consolidated entity.

BBSI derives revenue exclusively in the United States and all of the Company’s long-lived assets are located in the United States. 



 

42

Revenue recognition
Professional employer (“PEO”) services are normally used by organizations to satisfy ongoing needs related to the management of human capital and are 
governed by the terms of a client services agreement which covers all employees at a particular work site. Staffing revenues relate primarily to short-term 
staffing, contract staffing and on-site management services. The Company’s performance obligations for PEO and staffing services are satisfied, and the 
related revenue is recognized, as services are rendered by our workforce. 

Our PEO client service agreements have a minimum term of one year, are renewable on an annual basis and typically require 30 days’ written notice to cancel 
or terminate the contract by either party. In addition, our client service agreements provide for immediate termination upon any payment default of the client 
regardless of when notice is given. PEO customers are invoiced following the end of each payroll processing cycle, with payment generally due on the invoice 
date. Staffing customers are generally invoiced weekly based on agreed rates per employee and actual hours worked, typically with payment terms of 30 days. 
The amount of earned but unbilled revenue is classified as a receivable on the consolidated balance sheets.

We report PEO revenues net of direct payroll costs because we are not the primary obligor for these payments to our clients’ employees. Direct payroll costs 
include salaries, wages, health insurance, and employee out-of-pocket expenses incurred incidental to employment. 

Cost of revenues
Our cost of revenues for PEO services includes employer payroll-related taxes, workers' compensation costs, and employee benefits costs. Our cost of 
revenues for staffing services includes direct payroll costs, employer payroll-related taxes, and workers’ compensation costs. Direct payroll costs represent the 
gross payroll earned by staffing services employees based on salary or hourly wages. Payroll taxes consist of the employer's portion of Social Security and 
Medicare taxes and federal and state unemployment taxes. Benefit costs primarily comprise health insurance premiums paid to third-party carriers as part of 
our fully insured PEO benefits programs and underwriting and benefit consultant payroll. Workers' compensation costs consist primarily of premiums paid to 
third-party insurers, claims reserves, claims administration fees, legal fees, medical cost containment (“MCC”) expense, state administrative agency fees, third-
party broker commissions, risk manager payroll, as well as costs associated with operating our two wholly owned insurance companies, AICE and Ecole.

Cash and cash equivalents
We consider non-restricted short-term investments that are highly liquid, readily convertible into cash, and have maturities at acquisition of less than three 
months to be cash equivalents for purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows and consolidated balance sheets. The Company maintains cash 
balances in bank accounts that normally exceed FDIC insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses related to its cash concentration.

Investments
The Company classifies investments as available-for-sale. The Company’s investments are reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses, net of taxes, 
shown as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss in stockholders' equity. Investments are recorded as current on the consolidated balance 
sheets as the invested funds are available for current operations. Management considers available evidence in evaluating potential impairment of investments, 
including the extent to which fair value is less than cost and adverse conditions related to the security. In the event of a credit loss, an allowance would be 
recognized to the extent that the fair value of the security is less than the present value of the expected future cash flows. Realized gains and losses on sales of 
investments are included in investment income, net in our consolidated statements of operations. Investment income, net in the consolidated statements of 
operations includes interest income of $10.9 million, $9.1 million, and $6.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
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Restricted cash and investments
The Company holds restricted cash and investments primarily for the future payment of insurance premiums and workers’ compensation claims. These 
investments are categorized as available-for-sale. They are reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses, net of taxes, shown as a component of 
accumulated other comprehensive loss in stockholders’ equity. Restricted cash and investments are classified as current and noncurrent on the consolidated 
balance sheets based on the nature of the restriction. Management considers available evidence in evaluating potential impairment of restricted investments, 
including the extent to which fair value is less than cost and adverse conditions related to the security. In the event of a credit loss, an allowance would be 
recognized to the extent that the fair value of the security is less than the present value of the expected future cash flows. Realized gains and losses on sales of 
restricted investments are included in investment income in our consolidated statements of operations.

Restricted cash and investments also includes investments held as part of the Company’s deferred compensation plan. These investments are classified as 
trading securities and are recorded at fair value with unrealized gains and losses reported as a component of income from operations.

Concentration of credit risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentration of credit risk consist primarily of cash equivalents, investments, restricted cash and 
investments, and trade accounts receivable. We limit investment of cash equivalents and investments to financial institutions with high credit ratings. Credit risk 
on trade accounts is minimized as a result of the large and diverse nature of our customer base.

Trade accounts receivable
PEO customers are invoiced following the end of each payroll processing cycle with payment generally due on the invoice date and staffing customers are 
generally invoiced weekly with payment terms of 30 days. The balance in trade accounts receivable is comprised primarily of unbilled receivables of $218.8 
million and $157.9 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The remaining balance of $16.6 million and $14.4 million in trade accounts receivable 
at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, is primarily related to outstanding billings to PEO and staffing clients, offset by an allowance for expected credits 
losses of $0.9 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.  

Allowance for expected credit losses
The Company had an allowance for expected credit losses of $0.9 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023. We make estimates of the collectability of our 
accounts receivable for services provided to our customers based on future expected credit losses. Management analyzes historical bad debts, customer 
concentrations, customer credit-worthiness, current economic trends and changes in customers' payment trends when evaluating the adequacy of the 
allowance for expected credit losses. If the financial condition of our customers deteriorates resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, 
additional allowances may be required.

Our allowance for expected credit losses activity is summarized as follows (in thousands):
 

    2024     2023     2022  
Balance at January 1,                  

Allowance for expected credit losses   $ 885     $ 893     $ 460  
Charges to expense     72       98       462  
Write-offs of uncollectible accounts, net
   of recoveries     (72 )     (106 )     (29 )

Balance at December 31,                  
Allowance for expected credit losses   $ 885     $ 885     $ 893  
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Income taxes
Our income taxes are accounted for using an asset and liability approach. This requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected 
future tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities at the applicable tax rates. A valuation 
allowance is recorded against deferred tax assets if, based on the weight of the available evidence, it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax 
assets will not be realized. The factors used to assess the likelihood of realization include the Company’s forecast of the reversal of temporary differences, 
future taxable income and available tax planning strategies that could be implemented to realize the net deferred tax assets. Failure to achieve forecasted 
taxable income in applicable tax jurisdictions could affect the ultimate realization of deferred tax assets and could result in an increase in the Company’s 
effective tax rate on future earnings.

The determination of our provision for income taxes requires significant judgment, the use of estimates, and the interpretation and application of complex tax 
laws. Significant judgment is required in assessing the timing and amounts of deductible and taxable items and the probability of sustaining uncertain tax 
positions. The Company recognizes the tax benefit from uncertain tax positions if it is more likely than not that the tax positions will be sustained on examination 
by the tax authorities. The tax benefit is measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate 
settlement. As facts and circumstances change, we reassess these probabilities and record any changes in the consolidated financial statements as 
appropriate. The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense.

Goodwill and intangible assets
Goodwill is recorded as the difference, if any, between the aggregate consideration paid for a business combination and the fair value of the net assets 
acquired. Goodwill is not amortized but is evaluated for impairment annually, or more frequently if circumstances indicate that it is more likely than not that the 
fair value of the operating segment is below its carrying value. The Company has one operating and reportable segment and evaluates the carrying value of 
goodwill annually at December 31. No impairment has been recognized in the periods presented.

Property, equipment and software
Property, equipment and software are stated at cost. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to selling, general and administrative expenses as 
incurred and expenditures for additions and improvements to property and equipment are capitalized. The cost of assets sold or otherwise disposed of and the 
related accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the accounts, and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in the consolidated statements of operations.

We capitalize software development costs incurred during the application development stage, which is the stage when preliminary project planning ends and 
software development begins. Capitalized costs generally include both internal and external costs associated with coding and testing. Capitalized costs are 
amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life, commencing when the software is placed into service. Costs incurred during the preliminary 
project stage and the post-implementation stage, as well as general and administrative and overhead costs, are expensed as they are incurred. 

Depreciation of property and equipment and amortization of software is calculated using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives of the related 
assets or lease terms, as follows:
 

    Years
Buildings   39
Equipment, furniture and fixtures   7 - 15
Computer hardware, software and software development costs   3 - 10
Leasehold improvements   1 - 7
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Impairment of long-lived assets
Long-lived assets, such as property, equipment and software and acquired intangibles subject to amortization, are reviewed for impairment annually, or 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the remaining estimated useful life may warrant revision or that the carrying amount of an asset 
may not be recoverable. Some of the events or changes in circumstances that would trigger an impairment review include, but are not limited to, significant 
under-performance relative to expected and/or historical results, significant negative industry or economic trends, or knowledge of transactions involving the 
sale of similar property at amounts below the carrying value.

Assets are grouped for measurement of impairment at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other 
assets. If the carrying amount of an asset group exceeds the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset group, then an 
impairment charge is recognized to the extent the carrying amount exceeds the asset group’s fair value. In determining fair value, management considers 
current results, trends, future prospects, and other economic factors. 

Leases 
The Company leases office facilities and equipment under operating leases. We determine whether an arrangement is or contains a lease at inception. For all 
leases with a term greater than 12 months, we record our operating lease liabilities and right-of-use (ROU) assets at the lease commencement date. Operating 
lease liabilities are based on the present value of future minimum lease payments over the lease term, and include options to renew a lease in the future 
minimum lease payments if it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise that option. ROU assets are based on the lease liability, adjusted for any 
lease prepayments and lease incentives. If a lease does not provide an implicit interest rate, we use our incremental borrowing rate on a collateralized basis 
from the information available at commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments. We recognize expense for lease payments on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term for operating leases. Leases with initial terms of 12 months or less are considered short-term lease costs and are not 
recorded as ROU assets on the consolidated balance sheets. ROU assets are reviewed for impairment in the same manner as long-lived assets. No 
impairment has been recorded in the periods presented. 

The Company has elected the practical expedient not to separate non-lease components from lease components for all classes of assets. Our lease 
agreements generally do not contain material variable lease payments or restrictive covenants.

Workers’ compensation claims liabilities
Our workers’ compensation claims liabilities do not represent an exact calculation of liability but rather management’s best estimate of future obligation amounts 
under workers' compensation programs where the Company retains risk. These estimates utilize actuarial expertise and projection techniques, at a given 
reporting date, and are based on an evaluation of information provided by our third-party administrator for workers’ compensation claims, coupled with an 
actuarial estimate of future loss development with respect to reported claims and incurred but not reported claims (together, “IBNR”). Workers’ compensation 
claims liabilities include case reserve estimates for reported losses, plus additional amounts for estimated IBNR claims, MCC and legal costs, unallocated loss 
adjustment expenses and estimated future recoveries. The estimate of incurred costs expected to be paid within one year is included in current liabilities, while 
the estimate of incurred costs expected to be paid beyond one year is included in long-term liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets. These estimates are 
reviewed at least quarterly and adjustments to estimated liabilities are reflected in current operating results as they become known.
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The process of arriving at an estimate of unpaid claims and claims adjustment expense involves a high degree of judgment and is affected by both internal and 
external events, including changes in claims handling practices, changes in reserve estimation procedures, inflation, trends in the litigation and settlement of 
pending claims, and legislative changes.

Our estimates are based on actuarial analysis and informed judgment, derived from individual experience and expertise applied to multiple sets of data and 
analyses. We consider significant facts and circumstances known both at the time that loss reserves are initially established and as new facts and 
circumstances become known. Due to the inherent uncertainty underlying loss reserve estimates, the expenses incurred through final resolution of our liability 
for our workers’ compensation claims will likely vary from the related loss reserves at the reporting date. Therefore, as specific claims are paid out in the future, 
actual paid losses may be materially different from our current loss reserves.

A basic premise in most actuarial analyses is that historical data and past patterns demonstrated in the incurred and paid historical data form a reasonable 
basis upon which to project future outcomes, absent a material change. Significant structural changes to the available data can materially impact the reserve 
estimation process. To the extent a material change affecting the ultimate claim liability becomes known, such change is quantified to the extent possible 
through an analysis of internal Company data and, if available and when appropriate, external data. Nonetheless, actuaries exercise a considerable degree of 
judgment in the evaluation of these factors and the need for such actuarial judgment is more pronounced when faced with material uncertainties.

Customer deposits
We require deposits from certain PEO customers to cover a portion of our accounts receivable due from such customers in the event of default of payment.

Comprehensive income 
Comprehensive income includes all changes in equity during a period except those that resulted from investments by or distributions to the Company's 
stockholders.

Other comprehensive income refers to revenues, expenses, gains and losses that under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) are included 
in comprehensive income, but excluded from net income as these amounts are recorded directly as an adjustment to stockholders' equity. Our other 
comprehensive income comprises unrealized holding gains and losses on our available-for-sale investments.

Statements of cash flows
Interest paid in 2024, 2023 and 2022 did not materially differ from interest expense. Income taxes paid by the Company totaled $14.9 million, $22.2 million, and 
$21.0 million in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Bank deposits and other cash equivalents that are restricted for use are classified as restricted cash. The table below reconciles the cash, cash equivalents and 
restricted cash balances from our consolidated balance sheets to the amounts reported on the consolidated statements of cash flows (in thousands):
 
    December 31,     December 31,     December 31,  
    2024     2023     2022  
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 55,367     $ 71,168     $ 91,423  
Restricted cash, included in restricted cash and investments     27,221       3,673       15,955  
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash shown in the 
   statements of cash flows   $ 82,588     $ 74,841     $ 107,378  
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Basic and diluted earnings per share
Basic earnings per share are computed based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for each year using the treasury method. 
Diluted earnings per share reflect the potential effects of the issuance of shares in connection with the exercise of outstanding stock options, vesting of 
outstanding restricted stock units and performance share units, and the Company’s employee stock purchase plan. Basic and diluted shares outstanding are 
summarized as follows (in thousands):
 
    Year Ended  
    December 31,  
    2024     2023     2022  
Weighted average number of basic shares outstanding     26,076       26,921       28,521  
Effect of dilutive securities     632       473       384  
Weighted average number of diluted shares outstanding     26,708       27,394       28,905  

Accounting estimates
The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions. These affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Management bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions 
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Estimates are used for fair value measurement of investments, allowance for expected credit losses, 
deferred income taxes, carrying values for goodwill and property, equipment and software, and accrued workers' compensation liabilities. Actual results may or 
may not differ from such estimates.

Reclassifications
To conform to the current period’s presentation, the prior period balance of accrued payroll, payroll taxes and related benefits on the consolidated balance 
sheets of $234.1 million was disaggregated into accrued payroll and related benefits of $160.9 million and payroll taxes payable of $73.2 million. In the 
consolidated statements of cash flows, the 2023 amount of net cash inflows from accrued payroll, payroll taxes and related benefits of $12.7 million was 
disaggregated into net cash inflows from accrued payroll and related benefits of $5.7 million and net cash inflows from payroll taxes payable of $7.0 million. For 
2022, net cash inflows from accrued payroll, payroll taxes and related benefits of $24.9 million was disaggregated into net cash inflows from accrued payroll 
and related benefits of $12.2 million and net cash inflows from payroll taxes payable of $12.7 million.

To conform to the current period’s presentation, safety incentives liability of $1.3 million was reclassified to other accrued liabilities in the prior period 
consolidated balance sheets, and net cash outflows from safety incentives liability of $0.8 million and $2.3 million were reclassified to other accrued liabilities in 
the prior period consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

All share and per share amounts presented herein have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the impact of the 2024 Stock Split. To conform to the current 
period’s presentation, additional paid-in-capital of approximately $0.2 million was reclassified to common stock in the prior period consolidated balance sheets 
and prior periods' consolidated statements of stockholders' equity.



 

48

Recent accounting pronouncements
The following Accounting Standards Updates (ASUs) have been recently issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB).

ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, which expands annual and interim reportable segment disclosure requirements, primarily through 
enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses. ASU 2023-07 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023 and interim periods 
within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. We have adopted this ASU on a retrospective basis for the annual reporting period of our fiscal year 
beginning January 1, 2024 with no material effects on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, which requires disaggregated information about a reporting entity’s effective tax rate reconciliation as well 
as information on income taxes paid. The ASU applies to all entities subject to income taxes. The new requirements will be effective for annual periods 
beginning after December 15, 2024. The guidance will be applied on a prospective basis with the option to apply the standard retrospectively. Early adoption is 
permitted. We plan to adopt this ASU for the annual reporting period of our fiscal year beginning January 1, 2025. We are evaluating the impact of applying this 
new accounting guidance to our income tax disclosures but do not expect the adoption of this ASU to have any material effects on the Company’s financial 
condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

ASU 2024-03, Income Statement—Reporting Comprehensive Income—Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation of Income 
Statement Expenses (“DISE”)

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, which requires disclosure of specified information about certain costs and expenses in the notes to interim 
and annual financial statements. The amendments in this ASU are effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2026 and interim 
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2027. Early adoption is permitted. The amendments in this ASU should be applied either (1) prospectively to 
financial statements issued for reporting periods after the effective date or (2) retrospectively to any or all prior periods presented in the financial statements. 
We are evaluating the impact of this new accounting standard but do not expect the adoption of this ASU to have any material effects on the Company’s 
financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.
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Note 2 - Fair Value Measurement
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date.

All of our financial instruments are recognized in our consolidated balance sheets. Carrying values approximate fair value of most financial assets and liabilities. 
Investments and restricted cash and investments are recorded at market value. The interest rates on our investments approximate current market rates for 
these types of investments.

In determining the fair value of our financial assets, the Company predominantly uses the market approach. In determining the fair value of all its corporate 
bonds, mortgage-backed securities, U.S. treasuries, U.S. government agency securities, mutual funds, money market funds, asset-backed securities, and 
emerging markets, the Company utilizes non-binding quotes provided by our investment brokers.

Factors used in determining the fair value of our financial assets and liabilities are summarized into three levels as established in the fair value hierarchy 
framework. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below.

Level 1 – Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

Level 2 – Inputs to the valuation methodology include:

• Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets;

• Quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets;

• Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability;

• Inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means.

Level 3 – Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value measurement.

In determining the fair value measurement of our financial assets, the fair value measurement level within the hierarchy is based on the lowest level input and is 
applied to each financial asset. Valuation techniques are used to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s investments at December 31, 2024 and 2023 measured at fair value on a recurring basis (in thousands):

 
    December 31, 2024     December 31, 2023  
          Gross     Gross                 Gross     Gross        
          Unrealized     Unrealized     Recorded           Unrealized     Unrealized     Recorded  
    Cost     Gains     Losses     Basis     Cost     Gains     Losses     Basis  
Current:                                                
Cash equivalents:                                                

Money market funds   $ 26,661     $ —     $ —     $ 26,661     $ 19,539     $ —     $ —     $ 19,539  
Total cash equivalents     26,661       —       —       26,661       19,539       —       —       19,539  

Investments:                                                
Corporate bonds     27,954       3       (2,365 )     25,592       34,472       2       (3,161 )     31,313  
U.S. government agency securities     12,734       —       (203 )     12,531       12,830       —       (408 )     12,422  
U.S. treasuries     12,460       —       (1,140 )     11,320       12,448       —       (1,253 )     11,195  
Mortgage-backed securities     12,128       —       (2,592 )     9,536       13,084       —       (2,454 )     10,630  
Asset-backed securities     7,610       12       (109 )     7,513       13,659       4       (191 )     13,472  
Emerging markets     —       —       —       —       2,003       —       (8 )     1,995  
Total current investments     72,886       15       (6,409 )     66,492       88,496       6       (7,475 )     81,027  

Restricted cash and investments :                                                
Corporate bonds     100,030       16       (7,302 )     92,744       82,481       19       (8,473 )     74,027  
U.S. treasuries     54,900       —       (6,348 )     48,552       109,020       21       (6,436 )     102,605  
Mortgage-backed securities     40,858       10       (5,674 )     35,194       42,077       2       (5,218 )     36,861  
U.S. government agency securities     16,785       —       (914 )     15,871       16,863       —       (1,199 )     15,664  
Mutual funds     10,961       —       —       10,961       8,941       —       —       8,941  
Asset-backed securities     1,666       6       (1 )     1,671       799       1       (1 )     799  
Money market funds     216       —       —       216       337       —       —       337  
Emerging markets     200       1       —       201       200       2       —       202  
Total restricted cash and investments     225,616       33       (20,239 )     205,410       260,718       45       (21,327 )     239,436  
Total investments   $ 325,163     $ 48     $ (26,648 )   $ 298,563     $ 368,753     $ 51     $ (28,802 )   $ 340,002  

 
 
(1) Included in restricted cash and investments within the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 is restricted cash of $26.7 million and $3.6 million, 
respectively, which is excluded from the table above. Restricted cash and investments are classified as current and noncurrent on the balance sheet based on the nature of the 
restriction.
 
 

 

(1)



 

51

The following table summarizes the Company's investments at December 31, 2024 and 2023 measured at fair value on a recurring basis by fair value hierarchy 
level (in thousands):
 
    December 31, 2024     December 31, 2023  
    Total                             Total                          
    Recorded                             Recorded                          
    Basis     Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Other     Basis     Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Other  
Cash equivalents:                                                            

Money market 
   funds   $ 26,661     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ 26,661     $ 19,539     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ 19,539  

Investments:                                                            
Corporate bonds     25,592       —       25,592       —       —       31,313       —       31,313       —       —  
U.S. government 
   agency securities     12,531       —       12,531       —       —       12,422       —       12,422       —       —  
U.S. treasuries     11,320       —       11,320       —       —       11,195       —       11,195       —       —  
Mortgage-backed 
   securities     9,536       —       9,536       —       —       10,630       —       10,630       —       —  
Asset-backed securities     7,513       —       7,513       —       —       13,472       —       13,472       —       —  
Emerging markets     —       —       —       —       —       1,995       —       1,995       —       —  

Restricted cash and investments:                                                            
Corporate bonds     92,744       —       92,744       —       —       74,027       —       74,027       —       —  
U.S. treasuries     48,552       —       48,552       —       —       102,605       —       102,605       —       —  
Mortgage-backed 
   securities     35,194       —       35,194       —       —       36,861       —       36,861       —       —  
U.S. government 
   agency securities     15,871       —       15,871       —       —       15,664       —       15,664       —       —  
Mutual funds     10,961       10,961       —       —       —       8,941       8,941       —       —       —  
Asset-backed securities     1,671       —       1,671       —       —       799       —       799       —       —  
Money market 
   funds     216       —       —       —       216       337       —       —       —       337  
Emerging markets     201       —       201       —       —       202       —       202       —       —  
Total investments   $ 298,563     $ 10,961     $ 260,725     $ —     $ 26,877     $ 340,002     $ 8,941     $ 311,185     $ —     $ 19,876  

 
(1) Investments in money market funds measured at fair value using the net asset value per share practical expedient are not subject to hierarchy level classification disclosure. 
The Company invests in money market funds that seek to maintain a stable net asset value. These investments include commingled funds that comprise high-quality short-term 
securities representing liquid debt and monetary instruments where the redemption value is likely to be the fair value. Redemption is permitted daily without written notice.
 

(1) (1)
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The following table summarizes the contractual maturities of the Company’s available for sale securities at December 31, 2024 and 2023. Actual maturities may 
differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to prepay obligations with or without prepayment penalties. The table also includes 
money market funds, which are classified as cash and cash equivalents on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.
 
  December 31, 2024  
(In thousands) Less than 1 Year     Between 1 to 5 Years     Between 5 to 10 Years     After 10 Years     Total  
Corporate bonds $ 18,815     $ 76,574     $ 22,947     $ —     $ 118,336  
U.S. treasuries   497       42,333       17,042       —       59,872  
U.S. government agency securities   8,014       19,333       1,055       —       28,402  
Money market funds   26,877       —       —       —       26,877  
Asset-backed securities   —       1,228       6,654       1,302       9,184  
Emerging markets   —       —       201       —       201  
Total $ 54,203     $ 139,468     $ 47,899     $ 1,302     $ 242,872  
                             
  December 31, 2023  
(In thousands) Less than 1 Year     Between 1 to 5 Years     Between 5 to 10 Years     After 10 Years     Total  
U.S. treasuries $ 55,955     $ 32,706     $ 25,139     $ —     $ 113,800  
Corporate bonds   6,859       67,731       30,574       176       105,340  
U.S. government agency securities   39       27,018       1,029       —       28,086  
Money market funds   19,876       —       —       —       19,876  
Asset-backed securities   —       799       12,182       1,290       14,271  
Emerging markets   1,995       —       202       —       2,197  
Total $ 84,724     $ 128,254     $ 69,126     $ 1,466     $ 283,570  
 
The average contractual maturity of mortgage-backed securities, which are excluded from the table above, was 21 years and 23 years as of December 31, 
2024 and 2023, respectively.
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The fair values and gross unrealized losses of the Company’s available for sale securities that were in an unrealized loss position as of December 31, 2024 and 
2023, aggregated by investment category and length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous loss position, were as follows (in thousands):
 

    December 31, 2024  
    Less than 12 months     12 months or longer     Total  
          Gross           Gross           Gross  
    Recorded     Unrealized     Recorded     Unrealized     Recorded     Unrealized  
    Basis     Losses     Basis     Losses     Basis     Losses  
Investments:                                    

Corporate bonds   $ 20     $ —     $ 25,377     $ (2,365 )   $ 25,397     $ (2,365 )
U.S. government agency securities     —       —       12,531       (203 )     12,531       (203 )
U.S. treasuries     —       —       11,320       (1,140 )     11,320       (1,140 )
Mortgage-backed securities     —       —       9,536       (2,592 )     9,536       (2,592 )
Asset-backed securities     —       —       1,301       (109 )     1,301       (109 )
Total investments     20       —       60,065       (6,409 )     60,085       (6,409 )

Restricted investments:                                    
Corporate bonds     11,142       (15 )     71,716       (7,287 )     82,858       (7,302 )
U.S. treasuries     1,399       (29 )     46,656       (6,319 )     48,055       (6,348 )
Mortgage-backed securities     3,360       (37 )     29,877       (5,637 )     33,237       (5,674 )
U.S. government agency securities     —       —       15,871       (914 )     15,871       (914 )
Asset-backed securities     443       (1 )     —       —       443       (1 )
Total restricted investments     16,344       (82 )     164,120       (20,157 )     180,464       (20,239 )
Total investments and restricted investments   $ 16,364     $ (82 )   $ 224,185     $ (26,566 )   $ 240,549     $ (26,648 )

                                     
    December 31, 2023  

    Less than 12 months     12 months or longer     Total  
          Gross           Gross           Gross  
    Recorded     Unrealized     Recorded     Unrealized     Recorded     Unrealized  
    Basis     Losses     Basis     Losses     Basis     Losses  
Investments:                                    

Corporate bonds   $ —     $ —     $ 31,122     $ (3,161 )   $ 31,122     $ (3,161 )
U.S. government agency securities     562       (20 )     11,859       (388 )     12,421       (408 )
U.S. treasuries     —       —       11,195       (1,253 )     11,195       (1,253 )
Mortgage-backed securities     —       —       10,629       (2,454 )     10,629       (2,454 )
Asset-backed securities     —       —       5,268       (191 )     5,268       (191 )
Emerging Markets     —       —       1,995       (8 )     1,995       (8 )
Total investments     562       (20 )     72,068       (7,455 )     72,630       (7,475 )

Restricted investments:                                    
Corporate bonds     176       (1 )     72,439       (8,472 )     72,615       (8,473 )
U.S. treasuries     994       (1 )     47,046       (6,435 )     48,040       (6,436 )
Mortgage-backed securities     1,235       (5 )     35,383       (5,213 )     36,618       (5,218 )
U.S. government agency securities     3,287       (171 )     12,377       (1,028 )     15,664       (1,199 )
Asset-backed securities     300       (1 )     —       —       300       (1 )
Total restricted investments     5,992       (179 )     167,245       (21,148 )     173,237       (21,327 )
Total investments and restricted investments   $ 6,554     $ (199 )   $ 239,313     $ (28,603 )   $ 245,867     $ (28,802 )

 
We have determined that the gross unrealized losses on our investments as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 were temporary in nature. The decline in fair 
value was due to changes in market interest rates, rather than credit losses.
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Note 3 - Property, Equipment and Software
Property, equipment and software consists of the following (in thousands):
 
             

    December 31,  
    2024     2023  

Buildings   $ 17,929     $ 18,449  
Equipment, furniture and fixtures     24,244       24,093  
Computer hardware and software     6,233       6,109  
Software development costs     47,025       34,620  
     95,431       83,271  
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization     (40,140 )     (34,466 )
     55,291       48,805  
Land     1,490       1,490  
Total Property, Equipment and Software   $ 56,781     $ 50,295  
 
 We recognized $3.7 million, $3.6 million and $3.4 million in depreciation expense associated with our property and equipment in 2024, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. We recognized $3.9 million, $3.5 million, and $2.8 million in amortization of capitalized software development costs in 2024, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. We capitalized $12.4 million, $6.0 million and $5.3 million of software development costs in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

 

Note 4 - Workers' Compensation Claims
The following table summarizes the aggregate workers' compensation reserve activity (in thousands):
 

      Years Ended December 31,  
      2024     2023     2022  
Beginning balance                    

Workers' compensation claims liabilities     $ 167,763     $ 215,987     $ 279,407  
Add: claims expense accrual                    

Current period       12,188       16,731       19,146  
Prior periods       (11,524 )     (12,147 )     (11,337 )

Total claims expense incurred       664       4,584       7,809  
Less: claim payments related to                    

Current period       5,006       3,260       4,450  
Prior periods       35,008       52,570       67,581  

Total claim payments       40,014       55,830       72,031  
Change in claims incurred in excess of retention limits       33       3,022       802  
Ending balance                    

Workers' compensation claims liabilities     $ 128,446     $ 167,763     $ 215,987  

Insured program
The Company provides workers’ compensation coverage for client employees primarily through arrangements with fully licensed, third-party insurers (the 
“insured program”). Under this program, carriers issue policies or afford coverage to the Company’s clients under a program maintained by the Company. 
Approximately 85% of the Company’s workers’ compensation exposure is covered through the insured program.

Effective July 1, 2021, the Company entered into a fully insured arrangement for its insured program, whereby third-party insurers assume substantially all risk 
of loss for claims incurred under the program. This fully insured arrangement has been extended annually and covers claims incurred between July 1, 2021 and 
June 30, 2025, with an option to renew through June 30, 2026.
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Each annual fully insured policy allows BBSI to participate in savings if claims develop favorably up to a maximum per policy year ranging from $20.5 million to 
$28.5 million, depending on the policy period. For only the policy period from July 1, 2021 to June 30 2022, BBSI can also incur additional premium up to $7.5 
million if claims develop adversely. No additional premium can be charged based on claim performance for other policy years. 

Premiums incurred but not paid are recorded as either current or long-term premium payable on the consolidated balance sheets based on the expected timing 
of the payments. 

For claims incurred under the insured program prior to July 1, 2021, the Company retains risk of loss up to the first $3.0 million per occurrence on policies 
issued after June 30, 2020 and $5.0 million per occurrence on policies issued before that date. 

Claim obligations for policies issued under the insured program between February 1, 2014 and June 30, 2018 were removed through loss portfolio transfers in 
2020 and 2021. 

The following is a summary of the risk retained by the Company under its insured program after considering the effects of the loss portfolio transfers and current 
insurance arrangements:
 

Year Claims risk retained
2014 No
2015 No
2016 No
2017 No
2018 No
2019 Yes
2020 Yes
2021 - Through June 30 Yes
2021 - July 1 and after No
2022 No
2023 No
2024 No
 
(1) The loss portfolio transfers excluded approximately 10% of claims from 2018 and included an approximately offsetting amount of claims from 2019.

The Company is required to maintain minimum collateral levels for certain policies issued under the insured program, which is held in a trust account (the “trust 
account”). The balance in the trust account was $197.1 million and $210.9 million at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. The trust 
account balance is included as a component of the current and long-term restricted cash and investments in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

Self-insured programs
The Company is a self-insured employer with respect to workers' compensation coverage for all employees, including employees of PEO clients that elect to 
participate in our workers’ compensation program, working in Colorado, Maryland, Ohio, and Oregon. In the state of Washington, state law allows only the 
Company's staffing services and internal management employees to be covered under the Company's self-insured workers' compensation program. The 
Company also operates a wholly owned, fully licensed insurance company, Ecole, which provides workers’ compensation coverage to client employees working 
in Arizona and Utah. Approximately 15% of the Company’s workers’ compensation exposure is covered through self-insurance or Ecole (the “self-insured 
programs”).

For all claims incurred under the Company’s self-insured programs, the Company retains risk of loss up to the first $3.0 million per occurrence, except in 
Maryland and Colorado, where the Company’s retention per occurrence is $1.0 million and $2.0 million, respectively. For claims incurred under the Company’s 
self-insured programs prior to July 1, 2020, the Company retains risk of loss up to the first $5.0 million per occurrence, except in Maryland and Colorado, where 
the retention per occurrence is $1.0 million and $2.0 million, respectively.

(1)

(1)
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The states of Maryland, California, Oregon, Colorado, Washington, and Delaware required the Company to maintain collateral totaling $55.9 million and $48.1 
million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, to cover potential workers’ compensation claims losses related to the Company’s current and former 
status as a self-insured employer. At December 31, 2024, the Company provided surety bonds totaling $55.9 million.

Claims liabilities
The Company provided a total of $128.4 million and $167.8 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, as an estimated future liability for unsettled 
workers' compensation claims liabilities. Of this amount, $6.0 million on December 31, 2024 and 2023, represent case reserves and IBNR in excess of the 
Company’s retention. The accrual for costs incurred in excess of retention is offset by a receivable from insurance carriers of $6.0 million at December 31, 2024 
and 2023, included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets.

Note 5 - Revolving Credit Facility and Long-Term Debt
The Company maintains an agreement (the “Agreement”) with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (the "Bank") for a revolving credit line of $50.0 million and a sublimit for 
standby letters of credit of $25.0 million. Advances under the revolving credit line bear interest, as selected by the Company, of (a) the daily Simple Secured 
Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR") plus 1.75% or (b) one-month Term SOFR plus 1.75%. The Agreement also provides for an unused commitment fee of 
0.35% per year on the average daily unused amount of the revolving credit line, as well as a fee of 1.75% of the face amount of each letter of credit reserved 
under the line of credit. The Company had no outstanding borrowings on its revolving credit line at December 31, 2024 and 2023. The credit facility is 
collateralized by the Company’s accounts receivable and other rights to receive payment. The revolving credit facility will mature on July 1, 2026, unless 
extended.

The Agreement requires the satisfaction of certain financial covenants as follows:

• adjusted free cash flow [net profit after taxes plus interest expense (net of capitalized interest), depreciation, expense and amortization expense, 
less dividends/distributions] not less than $10 million as of each fiscal quarter end, determined on a rolling 4-quarter basis; and

• tangible net worth [aggregate of total stockholders' equity plus subordinated debt less any intangible assets and less any loans or advances to, or 
investments in, any related entities or individuals] not less than $50 million at each fiscal quarter end.

The Agreement imposes certain additional restrictions unless the Bank provides its prior written consent as follows: 

• incurring additional indebtedness is prohibited, other than purchase financing for the acquisition of assets, provided that the aggregate of all 
purchase financing does not exceed $1 million at any time;

• the Company may not terminate or cancel any of the AICE policies; and

• if an event of default occurs, and is continuing, including on a pro forma basis, no dividends or distributions would be permitted to be paid and 
redemptions and repurchases of the Company’s stock would be permitted only up to $15 million in any rolling 12-month period.

The Agreement also contains customary events of default and specified cross-defaults under the Company's workers' compensation insurance arrangements. If 
an event of default under the Agreement occurs and is continuing, the Bank may declare any outstanding obligations under the Agreement to be immediately 
due and payable. At December 31, 2024, the Company was in compliance with all covenants. 
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Note 6 - Benefit Plans
We have a 401(k) Retirement Savings Plan for the benefit of our eligible employees. Employees covered under a PEO arrangement may participate in the plan 
at the sole discretion of the PEO client. We make matching contributions to the 401(k) plan under a safe harbor provision. The determination of any 
discretionary Company contributions to the plan is at the sole discretion of our Board of Directors. No discretionary Company contributions were made to the 
plan for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022. We made matching contributions of $2.6 million, $2.4 million and $2.1 million in 2024, 2023 and 
2022, respectively.

The Company allows certain highly compensated employees of the Company to defer compensation under a nonqualified deferred compensation plan. The 
long-term portion of the deferred compensation plan liability was $9.5 million and $7.9 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and is recorded in 
customer deposits and other long-term liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. The current portion of the deferred compensation plan liability was $1.5 
million and $1.1 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and is recorded in other accrued liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. The fair 
value of the long-term asset portion of this plan was $9.5 million and $7.9 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and is recorded in noncurrent 
restricted cash and investments on the consolidated balance sheets. The fair value of the current asset portion of this plan was $1.5 million and $1.1 million at 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and is recorded in current restricted cash and investments on the consolidated balance sheets. 

Note 7 - Leases
The Company primarily leases office buildings under operating leases which are included in Operating lease right-of-use (“ROU”) assets, Current operating 
lease liabilities, and Long-term operating lease liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company’s leases have remaining terms of 1 to 7 years. 

Information related to the Company's total lease costs was as follows (in thousands):
 
  Year Ended  
  December 31, 2024     December 31, 2023  
Operating lease cost $ 7,556     $ 7,894  
Variable lease cost   1,314       1,229  
Short-term lease cost   662       208  
Total lease cost $ 9,532     $ 9,331  
 
Information related to the Company's ROU assets and related lease liabilities was as follows (in thousands):
 
 Year Ended    
 December 31, 2024     December 31, 2023    
Cash paid for operating lease liabilities $ 7,745     $ 7,933    
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease obligations   6,913       7,270    
             
     
             
  December 31, 2024     December 31, 2023    
Weighted-average remaining lease term 3.7 years     3.8 years    
Weighted-average discount rate 5.1   % 4.7   %
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The table below reconciles the undiscounted future minimum lease payments (displayed by year and in the aggregate) under noncancellable operating leases 
with terms of more than one year to the total operating lease liabilities recognized on the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2024 (in thousands):
 
2025 $ 7,131  
2026   6,249  
2027   5,036  
2028   3,477  
2029   1,352  
Thereafter   368  
Total undiscounted future minimum lease payments   23,613  
Less: Difference between undiscounted lease payments and discounted operating lease liabilities   2,166  
Total operating lease liabilities $ 21,447  
Current operating lease liabilities $ 6,231  
Long-term operating lease liabilities   15,215  
Total operating lease liabilities $ 21,447  
 
The Company has additional operating leases of $7.1 million that have not commenced as of December 31, 2024, and as such, have not been recognized in 
the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. These operating leases are expected to commence in 2025 with lease terms of 5 to 7 years.

Note 8 - Income Taxes 

The provision for income taxes is as follows (in thousands):
 

    Year Ended December 31,  
    2024     2023     2022  

Current:                  
Federal   $ 15,070     $ 11,896     $ 14,683  
State     3,613       1,854       5,529  
Total current provision for income taxes     18,683       13,750       20,212  

Deferred:                  
Federal     (535 )     2,784       (1,096 )
State     (319 )     1,842       (1,081 )
Total deferred provision for income taxes     (854 )     4,626       (2,177 )

Total provision for income taxes   $ 17,829     $ 18,376     $ 18,035  
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Deferred income tax assets and liabilities consist of the following components (in thousands):
 

    December 31,  
    2024     2023  

Deferred income tax assets:            
Deferred compensation   $ 7,392     $ 6,149  
Tax effect of unrealized losses, net     7,374       7,969  
Operating lease liability     5,850       5,813  
Workers' compensation claims liabilities     5,423       6,709  
Other     1,164       579  
Equity based compensation     857       907  

Total deferred income tax assets     28,060       28,126  
Less: valuation allowance     340       65  

Net deferred income tax assets     27,720       28,061  
Deferred income tax liabilities:            

Tax depreciation in excess of book depreciation     (10,230 )     (9,180 )
Amortization of software and intangibles     (7,467 )     (8,441 )
Operating lease right-of-use     (5,545 )     (5,452 )
Other     (1 )     (770 )

Total deferred income tax liabilities     (23,243 )     (23,843 )
Net deferred income taxes   $ 4,477     $ 4,218  

 
The effective tax rate differed from the U.S. statutory federal tax rate due to the following:
 

    Year Ended December 31,    
    2024       2023       2022    

Statutory federal tax rate     21.0   %     21.0   %     21.0   %
State taxes, net of federal benefit     3.6         4.3         5.4    
Nondeductible expenses and other, net     1.0         1.7         1.5    
Adjustment for final positions on filed returns     0.5         (0.5 )       0.2    
Other, net     (0.1 )       0.2         —    
Federal and state tax credits     (0.8 )       (0.1 )       (0.5 )  
Effective tax rate     25.2   %     26.6   %     27.6   %
                        
 

Under ASC 740, “Income Taxes,” management evaluates the realizability of the deferred tax assets on a quarterly basis under a “more-likely-than-not” 
standard. As part of this evaluation, management reviews all evidence both positive and negative to determine if a valuation allowance is needed. One 
component of this analysis is to determine whether the Company was in a cumulative loss position for the most recent 12 quarters. The Company was in a 
cumulative income position for the 12 quarters ended at both December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023.

The Company’s realization of a portion of net deferred tax assets is based in part on our estimates of the timing of reversals of certain temporary differences 
and on the generation of taxable income before such reversals.

The Company is subject to income taxes in U.S. federal and multiple state and local tax jurisdictions. The Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS") is examining the 
Company’s federal tax returns for the years ended December 31, 2017 through 2021. BBSI received notices that the IRS intends to disallow certain wage-
based tax credits claimed for the years 2017 through 2021, which could result in estimated total additional taxes of $8.0 million and penalties of $1.9 million plus 
related interest. The Company disagrees with the IRS determination to disallow certain wage-based credits taken by the Company and has filed U.S. Tax Court 
petitions challenging these notices. We believe that the Company has the technical merits to defend its position. Based on management’s more-likely-than-not 
assessment that the Company’s position is sustainable, no reserve for the aforementioned IRS notices of disallowance of wage-based tax credits or 
underpayment penalties has been recorded in the financial statements. 
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In the major jurisdictions where it operates, the Company is generally no longer subject to income tax examinations by tax authorities for tax years before 2017. 
As of December 31, 2024, total gross unrecognized tax benefits, excluding interest and penalties, of $0.5 million would affect the Company's effective tax rate if 
recognized in future periods. The Company does not anticipate any material changes to the reserve in the next 12 months. The Company had unrecognized tax 
benefit of $0.8 million and $0.6 million as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively. 

A portion of the consolidated income the Company generates is not subject to state income tax. Depending on the percentage of this income as compared to 
total consolidated income, the Company's state effective tax rate could fluctuate from expectations. 

At December 31, 2024, the Company had no state operating loss carryforwards. At December 31, 2024, the Company did not have a federal general business 
tax credit carryforward or an alternative minimum tax credit carryforward.  

Note 9 - Stock Incentive Plans
The Company's 2020 Stock Incentive Plan (the "2020 Plan"), which provides for share-based awards to Company employees, non-employee directors and 
outside consultants or advisors, was approved by stockholders on May 27, 2020, and amended with stockholder approval on June 5, 2023, to increase the 
number of shares available for issuance under the 2020 Plan from 375,000 to 725,000. On June 3, 2024, the Company's stockholders approved an amendment 
of the Company's Amended and Restated Charter to increase the number of authorized shares of Common Stock of the Company from 20,500,000 to 
82,000,000 (the "Charter Amendment"). The Company's Board of Directors proposed the Charter Amendment in part to permit a four-for-one split of the 
Company's common stock. As such, the number of shares available for issuance under the 2020 Plan increased from 725,000 to 2,900,000. The number of 
shares available for grants of awards at December 31, 2024 was 862,526. 

Share-based compensation expense included in selling, general and administrative expenses during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, was 
$8.8 million, $8.5 million and $7.4 million, respectively. Related income tax benefits for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, were $2.2 million, 
$1.6 million and $1.2 million, respectively.

Stock Options
Outstanding stock options generally vest over four or eight years and expire up to ten years after the date of grant. 

A summary of the status of the Company’s stock options at December 31, 2024, together with changes during the periods then ended, is presented below:
 

                Weighted        
          Weighted     Average     Aggregate  
          Average     Remaining     Intrinsic  
    Number     Exercise     Contractual     Value  
    of Options     Price     Term (Years)     (In Thousands)  

Outstanding at December 31, 2023     400,000     $ 17.89       —       —  
Options granted at market price     34,500       43.78       —       —  
Options exercised     (20,500 )     6.73       —       —  
Outstanding at December 31, 2024     414,000       20.60       3.09       9,474  
Exercisable at December 31, 2024     219,500     $ 17.00       2.54     $ 5,803  
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The fair value of stock option awards as determined under the Black-Scholes option-pricing model was estimated with the following weighted-average 
assumptions:
 

    2024  
Expected volatility     24.4 %
Risk free interest rate     4.2 %
Expected dividend yield     0.7 %
Expected term (years)     5.0  
Weighted average fair value per share   $ 12.16  
 
The weighted average fair value of stock options granted for the year ended December 31, 2024 was $12.16. There were no stock options granted with an 
exercise price below market price during 2024. No stock options were granted during 2023 or 2022. 
 
The intrinsic value of stock options exercised for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 was $0.6 million, $0.1 million, and $0.2 million, 
respectively. The fair value of stock options vested for the years ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2022 was $728,000. No stock options vested 
during the years ended December 31, 2023. As of December 31, 2024, unrecognized compensation expense related to stock options was $1.3 million with a 
weighted average remaining amortization period of 2.1 years.

Restricted Stock Units
Restricted stock units generally vest in four equal annual installments beginning one year following the date of grant, other than restricted stock units granted to 
nonemployee directors since 2019, which vest one year following the date of grant.

The following table presents restricted stock unit activity:
 

          Weighted Average  
          Grant Date  
    Units     Fair Value  

Nonvested at December 31, 2023     877,112     $ 19.14  
Granted     266,812       31.84  
Vested     (348,524 )     17.94  
Cancelled/Forfeited     (34,543 )     20.11  
Nonvested at December 31, 2024     760,857     $ 24.10  
 
The total fair value of restricted stock units vested during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 was $6.3 million, $5.1 million and $4.5 million, 
respectively. As of December 31, 2024, unrecognized compensation expense related to restricted stock units was $14.0 million with a weighted average 
remaining amortization period of 2.8 years.

Performance Share Units
Performance share units (“PSUs”) are granted to key employees of the Company and are conditioned on attaining financial performance metrics specified in 
each award. Each award is subject to upward or downward adjustment depending on whether achievement of the financial metrics is above or below the target 
level, with a maximum payout of up to 200% of the target number of shares covered by the award.

PSUs vest on the date that the Compensation Committee determines the level of attainment of the specified financial metrics, generally measured over a three-
year period.
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The following table presents PSU activity:
 

          Weighted Average  
          Grant Date  
    Units     Fair Value  

Nonvested at December 31, 2023     245,176     $ 18.23  
Granted     117,661       25.99  
Vested     (97,089 )     17.29  
Nonvested at December 31, 2024     265,748     $ 22.01  
 
The total grant date fair value of PSUs vested during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 was $1.7 million, $1.6 million, and $259,000, 
respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
The Company offers employees the right to purchase shares at a discount from the market price under the Company’s 2019 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. 
Subject to the annual statutory limit, employees are eligible to participate through payroll deductions of up to 15% of their compensation. At the end of each six-
month offering period, shares are purchased by the participants at 85% of the fair market value at the end of the offering period. As of December 31, 2024, 
approximately 1,024,554 shares were reserved for future issuance under the 2019 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

Note 10 - Stock Repurchase Program
The Company maintains a stock repurchase program approved by the Board of Directors, which authorizes the repurchase of shares from time to time in open 
market purchases. On July 31, 2023, the Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $75.0 million of the Company’s common stock over a two-year 
period beginning July 31, 2023. The new repurchase program replaces the program approved in February 2022. The Company repurchased 848,958, 
1,500,456 and 2,423,748 shares at an aggregate purchase price of $29.1 million, $34.2 million, and $47.2 million during 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

In addition, shares of restricted stock units withheld to satisfy tax-withholding obligations from the vesting of restricted stock units were 153,372, 131,552 and 
92,452 in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, which are not subject to the current repurchase program. See “Note 5. Revolving Credit Facility and Long-Term 
Debt” for related restrictions on share repurchases. 

Note 11 - Litigation
On April 5, 2011, several individual plaintiffs filed a wage and hour class action in the California Superior Court, County of Fresno, naming as defendants their 
employer, a Merry Maids franchisee; BBSI, which was providing PEO services to the franchisee; and various parties related to the franchisor. Plaintiffs claimed, 
among other things, that BBSI and the franchisor were their joint employer with the franchisee and therefore jointly responsible for the alleged wage and hour 
violations. BBSI continues to maintain that it was not the plaintiff's joint employer. Notwithstanding, in January 2025, the plaintiffs and BBSI reached an 
agreement in principle to settle the matter, subject to the completion of definitive documentation and customary court approval. 

BBSI is subject to other legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of our business. There are significant uncertainties surrounding litigation. 
For the matter discussed above, as well as other cases, management has recorded estimated liabilities totaling $1.7 million in other accrued liabilities in the 
consolidated balance sheets.

Note 12 - Subsequent Events
We have evaluated events and transactions occurring after the balance sheet date through our filing date and noted no events that are subject to recognition or 
disclosure.
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Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We maintain “disclosure controls and procedures” that are designed with the objective of providing reasonable assurance that information required to be 
disclosed in the reports we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), is recorded, processed, summarized, 
and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, 
including our Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In 
designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, our management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed 
and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and our management is required to apply their judgment in 
evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. 

Based on their evaluation, the Company’s CEO and CFO have concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) were effective as of December 31, 2024.

Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (“ICFR”) as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f) under the Exchange Act. Our ICFR is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, our CEO and our CFO to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of our consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP in the 
United States of America. Management, with the participation of our CEO and CFO, conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our ICFR based on the 
framework established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. 
Based upon that evaluation, management has concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2024.

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting has also been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, the Company’s independent 
registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report included below.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There have been no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2024 that have 
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations
Control systems, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control systems' objectives are 
being met. Further, the design of any control systems must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of all controls must be 
considered relative to their costs. Due to the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control 
issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision making 
can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of simple errors or mistakes. Control 
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systems can also be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the controls. The 
design of any system of controls is based in part on certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design 
will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or 
deterioration in the degree of compliance with policies or procedures.

Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Certifications
The certifications of our CEO and CFO required under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act have been filed as Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to this report.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of
Barrett Business Services, Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Barrett Business Services, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2024, 
based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 
2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated 
financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2024, of the Company and our report dated February 28, 2025, expressed an unqualified 
opinion on those financial statements.

Basis for Opinion 
The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of 
internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB 
and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of 
the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an 
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating 
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We 
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over 
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect 
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being 
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or 
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of 
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance 
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP 

Portland, Oregon 
February 28, 2025
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Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.

Item 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS
Not applicable.

PART III

Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company has adopted an insider trading policy governing the purchase, sale, and other dispositions of our securities, applicable to our directors, officers, 
employees, and other covered persons, as well as procedures for the repurchase of its securities. The Company believes that its insider trading policy and 
repurchase procedures are reasonably designed to promote compliance with insider trading laws, rules and regulations, and the Nasdaq Stock Market LLC 
listing standards applicable to the Company. A copy of the Company’s insider trading policy is filed as Exhibit 19.1 to this Form 10-K.

Additional information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information set forth under the captions or subcaptions “Proposal 1: Election of 
Directors,” “Audit and Compliance Committee,” “Background and Experience of Executive Officers," “Code of Ethics,” and “Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports” in 
our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of the fiscal 
year covered by this report (the “Proxy Statement”).

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information set forth under the captions “Director Compensation for 2024” and 
“Executive Compensation” in the Proxy Statement, other than the information under the subcaption “Pay Versus Performance.”

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information set forth under the caption "Stock Ownership of Principal Stockholders and 
Management – Beneficial Ownership Table" and “Additional Equity Compensation Plan Information” in the Proxy Statement.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information set forth under the caption "Proposal 1: Election of Directors" and "Related 
Person Transactions" in the Proxy Statement.

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information set forth under the caption "Matters Relating to Our Independent 
Registered Public Accounting Firm” in the Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

Item 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
Financial Statements and Schedules
The Financial Statements, together with the report thereon of Deloitte & Touche LLP, are included on the pages indicated below:
 
    Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm-Deloitte & Touche LLP (PCAOB ID: 34)   34

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023   36
     
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022   37
     
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Years Ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022   38
     
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022   39
     
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022   40
     
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements   41
 
No schedules are required to be filed herewith.

Exhibits
The following exhibits are filed or furnished herewith or incorporated by reference and this list is intended to constitute the exhibit index.
 

        Incorporated by Reference    
Exhi
bit

Num
ber   Exhibit Description   Form   File Number   Exhibit   Filing Date  

Filed or 
Furnished 
Herewith

                         

3.1   Charter of the Registrant, as amended through June 4, 2024.   10-Q   0-21886   3.1   731/2024    
                         

3.2   Bylaws of the Registrant, as amended through May 27, 2020.   10-Q   0-21886   3.1   8/5/2020    
                         

4.1   Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement between the Registrant and 
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (“Wells Fargo”), dated as of March 1, 
2022.

  10-K   0-21886   4.1   3/7/2022    

                         

4.2   First Amendment, effective as of June 12, 2023, to Third Amended and 
Restated Credit Agreement
between the Registrant and Wells Fargo
Bank, National Association.

  10-Q   0-21886   4.1   8/3/2023    

                         

4.3   Amended and Restated Security Agreement: Business Assets, dated as of 
March 1, 2022, between the Registrant and Wells Fargo.

  10-K   0-21886   4.2   3/7/2022    

                         

https://www.sec.gov/ix?doc=/Archives/edgar/data/0000902791/000095017024088744/bbsi-20240630.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000156459020036847/bbsi-ex31_210.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000156459022008865/bbsi-ex41_417.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000156459022008865/bbsi-ex41_417.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000156459022008865/bbsi-ex41_417.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000156459022008865/bbsi-ex41_417.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000156459022008865/bbsi-ex41_417.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000095017023037341/bbsi-ex4_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000095017023037341/bbsi-ex4_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000095017023037341/bbsi-ex4_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000095017023037341/bbsi-ex4_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000095017023037341/bbsi-ex4_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000156459022008865/bbsi-ex42_416.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000156459022008865/bbsi-ex42_416.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000156459022008865/bbsi-ex42_416.htm
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4.4   Amended and Restated Standby Letter of Credit Agreement dated as of June 
20, 2018, between the Registrant and Wells Fargo.

  10-Q   0-21886   4.4   8/8/2018    

                         

4.5   Fifth Amended and Restated Revolving Line of Credit Note effective June 12, 
2023 of the Registrant.

  10-Q   0-21886   4.2   8/3/2023    

                         

4.6   Description of the Registrant's Capital Stock.                   X
                         

10.1
*

  2009 Stock Incentive Plan of the Registrant (the “2009 Plan”).                   X

                         

10.2
*

  2015 Stock Incentive Plan of the Registrant (the "2015 Plan").                   X

                         

10.3
*

  Amended and Restated 2020 Stock Incentive Plan of the Registrant (the "2020 
Plan").

                  X

                         

10.4
*

  Form of Performance Share Award Agreement under the 2020 Plan.   10-Q   0-21886   10.1   8/4/2021    

                         

10.5
*

  Nonqualified Stock Option Award Agreement between the Registrant and 
Thomas J. Carley dated July 1, 2016.

                  X

                         

10.6
*

  Form of Employee Nonqualified Stock Option Award Agreement for grants to 
Gerald R. Blotz and Gary E. Kramer effective March 28, 2018, under the 2015 
Plan.

                  X

                         

10.7
*

  Form of Incentive Stock Option Award Agreement relating to February 2, 2015, 
grants under the 2009 Plan.

  10-K   0-21886   10.11   5/26/2016    

                         

10.8
*

  Form of Restricted Stock Units Award Agreement for Executive Officers for 
awards granted beginning in 2018 under the 2015 Plan.

  10-Q   0-21886   10.3   8/8/2018    

                         

10.9
*

  Form of Restricted Stock Units Award Agreement for Executive Officers under 
the 2020 Plan.

  10-Q   0-21886   10.1   11/4/2020    

                         

10.1
0*

  Form of Restricted Stock Units Award Agreement for Non-Employee Directors 
under the 2020 Plan.

  10-Q   0-21886   10.2   11/4/2020    

                         

10.1
1*

  Summary of Compensatory Arrangements for Non-Employee Directors of the 
Registrant effective January 1, 2025.

                  X

                         

10.1
2*

  Barrett Business Services, Inc., Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan.   10-Q   0-21886   10.8   8/9/2017    

                         

10.1
3*

  First and Second Amendments to the Barrett Business Services, Inc., 
Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan.

  10-Q   0-21886   10.1   5/7/2019    

                         

10.1
4*

  Form of Restricted Stock Units Award Agreement under Nonqualified Deferred 
Compensation Plan.

  10-Q   0-21886   10.1   5/8/2018    

                         

10.1
5*

  Form of Restricted Stock Units Award Agreement under Nonqualified Deferred 
Compensation Plan for grants beginning July 1, 2020.

  10-Q   0-21886   10.3   11/4/2020    

                         

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000156459018020533/bbsi-ex44_27.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000156459018020533/bbsi-ex44_27.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000156459018020533/bbsi-ex44_27.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000095017023037341/bbsi-ex4_2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000095017023037341/bbsi-ex4_2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000095017023037341/bbsi-ex4_2.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/bbsi/sec/0000950170-25-029516/for_pdf/bbsi-ex4_6.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/bbsi/sec/0000950170-25-029516/for_pdf/bbsi-ex10_1.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/bbsi/sec/0000950170-25-029516/for_pdf/bbsi-ex10_2.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/bbsi/sec/0000950170-25-029516/for_pdf/bbsi-ex10_3.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/bbsi/sec/0000950170-25-029516/for_pdf/bbsi-ex10_3.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/bbsi/sec/0000950170-25-029516/for_pdf/bbsi-ex10_3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000902791/000156459021040939/bbsi-ex101_26.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/bbsi/sec/0000950170-25-029516/for_pdf/bbsi-ex10_5.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/bbsi/sec/0000950170-25-029516/for_pdf/bbsi-ex10_5.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/bbsi/sec/0000950170-25-029516/for_pdf/bbsi-ex10_5.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/bbsi/sec/0000950170-25-029516/for_pdf/bbsi-ex10_6.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/bbsi/sec/0000950170-25-029516/for_pdf/bbsi-ex10_6.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/bbsi/sec/0000950170-25-029516/for_pdf/bbsi-ex10_6.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/bbsi/sec/0000950170-25-029516/for_pdf/bbsi-ex10_6.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/bbsi/sec/0000950170-25-029516/for_pdf/bbsi-ex10_6.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000119312516602543/d62398dex1011.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000119312516602543/d62398dex1011.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000119312516602543/d62398dex1011.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000156459018020533/bbsi-ex103_32.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000156459018020533/bbsi-ex103_32.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000156459018020533/bbsi-ex103_32.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000156459020050586/bbsi-ex101_62.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000156459020050586/bbsi-ex101_62.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000156459020050586/bbsi-ex101_62.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000156459020050586/bbsi-ex102_63.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000156459020050586/bbsi-ex102_63.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000156459020050586/bbsi-ex102_63.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/bbsi/sec/0000950170-25-029516/for_pdf/bbsi-ex10_11.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/bbsi/sec/0000950170-25-029516/for_pdf/bbsi-ex10_11.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/bbsi/sec/0000950170-25-029516/for_pdf/bbsi-ex10_11.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000156459017017039/bbsi-ex108_210.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000156459019016378/bbsi-ex101_135.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000156459019016378/bbsi-ex101_135.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000156459019016378/bbsi-ex101_135.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000156459018011869/bbsi-ex101_75.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000156459018011869/bbsi-ex101_75.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000156459018011869/bbsi-ex101_75.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000156459020050586/bbsi-ex103_60.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000156459020050586/bbsi-ex103_60.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/902791/000156459020050586/bbsi-ex103_60.htm
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10.
16*

  Employment Agreement between the Registrant and 
Gary Kramer Jr., dated April 22, 2020.
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* Denotes a management contract or a compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its 
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 
    BARRETT BUSINESS SERVICES, INC.
    Registrant
       
Date: February 28, 2025   By: /s/ Anthony J. Harris
      Anthony J. Harris

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer and 
Treasurer

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant 
and in the capacities indicated on the 28th day of February, 2025.
 

Principal Executive Officer and Director:
     
/s/ Gary E. Kramer    President and Chief Executive

 Officer and DirectorGary E. Kramer  
     
Principal Financial and Accounting Officer:
     
/s/ Anthony J. Harris    Executive Vice President and Chief Financial         

 Officer and TreasurerAnthony J. Harris  
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/s/ Thomas J. Carley    Director
Thomas J. Carley  
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Joseph S. Clabby    
     
/s/ Thomas B. Cusick    Director
Thomas B. Cusick    
     
/s/ Anthony Meeker    Chairman of the Board and Director
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/s/ Carla A. Moradi    Director
Carla A. Moradi  
     
/s/ Alexandra Morehouse    Director
Alexandra Morehouse    
     
/s/ Vincent P. Price    Director
Vincent P. Price    
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EXHIBIT 4.6
DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

OF BARRETT BUSINESS SERVICES, INC. 

The following is a brief description of the securities of Barrett Business Services, Inc. (the “company,” “we,” “us” and “our”), registered pursuant to 
Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). As of February 28, 2025, our common stock is the only class of our 
securities registered under Section 12 of the Exchange Act. This description of the terms of our common stock does not purport to be complete and is subject to 
and qualified in its entirety by reference to the applicable provisions of Maryland General Corporation Law (the “MGCL”), and the full text of our amended and 
restated charter and bylaws.

Common Stock
Our charter provides that we may issue up to 82,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share. Under Maryland law, stockholders 

generally are not personally liable for corporate debts or obligations solely because of their status as stockholders. Our common stock is listed on the Global 
Select Market of The Nasdaq Stock Market under the symbol “BBSI.”

Subject to the preferential rights of any other class or series of stock, holders of shares of our common stock are entitled to receive dividends on 
such stock if, as and when authorized by our board of directors out of assets legally available therefor and declared by us and to share ratably in the assets of 
our company legally available for distribution to our stockholders in the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding up after payment of or adequate provision 
for all debts and liabilities of our company.

Each outstanding share of our common stock entitles the holder to one vote on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders, including the election 
of directors and, except as provided with respect to any other class or series of stock, the holders of such shares of common stock will possess the exclusive 
voting power. There is no cumulative voting in the election of our board of directors, which means that the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of our 
common stock are entitled to elect all of the directors then standing for election and the holders of the remaining shares will not be able to elect any directors.

Holders of shares of our common stock have no preference, conversion, exchange, sinking fund or redemption rights, and have no preemptive rights 
to subscribe for any of our securities. In addition, under the MGCL, our stockholders generally have no appraisal rights. Shares of our common stock have 
equal dividend, liquidation and other rights.

Under the MGCL, a Maryland corporation generally may not dissolve, amend its charter, merge, convert, sell all or substantially all of its assets, or 
engage in a statutory share exchange unless such action is advised by its board of directors and approved by the affirmative vote of holders of at least two-
thirds of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter, unless a lesser percentage (but not less than a majority of all of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter) 
is set forth in the corporation’s charter. Our charter provides that the foregoing items may be approved by a majority of all the votes entitled to be cast on the 
matter.

Preferred Stock
Our charter provides that we may issue up to 500,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share. As of February 28, 2025, we have no 

outstanding shares of preferred stock.

Our charter authorizes our board of directors, without any vote or action of our stockholders, to classify, and reclassify from time to time, any 
unissued shares of preferred stock into other classes or series of stock. Prior to issuance of shares of each class or series, our board of directors is required by 
the MGCL to establish the number of shares in each class or series and to set the preferences, conversion, or other rights, voting powers, restrictions, 
limitations as to dividends or other distributions, qualifications, and terms and conditions of redemption for each such class or series. The issuance of shares of 
preferred stock could adversely affect the voting power, dividend rights and other rights of holders of our common stock. Our board of directors could establish 
a series of preferred stock that could, depending on the terms of the series, delay, defer, or prevent a transaction or a change in control of us that might involve 
a premium price for our common stock or otherwise be in the best interest of the holders thereof. The specific terms of a particular class or series of preferred 
stock will be described in a prospectus, prospectus supplement or other offering materials relating to the sale or issuance of shares of that class or series.

Certain Provisions of Maryland Law and of Our Charter and Bylaws
The following summary of certain provisions of the MGCL and of our charter and bylaws does not purport to be complete and is subject to and 

qualified in its entirety by reference to Maryland law and our charter and bylaws.

Board of Directors; Election of Directors; Quorum
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Our charter provides that the number of directors shall be set pursuant to our bylaws. Our bylaws provide that a majority of our entire board shall fix 
the number of directors; provided that the number of directors may not be decreased to fewer than three, nor increased to more than nine; and provided further 
that, if there are fewer than three stockholders, the number of directors may be fixed at fewer than three but not fewer than the number of stockholders. Any 
and all vacancies on our board of directors may be filled by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining directors, even if fewer than a quorum, except that 
a vacancy resulting from an increase in the size of the board of directors must be filled by a majority vote of the entire board of directors, and any individual 
elected to fill such vacancy will serve until the next annual meeting of stockholders and until a successor is duly elected and qualifies.

Under our bylaws, each of our directors will be elected by our stockholders to serve until the next annual meeting of stockholders and until his or her 
successor is duly elected and qualifies. Our bylaws provide that in uncontested elections, a director will be elected by the affirmative vote of a majority of the 
total votes cast for and votes cast against each director nominee. In contested elections, directors will be elected by a plurality of the shares represented at the 
meeting and entitled to vote on the election of directors. An election will be considered to be contested if the number of nominees exceeds the number of 
directors to be elected. Under our bylaws, if in an uncontested election an incumbent director does not receive the affirmative vote of a majority of the total 
votes cast for and votes cast against such director, the director is required to submit his or her resignation to the board of directors. In that event, pursuant to 
our bylaws, the Nominating and Governance Committee (the “Nominating Committee”) of the board of directors would recommend to the board of directors 
whether to accept or reject the resignation. Under our bylaws, the board of directors would then consider and act on the Nominating Committee's 
recommendation, publicly disclosing its decision and the reasons supporting it within 90 days following the date of receipt of the resignation.

Our bylaws provide that the presence in person or by proxy of stockholders entitled to cast a majority of all the votes entitled to be cast at a 
stockholders meeting constitutes a quorum.

Removal of Directors

Under the MGCL, a director may be removed, with or without cause, only by the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes entitled to be cast 
generally in the election of directors.

Business Combinations

We are subject to the business combination provisions of the MGCL. Under the MGCL, business combinations between a Maryland corporation and 
an interested stockholder or an affiliate of an interested stockholder are prohibited for five years after the most recent date on which the interested stockholder 
becomes an interested stockholder. These business combinations include, among other things, a merger, consolidation, statutory share exchange or, in 
circumstances specified in the statute, an asset transfer or issuance or reclassification of equity securities.

An interested stockholder is defined as:

• any person who beneficially owns ten percent or more of the voting power of the corporation’s outstanding voting stock; or     

• an affiliate or associate of the corporation who, at any time within the two-year period prior to the date in question, was the beneficial 
owner of ten percent or more of the voting power of the then outstanding voting stock of the corporation.

A person is not an interested stockholder under the statute if the board of directors approved in advance the transaction by which such person 
otherwise would have become an interested stockholder. However, in approving a transaction, the board of directors may make its approval subject to 
compliance, at or after the time of approval, with any terms and conditions determined by the board of directors.

After the five-year prohibition, the completion of any business combination between the Maryland corporation and an interested stockholder generally 
requires that the transaction be recommended by the board of directors of the corporation and approved by the affirmative vote of at least: 

• 80% of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of outstanding shares of voting stock of the corporation; and    

• two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of voting stock of the corporation, other than shares (1) held by the interested 
stockholder with whom or with whose affiliate the business combination is to be effected or (2) held by an affiliate or associate of the 
interested stockholder.

These super-majority voting requirements do not apply if the corporation’s common stockholders receive a minimum price, as defined in the MGCL, 
for their shares in the form of cash or other consideration in the same form as previously paid by the interested stockholder for its shares.

Control Share Acquisitions
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We are subject to the provisions of the MGCL's control share acquisition statute. The control share acquisition statute provides that a holder of 
control shares of a Maryland corporation acquired in a control share acquisition has no voting rights with respect to such shares, except to the extent approved 
by at least two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by stockholders entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, but excluding the acquiring person, 
officers of the corporation, and employees who are also directors of the corporation. Control shares are voting shares of stock that, if aggregated with all other 
shares of stock owned by the acquiring person or in respect of which the acquiring person is able to exercise or direct the exercise of voting power (except 
solely by virtue of a revocable proxy), would entitle the acquiring person to exercise voting power in electing directors within one of the following ranges of 
voting power: 

• one-tenth or more but less than one-third;

• one-third or more but less than a majority; or

• a majority or more of all voting power.

Control shares do not include shares that the acquiring person is then entitled to vote as a result of having previously obtained stockholder approval 
or shares acquired directly from the corporation. A control share acquisition means the direct or indirect acquisition of issued and outstanding control shares, 
subject to certain exceptions.

A person who has made or proposes to make a control share acquisition may compel the board of directors of the corporation to call a special 
meeting of stockholders to be held within 50 days of demand to consider the voting rights of the holder of the shares acquired or proposed to be acquired. The 
right to compel the calling of a special meeting is subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, including an undertaking to pay the expenses of the meeting. If 
no request for a meeting is made, the corporation may present the question at any stockholders meeting.

If voting rights are not approved at the meeting or if the acquiring person does not deliver an acquiring person statement as required by the statute, 
then the corporation may redeem for fair value any or all of the control shares, except those for which voting rights have previously been approved. The right of 
our company to redeem control shares is subject to certain conditions and limitations. Fair value is determined, without regard to the absence of voting rights for 
the control shares, as of the date of the last control share acquisition by the acquiring person or, if a stockholders meeting is held to consider voting rights for 
the control shares, as of the date of the meeting. If voting rights for the holder of the control shares are approved at a stockholders meeting and the acquiring 
person becomes entitled to vote a majority of the shares entitled to vote, all other stockholders may exercise appraisal rights. The fair value of the shares as 
determined for purposes of such appraisal rights may not be less than the highest price per share paid by the acquiring person in the control share acquisition.

The control share acquisition statute does not apply (1) to shares acquired in a merger, consolidation or statutory share exchange if the corporation 
is a party to the transaction, or (2) to acquisitions approved or exempted by the charter or bylaws of the corporation.

Amendment of our Charter and Bylaws

In general, our charter may be amended if an amendment is declared advisable by our board of directors and approved by the affirmative vote of 
stockholders entitled to cast a majority of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. Our bylaws may be amended by our stockholders at any annual or special 
meeting of stockholders by the affirmative vote of a majority of all shares of any class of stock entitled to vote at such meeting. Our bylaws may also be 
amended by our board of directors by the affirmative vote of a majority of the total number of directors then authorized, including vacancies, and subject to the 
power of the stockholders to change or repeal such bylaws.

Advance Notice of Director Nominations and New Business

Our bylaws provide that nominations of individuals for election to our board of directors and proposals of other business to be considered at any 
annual meeting of our stockholders (or in the case of election of directors, at a special meeting of stockholders held in lieu of an annual meeting) may be made 
(1) pursuant to our proxy materials with respect to such meeting, (2) by or at the direction of our board of directors, (3) by any stockholder or group of 
stockholders that has complied with the proxy access requirements set forth in our bylaws and described under “Proxy Access” below, or (4) by any stockholder 
that was a stockholder at the time of notice required by our bylaws, is entitled to vote at the meeting in the election of the individuals so nominated or on such 
other proposed business, and has complied with the advance notice requirements of, and provided the information and certifications required by, our bylaws. 
The foregoing clauses (3) and (4) are the exclusive means for a stockholder to make nominations or propose business (other than matters included in our proxy 
materials pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act) at an annual meeting of stockholders.

Proxy Access

Our bylaws provide that a stockholder or group of up to 20 stockholders that has maintained continuous qualifying ownership of 3% of more of our 
outstanding common stock for at least the previous three years is permitted to nominate and include up to a specified number of proxy access nominees in the 
company’s proxy materials for its annual meeting of 
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stockholders, provided that such stockholder or group of stockholders satisfies the applicable proxy access requirements of, and provides the information and 
representations required by, our bylaws. Proxy access nominees are also required to submit certain information, and are subject to certain exclusions and 
disqualifications, as set forth in our bylaws.

The maximum number of proxy access nominees that we are required to include in our proxy materials is the greater of (a) two and (b) 20% of the 
directors in office at the time of nomination (rounded down to the nearest whole number). Any eligible stockholder that submits more than one proxy access 
nominee is required to provide a ranking of its proposed proxy access nominees. If the number of proxy access nominees exceeds the proxy access nominee 
limit, the highest ranking qualified individual from the list proposed by each eligible stockholder, beginning with the eligible stockholder with the largest qualifying 
ownership and proceeding through the list of eligible stockholders in descending order of qualifying ownership, will be selected for inclusion in the company’s 
proxy materials until the proxy access nominee limit is reached.

Requests to include proxy access nominees in the company’s proxy materials must be receive no earlier than 120 days and no later than 90 days 
before the anniversary of the date that the company first mailed its proxy materials for the preceding year’s annual meeting of stockholders, subject to 
adjustment in the event the annual meeting is held more than 30 days before or after the anniversary of the date of the prior year’s annual meeting.

Special Meetings of Stockholders

Our president or board of directors may call special meetings of our stockholders. Additionally, our bylaws provide that a special meeting of our 
stockholders must also be called by our secretary upon the written request of the stockholders entitled to cast not less than 25% of all the votes entitled to be 
cast on such matter at the meeting. Our secretary will inform the requesting stockholders of the reasonably estimated cost of preparing and mailing the notice of 
meeting, and the requesting stockholders must pay such estimated cost before our secretary is required to prepare and mail the notice of the special meeting. 
A special meeting need not be called by our secretary to consider any matter that is substantially the same as a matter voted on at any special meeting of our 
stockholders held during the preceding 12 months unless requested by stockholders entitled to cast a majority of all votes entitled to be cast at the meeting.

Subtitle 8

Subtitle 8 of Title 3 of the MGCL permits a Maryland corporation with a class of equity securities registered under the Exchange Act and at least 
three independent directors, to elect to be subject, by provision in its charter or bylaws or a resolution of its board of directors, and notwithstanding any contrary 
provision in such charter or bylaws, to any or all of five provisions of Subtitle 8, which provide for:

• a classified board;

• a requirement that removal of a director be approved by the affirmative vote of two-thirds of all the votes entitled to be cast by 
stockholders generally in the election of directors;

• a requirement that the number of directors be fixed only by vote of the directors;

• a requirement that a vacancy on the board be filled only by the remaining directors and for the remainder of the full term of the class of 
directors in which the vacancy occurred; and

• a requirement that a written request by stockholders for the calling of a special meeting of stockholders be submitted by stockholders 
entitled to cast a majority of all the votes entitled to be cast at the meeting.

Through provisions in our charter and bylaws unrelated to Subtitle 8, we already vest in our board of directors the exclusive power, subject to the 
limitations described above, to fix the number of directors, by vote of a majority of the entire board of directors. In the future, our board of directors may elect, 
without stockholder approval, to be subject to any of the other provisions of Subtitle 8. 

Limitation of Liability and Indemnification of Directors and Officers

Maryland law permits a Maryland corporation to include in its charter a provision limiting the liability of its directors and officers to the corporation and 
its stockholders for money damages except for liability resulting from (1) actual receipt of an improper benefit or profit in money, property or services or (2) 
active and deliberate dishonesty which is established by a final judgment and which is material to the cause of action. Our charter contains such a provision 
eliminating directors’ and officers’ liability to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law.

Our charter obligates us, to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law, to indemnify any present or former director or officer or any individual 
who, while a director or officer of our company and at our request, serves or has served another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit 
plan or other enterprise as a director, officer, partner, trustee, employee or agent, from and against any claim or liability to which that individual may become 
subject or which that individual may incur by reason of his or her service in such capacity. Our charter also permits us to indemnify any employee or agent of 
the company.
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The MGCL requires a corporation (unless its charter provides otherwise, which our charter does not) to indemnify a director or officer who has been 
successful in the defense of any proceeding to which he or she is made or threatened to be made a party by reason of his or her service in that capacity. The 
MGCL permits a corporation to indemnify its present and former directors and officers, among others, against judgments, penalties, fines, settlements and 
reasonable expenses actually incurred by them in connection with any proceeding to which they may be made or threatened to be made a party by reason of 
their service in those or other capacities unless it is established that (1) the act or omission of the director or officer was material to the matter giving rise to the 
proceeding and was committed in bad faith or was the result of active and deliberate dishonesty, (2) the director or officer actually received an improper 
personal benefit in money, property or services, or (3) in the case of any criminal proceeding, the director or officer had reasonable cause to believe that the act 
or omission was unlawful. However, under the MGCL, a Maryland corporation may not indemnify for an adverse judgment in a suit by or in the right of the 
corporation or for a judgment of liability on the basis that personal benefit was improperly received, unless in either case a court orders indemnification, and 
then only for expenses.  

In addition, the MGCL permits a corporation to advance reasonable expenses to a director or officer upon the corporation’s receipt of (1) a written 
affirmation by the director or officer of his or her good faith belief that he or she has met the standard of conduct necessary for indemnification by the 
corporation and (2) a written undertaking by him or her or on his or her behalf to repay the amount paid or reimbursed by the corporation if it is ultimately 
determined that the standard of conduct was not met.

We have entered into indemnification agreements with each of our directors who is not also an employee. These agreements require us to indemnify 
these individuals to the fullest extent permitted under Maryland law against liabilities that may arise by reason of their service to us, and to advance expenses 
incurred as a result of any proceeding against them as to which they could be indemnified. Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities 
Act of 1933, as amended, may be permitted to directors or executive officers, we have been informed that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission such indemnification is against public policy and is therefore unenforceable.
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BARRETT BUSINESS SERVICES, INC.

2009 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN

ARTICLE 1

ESTABLISHMENT AND PURPOSE

1.1 Establishment. Barrett Business Services, Inc. (“Corporation”), hereby establishes the Barrett Business Services, Inc., 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (the 
“Plan”), effective as of May 13, 2009 (the “Effective Date”), subject to shareholder approval as provided in Article 15.

1.2 Purpose. The purpose of the Plan is to promote and advance the interests of Corporation and its shareholders by enabling Corporation to attract, retain, 
and reward key employees, directors, and outside consultants of Corporation and its subsidiaries. It is also intended to strengthen the mutuality of interests 
between such employees, directors, and consultants and Corporation’s shareholders. The Plan is designed to serve these purposes by offering stock options 
and other equity-based incentive awards, thereby providing a proprietary interest in pursuing the long-term growth, profitability, and financial success of 
Corporation.

1.3 Prior Plans. The Plan will be separate from the Barrett Business Services, Inc. 1993 Stock Incentive Plan and related Barrett Business Services, Inc. Stock 
Option Plan for California Residents and the Barrett Business Services, Inc., 2003 Stock Incentive Plan and related Barrett Business Services, Inc., Stock 
Incentive Plan for California Residents (the “Prior Plans”). The adoption of the Plan will neither affect nor be affected by the continued existence of the Prior 
Plans, except that after the effective date of the Plan, no further Awards will be granted under the Prior Plans.

1.4 Reservation of Right to Amend to Comply with Section 409A. The Board reserves the right to amend the Plan, either retroactively or prospectively, in 
whatever respect is required to achieve and maintain compliance with the requirements of Code Section 409A, and the regulations and guidance issued by the 
Department of the Treasury with respect to such requirements (“Section 409A”).

ARTICLE 2

DEFINITIONS

2.1 Defined Terms. For purposes of the Plan, the following terms have the meanings set forth below:

“Award” means an award or grant made to a Participant of Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, Restricted Share Awards or Other Stock-Based Awards 
pursuant to the Plan.

“Award Agreement” means an agreement as described in Section 6.4.

“Board” means the Board of Directors of Corporation.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended and in effect from time to time, or any successor thereto, together with rules, regulations, and 
interpretations promulgated thereunder. Where the context so requires, any reference to a particular Code section will be construed to refer to the successor 
provision to such Code section.

“Committee” means the committee appointed by the Board to administer the Plan as provided in Article 3 of the Plan.

“Common Stock” means the $.01 par value Common Stock of Corporation.

“Consultant” means any consultant or adviser to Corporation or a Subsidiary selected by the Committee, who is not an employee of Corporation or a 
Subsidiary.

“Continuing Restriction” means a Restriction contained in Sections 6.6(g), 6.6(i), 14.4, 14.5, and 14.7 of the Plan and any other Restrictions expressly 
designated by the Committee in an Award Agreement as a Continuing Restriction.

“Corporation” means Barrett Business Services, Inc., a Maryland corporation, or any successor corporation.

“Disability” means the condition of being permanently “disabled” within the meaning of Section 22(e)(3) of the Code, namely being unable to engage in any 
substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to result in death or which has lasted 
or can be expected to last for a 
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continuous period of not less than 12 months. However, the Committee may change the foregoing definition of “Disability” or may adopt a different definition for 
purposes of specific Awards.

“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended and in effect from time to time, or any successor statute. Where the context so 
requires, any reference to a particular section of the Exchange Act, or to any rule promulgated under the Exchange Act, will be construed to refer to successor 
provisions to such section or rule.

“Fair Market Value” means, on any given day, the fair market value per share of the Common Stock determined as follows:

(a) If the Common Stock is traded on an established securities exchange, the closing sale price per share of Common Stock as reported for such day by the 
principal exchange on which the Common Stock is traded (as determined by the Committee) or, if the Common Stock was not traded on such day, on the next 
preceding day on which the Common Stock was traded;

(b) If trading activity in Common Stock is reported on the OTC Bulletin Board, the mean between the bid price and asked price quotes for such day as reported 
on the OTC Bulletin Board or, if there are no such quotes for Common Stock for such day, on the next preceding day for which bid and asked price quotes for 
Common Stock were reported on the OTC Bulletin Board; or

(c) If there is no market for Common Stock or if trading activities for Common Stock are not reported in one of the manners described above, the fair market 
value will be as determined by the Committee.

“Incentive Stock Option” or “ISO” means any Option granted pursuant to the Plan that is intended to be and is specifically designated in its Award Agreement 
as an “incentive stock option” within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code.

“Non-Employee Board Director” means a member of the Board who is not an employee of Corporation or any Subsidiary.

“Non-Employee Subsidiary Director” means a member of the board of directors of a Subsidiary who is neither an employee of Corporation or a Subsidiary 
nor a member of the Board.

“Nonqualified Option” or “NQO” means any Option granted pursuant to the Plan that is not an Incentive Stock Option.

“Option” means an ISO or an NQO.

“Other Stock-Based Award” means an Award as defined in Section 10.1.

“Participant” means an employee of Corporation or a Subsidiary, a Consultant, a Non-Employee Board Director, or a Non-Employee Subsidiary Director who is 
granted an Award under the Plan.

“Plan” means this Barrett Business Services, Inc., 2009 Stock Incentive Plan, as set forth in this document and as it may be amended from time to time.

“Reporting Person” means a Participant who is subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act.

“Restricted Share Award” means a Restricted Share Award granted pursuant to Article 9 of the Plan.

“Restriction” means a provision in the Plan or in an Award Agreement that limits the exercisability or transferability, or which governs the forfeiture, of an 
Award or the Shares, cash, or other property payable pursuant to an Award.

“Restriction Period” means a designated period pursuant to the provisions of Section 9.3 of the Plan.

“Retirement” means:

(a) For Participants who are employees, retirement from active employment with Corporation and its Subsidiaries on or after age 65, or such earlier retirement 
date as approved by the Committee for purposes of the Plan;

(b) For Participants who are Non-Employee Board Directors or Non-Employee Subsidiary Directors, retirement from the applicable board of directors after 
attaining the maximum age (if any) specified in the articles of incorporation or bylaws of the applicable corporation; or
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(c) For Participants who are Consultants, termination of service as a Consultant after attaining a retirement age specified by the Committee for purposes of an 
Award to such Consultant.

However, the Committee may change the foregoing definition of “Retirement” or may adopt a different definition for purposes of specific Awards.

“Share” means a share of Common Stock.

“Stock Appreciation Right” or “SAR” means an Award to benefit from the appreciation of Common Stock granted pursuant to the provisions of Article 8 of the 
Plan.

“Subsidiary” means a “subsidiary corporation” of Corporation, within the meaning of Section 425 of the Code, namely any corporation in which Corporation 
directly or indirectly controls 50 percent or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock having voting power.

“Vest,” “Vesting,” or “Vested” means:

(a) In the case of an Award that requires exercise, to be or to become immediately and fully exercisable and free of all Restrictions (other than Continuing 
Restrictions);

(b) In the case of an Award that is subject to forfeiture, to be or to become nonforfeitable, freely transferable, and free of all Restrictions (other than Continuing 
Restrictions);

(c) In the case of an Award that is required to be earned by attaining specified Performance Goals, to be or to become earned and nonforfeitable, freely 
transferable, and free of all Restrictions (other than Continuing Restrictions); or

(d) In the case of any other Award as to which payment is not dependent solely upon the exercise of a right, election, or option, to be or to become immediately 
payable and free of all Restrictions (except Continuing Restrictions).

2.2 Gender and Number. Except where otherwise indicated by the context, any masculine or feminine terminology used in the Plan also includes the opposite 
gender; and the definition of any term in Section 2.1 in the singular also includes the plural, and vice versa.

ARTICLE 3

ADMINISTRATION

3.1 General. The Plan will be administered by a Committee composed as described in Section 3.2.

3.2 Composition of the Committee. The Committee will be appointed by the Board and will consist of not less than a sufficient number of Non-Employee Board 
Directors so as to qualify the Committee to administer the Plan as contemplated by Section 162(m)(4)(C) of the Code and Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act. 
The Board may from time to time remove members from, or add members to, the Committee. Vacancies on the Committee, however caused, will be filled by 
the Board. In the event that the Committee ceases to satisfy the requirements of Section 162(m)(4)(C) or Rule 16b-3, the Board will reconstitute the Committee 
as necessary to satisfy such requirements.

3.3 Authority of the Committee. The Committee has full power and authority (subject to such orders or resolutions as may be issued or adopted from time to 
time by the Board) to administer the Plan in its sole discretion, including the authority to:

(a) Construe and interpret the Plan and any Award Agreement;

(b) Promulgate, amend, and rescind rules and procedures relating to the implementation of the Plan;

(c) Select the employees, Non-Employee Board Directors, Non-Employee Subsidiary Directors, and Consultants who will be granted Awards;

(d) Determine the number and types of Awards to be granted to each such Participant;

(e) Determine the number of Shares, or Share equivalents, to be subject to each Award;

(f) Determine the option price, purchase price, base price, or similar feature for any Award; and

(g) Determine all the terms and conditions of all Award Agreements, consistent with the requirements of the Plan.
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Decisions of the Committee, or any delegate as permitted by the Plan, will be final, conclusive, and binding on all Participants.

3.4 Action by the Committee. A majority of the members of the Committee will constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. Action approved by a 
majority of the members present at any meeting at which a quorum is present, or action in writing by all of the members of the Committee, will be the valid acts 
of the Committee.

3.5 Delegation. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee may delegate to one or more officers of Corporation the authority to determine the recipients, 
types, amounts, and terms of Awards granted to Participants who are not Reporting Persons.

3.6 Liability of Committee Members. No member of the Committee will be liable for any action or determination made in good faith with respect to the Plan, any 
Award, or any Participant.

3.7 Costs of Plan. The costs and expenses of administering the Plan will be borne by Corporation.

ARTICLE 4

DURATION OF THE PLAN AND SHARES SUBJECT TO THE PLAN1

4.1 Duration of the Plan. The Plan is effective May 13, 2009, subject to approval by Corporation’s shareholders as provided in Article 15. The Plan will remain in 
effect until Awards have been granted covering all the available Shares or the Plan is otherwise terminated by the Board. Termination of the Plan will not affect 
outstanding Awards.

4.2 Shares Subject to the Plan. The shares which may be made subject to Awards under the Plan are Shares of Common Stock, which may be either 
authorized and unissued Shares or reacquired Shares. No fractional Shares may be issued under the Plan. Subject to adjustment pursuant to Article 12, the 
maximum number of Shares for which Awards may be granted under the Plan is 4,000,000, of which the aggregate number of Shares for which ISOs may be 
granted under the Plan is 3,600,000. If an Award under the Plan is canceled or expires for any reason prior to having been fully Vested or exercised by a 
Participant or is settled in cash in lieu of Shares or is exchanged for other Awards, all Shares covered by such Awards will be added back into the number of 
Shares available for future Awards under the Plan.
1 Share amounts reflect 4-for-1 stock split effective June 2024.

ARTICLE 5

ELIGIBILITY

Officers and other key employees of Corporation and its Subsidiaries (including employees who may also be directors of Corporation or a Subsidiary), 
Consultants, Non-Employee Board Directors, and Non-Employee Subsidiary Directors who, in the Committee’s judgment, are or will be contributors to the long-
term success of Corporation are eligible to receive Awards under the Plan.

ARTICLE 6

AWARDS

6.1 Types of Awards. The types of Awards that may be granted under the Plan are:

(a) Options governed by Article 7 of the Plan;

(b) Stock Appreciation Rights governed by Article 8 of the Plan;

(c) Restricted Share Awards governed by Article 9 of the Plan; and

(d) Other Stock-Based Awards or combination awards governed by Article 10 of the Plan.

In the discretion of the Committee, any Award may be granted alone, in addition to, or in tandem with other Awards under the Plan.

6.2 General. Subject to the limitations of the Plan, the Committee may cause Corporation to grant Awards to such Participants, at such times, of such types, in 
such amounts, for such periods, with such option prices, purchase prices, or base prices, and subject to such terms, conditions, limitations, and restrictions as 
the Committee, in its discretion, deems 
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appropriate. Awards may be granted as additional compensation to a Participant or in lieu of other compensation to such Participant. A Participant may receive 
more than one Award and more than one type of Award under the Plan.

6.3 Nonuniform Determinations. The Committee’s determinations under the Plan or under one or more Award Agreements, including, without limitation, (a) the 
selection of Participants to receive Awards, (b) the type, form, amount, and timing of Awards, (c) the terms of specific Award Agreements, and (d) elections and 
determinations made by the Committee with respect to exercise or payments of Awards, need not be uniform and may be made by the Committee selectively 
among Participants and Awards, whether or not Participants are similarly situated.

6.4 Award Agreements. Each Award will be evidenced by a written Award Agreement between Corporation and the Participant. Award Agreements may, 
subject to the provisions of the Plan, contain any provision approved by the Committee.

6.5 Prohibition on Repricing of Stock Options and Stock Appreciation Rights. Except for adjustments pursuant to Article 12 hereof, at no time shall the exercise 
price of an Option or the base price of a Stock Appreciation Right granted hereunder be subsequently repriced during the period of its exercisability. For 
purposes of this Section 6.5, repricing means any of the following or any other action that has the same effect:

(a) Lowering the exercise or base price after the Option or Stock Appreciation Right is granted;

(b) Any other action that is treated as a repricing under generally accepted accounting principles; or

(c) Canceling an Option or Stock Appreciation Right at a time when its exercise or base price exceeds the Fair Market Value of the underlying Shares, in 
exchange for cash or an Other Stock-Based Award, unless the cancellation and exchange occurs in connection with a merger, acquisition, spin-off or other 
similar corporate transaction.

6.6 Provisions Governing All Awards. All Awards are subject to the following provisions:

(a) Alternative Awards. If any Awards are designated in their Award Agreements as alternative to each other, the exercise of all or part of one Award will 
automatically cause an immediate equal (or pro rata) corresponding termination of the other alternative Award or Awards.

(b) Rights as Shareholders. No Participant will have any rights of a shareholder with respect to Shares subject to an Award until such Shares are issued in the 
name of the Participant.

(c) Employment Rights. Neither the adoption of the Plan nor the granting of any Award confers on any person the right to continued employment with 
Corporation or any Subsidiary or the right to remain as a director of or a Consultant to Corporation or any Subsidiary, as the case may be, nor does it interfere 
in any way with the right of Corporation or a Subsidiary to terminate such person’s employment or to remove such person as a Consultant or as a director at 
any time for any reason, or for no reason, with or without cause.

(d) Restriction on Transfer. Unless otherwise expressly provided in an individual Award Agreement, no Award (other than Shares granted under a Restricted 
Share Award after they Vest) will be transferable other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution and each Award will be exercisable (if exercise is 
required), during the lifetime of the Participant, only by the Participant or, in the event the Participant becomes legally incompetent, by the Participant’s guardian 
or legal representative. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee, in its discretion, may provide in any Award Agreement that the Award:

• May be freely transferred;

• May be freely transferred to a class of transferees specified in the Award Agreement; or

• May be transferred, but only subject to any terms and conditions specified in the Award Agreement (including, without limitation, a condition that 
an Award may only be transferred without payment of consideration).

Furthermore, notwithstanding the foregoing, any Award Agreement may provide that the Award or the Shares subject to the Award may be surrendered to 
Corporation pursuant to Section 6.5(h) in connection with the payment of the purchase or option price of another Award or the payment of the Participant’s 
federal, state, or local tax withholding obligation with respect to the exercise or payment of another Award.
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(e) Termination of Employment. The terms and conditions under which an Award may be exercised, if at all, after a Participant’s termination of employment or 
service as a Non-Employee Board Director, Non-Employee Subsidiary Director, or Consultant will be determined by the Committee and specified in the 
applicable Award Agreement.

(f) Change in Control. The Committee, in its discretion, may provide in any Award Agreement that:

(i) In the event of a change in control of Corporation (as the Committee may define such term in the Award Agreement), all or a specified portion of the Award 
(to the extent then outstanding) will become immediately Vested in full to the extent not previously Vested. Any such acceleration of Award Vesting must 
comply with applicable regulatory requirements and any Participant will be entitled to decline the accelerated Vesting of all or any portion of his or her Award, if 
he or she determines that such acceleration may result in adverse tax consequences to him or her; and

(ii) In the event the Board approves a proposal for: (i) a merger, exchange or consolidation transaction in which Corporation is not the resulting or surviving 
corporation (or in which Corporation is the resulting or surviving corporation but becomes a subsidiary of another corporation); (ii) the transfer of all or 
substantially all the assets of Corporation; (iii) a sale of 30 percent or more of the combined voting power of Corporation’s voting securities; or (iv) the 
dissolution or liquidation of Corporation (each, a “Transaction”), the Committee will notify Participants in writing of the proposed Transaction (the “Proposal 
Notice”) at least 30 days prior to the effective date of the proposed Transaction. The Committee may, in its sole discretion, and to the extent possible under the 
structure of the Transaction, select one of the following alternatives for treating outstanding Awards under the Plan:

(A) The Committee may provide that outstanding Awards will be converted into or replaced by Awards of a similar type in the stock of the surviving or acquiring 
corporation in the Transaction. The amount and type of securities subject to and the exercise price (if applicable) of the replacement or converted Awards will 
be determined by the Committee based on the exchange ratio, if any, used in determining shares of the surviving corporation to be issued to holders of Shares 
of Corporation. If there is no exchange ratio in the Transaction, the Committee will, in making its determination, take into account the relative values of the 
companies involved in the Transaction and such other factors as the Committee deems relevant. Such replacement or converted Awards will continue to Vest 
over the period (and at the same rate) as the Awards which the replacement or converted Awards replaced, unless determined otherwise by the Committee;

(B) The Committee may provide a 30-day period prior to the consummation of the Transaction during which all outstanding Awards will tentatively become fully 
Vested, and upon consummation of such Transaction, all outstanding and unexercised Awards will immediately terminate. If the Committee elects to provide 
such 30-day period for the exercise of Awards, the Proposal Notice must so state. Participants, by written notice to Corporation, may exercise their Awards and, 
in so exercising the Awards, may condition such exercise upon, and provide that such exercise will become effective immediately prior to, the consummation of 
the Transaction, in which event Participants need not make payment for any Common Stock to be purchased upon exercise of an Award until five days after 
written notice by Corporation to the Participants that the Transaction has been consummated (the “Transaction Notice”). If the Transaction is consummated, 
each Award, to the extent not previously exercised prior to the consummation of the Transaction, will terminate and cease being exercisable as of the effective 
date of such consummation. If the Transaction is abandoned, (1) all outstanding Awards not exercised will continue to be Vested and exercisable, to the extent 
such Awards were Vested and exercisable prior to the date of the Proposal Notice, and (2) to the extent that any Awards not exercised prior to such 
abandonment have become Vested and exercisable solely by operation of this Section 6.6(f)(ii), such Vesting and exercisability will be deemed annulled, and 
the Vesting and exercisability provisions otherwise in effect will be reinstituted, as of the date of such abandonment; or

(C) The Committee may provide that outstanding Awards that are not fully Vested will become fully Vested subject to Corporation’s right to pay each Participant 
a cash amount (determined by the Committee and based on the amount, if any, being received by Corporation’s shareholders in the Transaction) in exchange 
for cancellation of the applicable Award.

Unless the Committee specifically provides otherwise in the change in control provision for a specific Award Agreement, Awards will become Vested as of a 
change in control date only if, or to the extent, such acceleration in the Vesting of the Awards does not result in an “excess parachute payment” within the 
meaning of Section 280G(b) of the Code. The Committee, in its discretion, may include change in control provisions in some Award Agreements and not in 
others, may include different change in control provisions in different Award Agreements, and may include change in control provisions for some Awards or 
some Participants and not for others.
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(g) Conditioning or Accelerating Benefits. The Committee, in its discretion, may include in any Award Agreement a provision conditioning or accelerating the 
Vesting of an Award or the receipt of benefits pursuant to an Award, either automatically or in the discretion of the Committee, upon the occurrence of specified 
events, including without limitation, a change in control of Corporation (subject to the foregoing paragraph (f)), a sale of all or substantially all of the property 
and assets of Corporation, or an event of the type described in Article 12 of this Plan.

(h) Payment of Purchase Price and Withholding. The Committee, in its discretion, may include in any Award Agreement a provision permitting the Participant to 
pay the purchase or option price, if any, for the Shares or other property issuable pursuant to the Award, or the Participant’s federal, state, or local tax 
withholding obligations with respect to such issuance in whole or in part by any one or more of the following methods; provided, however, that the availability of 
any one or more methods of payment may be suspended from time to time if the Committee determines that the use of such payment method would result in 
adverse financial accounting treatment for Corporation or adverse tax treatment for Corporation or Participants:

(i) By delivering previously owned Shares (including fully Vested Shares granted under Restricted Share Awards);

(ii) By surrendering other outstanding Vested Awards under the Plan denominated in Shares or in Share equivalent units;

(iii) By reducing the number of Shares or other property otherwise Vested and issuable pursuant to the Award;

(iv) Unless specifically prohibited by any applicable statute or rule, including, without limitation, the provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by delivering 
to Corporation a promissory note payable on such terms and over such period as the Committee may determine;

(v) By delivery (in a form approved by the Committee) of an irrevocable direction to a securities broker acceptable to the Committee (subject to the provisions of 
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and any other applicable statute or rule):

(A) To sell Shares subject to the Award and to deliver all or a part of the sales proceeds to Corporation in payment of all or a part of the option or purchase 
price and taxes or withholding taxes attributable to the issuance; or

(B) To pledge Shares subject to the Award to the broker as security for a loan and to deliver all or a part of the loan proceeds to Corporation in payment of all or 
a part of the option or purchase price and taxes or withholding taxes attributable to the issuance; or

(vi) In any combination of the foregoing or in any other form approved by the Committee.

Shares withheld or surrendered as described above will be valued based on their Fair Market Value on the date of the transaction. Any Shares withheld or 
surrendered with respect to a Reporting Person will be subject to such additional conditions and limitations as the Committee may impose to comply with the 
requirements of the Exchange Act.

(i) Reporting Persons. With respect to all Awards granted to Reporting Persons, the following limitations will apply only if or to the extent required by Rule 16b-3 
under the Exchange Act, unless the Award Agreement provides otherwise:

(i) Awards requiring exercise will not be exercisable until at least six months after the date the Award was granted, except in the case of the death or Disability 
of the Participant; and

(ii) Shares issued pursuant to any other Award may not be sold by the Participant for at least six months after acquisition, except in the case of the death or 
Disability of the Participant.

Award Agreements for Awards to Reporting Persons must also comply with any future restrictions imposed by such Rule 16b-3.

(j) Service Periods. At the time of granting an Award, the Committee may specify, by resolution or in the Award Agreement, the period or periods of service 
performed or to be performed by the Participant in connection with the grant of the Award.

ARTICLE 7

OPTIONS1

7.1 Types of Options. Options granted under the Plan may be in the form of Incentive Stock Options or Nonqualified Options. The grant of each Option and the 
Award Agreement governing each Option will identify the Option as an ISO or 
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an NQO. In the event the Code is amended to provide for tax-favored forms of stock options other than or in addition to Incentive Stock Options, the Committee 
may grant Options under the Plan meeting the requirements of such forms of options.

7.2 General. All Options will be subject to the terms and conditions set forth in Article 6 and this Article 7 and Award Agreements governing Options may 
contain such additional terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the express provisions of the Plan, as the Committee deems desirable.

7.3 Option Price. Each Award Agreement for Options will state the option exercise price per Share of Common Stock purchasable under the Option, which may 
not be less than 100 percent of the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of grant for all Options.

7.4 Option Term. The Award Agreement for each Option will specify the term of each Option, which may be unlimited or may have a specified period during 
which the Option may be exercised, as determined by the Committee.

7.5 Time of Exercise. The Award Agreement for each Option will specify, as determined by the Committee:

(a) The time or times when the Option becomes exercisable and whether the Option will become exercisable in full or in graduated amounts based on: (i) 
continuation of employment over a period specified in the Award Agreement, (ii) satisfaction of performance goals or criteria specified in the Award Agreement, 
or (iii) a combination of continuation of employment and satisfaction of performance goals or criteria;

(b) Such other terms, conditions, and restrictions as to when the Option may be exercised as determined by the Committee; and

(c) The extent, if any, to which the Option will remain exercisable after the Participant ceases to be an employee, Consultant, or director of Corporation or a 
Subsidiary.

An Award Agreement for an Option may, in the discretion of the Committee, provide whether, and to what extent, the time when an Option becomes 
exercisable may be accelerated or otherwise modified (i) in the event of the death, Disability, or Retirement of the Participant, or (ii) upon the occurrence of a 
change in control of Corporation. The Committee may, at any time in its discretion, accelerate the time when all or any portion of an outstanding Option 
becomes exercisable.

7.6 Special Rules for Incentive Stock Options. In the case of an Option designated as an Incentive Stock Option, the terms of the Option and the Award 
Agreement will conform with the statutory and regulatory requirements specified pursuant to Section 422 of the Code, as in effect on the date such ISO is 
granted, including but not limited to the following requirements:

(a) Limited to Employees. ISOs may be granted only to employees of Corporation or a Subsidiary;

(b) Term of ISO. The ISO may not remain exercisable after the expiration of 10 years from its grant date;

(c) Ten Percent Shareholders. In the case of any ISO granted to a Participant who, as of the date of grant, possesses more than 10 percent of the total 
combined voting power of all classes of stock of Corporation or any parent or Subsidiary of Corporation, the option exercise price may not be less than 110 
percent of the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of grant and the ISO may not remain exercisable after the expiration of five years from its grant date; 
and

(d) $100,000 Annual Limitation. In the event that Options intended to be ISOs are granted to a Participant in excess of the $100,000 annual limitation set forth 
in Code Section 422(d)(1), the Options will be bifurcated so that the Options will be ISOs to the maximum extent allowable under that limitation and will be 
NQOs as to any excess over that limitation.

7.7 Restricted Shares. In the discretion of the Committee, the Shares issuable upon exercise of an Option may have restrictions similar to Restricted Share 
Awards if so provided in the Award Agreement for the Option.

7.8 Limitation on Number of Shares Subject to Options. In no event may Options for more than 800,000 Shares be granted to any individual under the Plan 
during any calendar year.
1 Share amounts reflect 4-for-1 stock split effective June 2024.
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ARTICLE 8

STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS1

8.1 General. Stock Appreciation Rights are subject to the terms and conditions set forth in Article 6 and this Article 8 and Award Agreements governing Stock 
Appreciation Rights may contain such additional terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the express terms of the Plan, as the Committee deems desirable.

8.2 Nature of Stock Appreciation Right. A Stock Appreciation Right is an Award entitling a Participant to receive an amount equal to the excess (or, if the 
Committee determines at the time of grant, a portion of the excess) of the Fair Market Value of a Share of Common Stock on the date of exercise of the SAR 
over the base price, as described below, on the date of grant of the SAR, multiplied by the number of Shares with respect to which the SAR is being exercised. 
The base price will be designated by the Committee in the Award Agreement for the SAR and may be the Fair Market Value of a Share on the grant date of the 
SAR or such other higher price as the Committee determines. The base price may not be less than the Fair Market Value of a Share on the grant date of the 
SAR.

8.3 Exercise. A Stock Appreciation Right may be exercised by a Participant in accordance with procedures established by the Committee. The Committee may 
also provide that a SAR will be automatically exercised on one or more specified dates or upon the satisfaction of one or more specified conditions. In the case 
of SARs granted to Reporting Persons, exercise of the SARs will be limited by the Committee to the extent required to comply with the applicable requirements 
of Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act.

8.4 Form of Payment. Payment upon exercise of a Stock Appreciation Right may be made in cash, in Shares, or in any combination of cash and Shares.

8.5 Limitation on Number of Stock Appreciation Rights. In no event may more than 800,000 Stock Appreciation Rights be granted to any individual under the 
Plan during any calendar year.
1 Share amounts reflect 4-for-1 stock split effective June 2024.

ARTICLE 9

RESTRICTED SHARE AWARDS

9.1 Restricted Share Awards. A Restricted Share Award is an Award of Shares transferred to a Participant subject to such terms and conditions as the 
Committee deems appropriate, including, without limitation, restrictions on the sale, assignment, transfer, or other disposition of such Shares and may include a 
requirement that the Participant forfeit such Shares back to Corporation upon termination of Participant’s employment (or service as a Non-Employee Board 
Director, Non-Employee Subsidiary Director, or Consultant) for specified reasons within a specified period of time or upon other conditions, as set forth in the 
Award Agreement for such Shares. Each Participant receiving a Restricted Share Award will be issued a stock certificate in respect of such Shares, registered 
in the name of such Participant, and will execute a stock power in blank with respect to the Shares evidenced by such certificate. The certificate evidencing 
such Shares and the stock power will be held in custody by Corporation until the Restrictions have lapsed.

9.2 General. Restricted Share Awards are subject to the terms and conditions of Article 6 and this Article 9 and Award Agreements governing Restricted Share 
Awards may contain such additional terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the express provisions of the Plan, as the Committee deems desirable.

9.3 Restriction Period. Award Agreements for Restricted Share Awards will provide that the Shares subject to Restricted Share Awards may not be transferred, 
and may provide that, in order for a Participant to Vest in such Restricted Share Awards, the Participant must remain in the employment (or remain as a Non-
Employee Board Director, Non-Employee Subsidiary Director, or Consultant) of Corporation or its Subsidiaries, subject to relief for reasons specified in the 
Award Agreement, for a period commencing on the grant date of the Award and ending on such later date or dates as the Committee may designate at the time 
of the Award (the “Restriction Period”). During the Restriction Period, a Participant may not sell, assign, transfer, pledge, encumber, or otherwise dispose of 
Shares received under a Restricted Share Award grant. The Committee, in its sole discretion, may provide for the lapse of restrictions in installments during the 
Restriction Period. Upon expiration of the applicable Restriction Period (or lapse of Restrictions during the Restriction Period where the Restrictions lapse in 
installments) the Participant will be entitled to settlement of the Restricted Share Award or portion thereof, as the case may be. Although Restricted Share 
Awards will typically Vest based on continued employment (or service as a Non-Employee Board Director, Non-Employee Subsidiary Director, or Consultant), 
the 
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Committee, in its discretion, may condition Vesting of Restricted Share Awards on attainment of designated performance goals as well as continued 
employment (or service as a Non-Employee Board Director, Non-Employee Subsidiary Director, or Consultant). In such case, the Restriction Period for such a 
Restricted Share Award will include the period prior to satisfaction of the performance goals.

9.4 Forfeiture. If a Participant ceases to be an employee (or Consultant, Non-Employee Board Director, or Non-Employee Subsidiary Director) of Corporation or 
a Subsidiary during the Restriction Period for any reason other than reasons which may be specified in an Award Agreement (such as death, Disability, or 
Retirement), the Award Agreement may require that all non-Vested Shares previously granted to the Participant be forfeited and returned to Corporation.

9.5 Settlement of Restricted Share Awards. Upon Vesting of a Restricted Share Award, the legend on such Shares will be removed, the Participant’s stock 
power will be returned and the Shares will no longer be Restricted Shares.

9.6 Rights as a Shareholder. A Participant has, with respect to unforfeited Shares received under a Restricted Share Award grant, all the rights of a shareholder 
of Corporation, including the right to vote the Shares, and the right to receive any cash dividends. Stock dividends issued with respect to non-Vested Shares 
granted under a Restricted Share Award will be treated as additional Shares covered by the Restricted Share Award and will be subject to the same 
Restrictions.

ARTICLE 10

OTHER STOCK-BASED AND COMBINATION AWARDS

10.1 Other Stock-Based Awards. The Committee may grant other Awards under the Plan pursuant to which Shares are or may in the future be acquired, or 
Awards denominated in or measured by Share equivalent units, including Awards valued using measures other than the market value of Shares. Other Stock-
Based Awards are not restricted to any specific form or structure and may include, without limitation, Share purchase warrants, other rights to acquire Shares, 
and securities convertible into or redeemable for Shares. Such Other Stock-Based Awards may be granted either alone, in addition to, or in tandem with, any 
other type of Award granted under the Plan.

10.2 Combination Awards. The Committee may also grant Awards under the Plan in tandem or combination with other Awards or in exchange of Awards, or in 
tandem or combination with, or as alternatives to, grants or rights under any other employee plan of Corporation, including the plan of any acquired entity. No 
action authorized by this Section will reduce the amount of any existing benefits or change the terms and conditions thereof without the Participant’s consent.

ARTICLE 11

DIVIDEND EQUIVALENTS

Subject to any restrictions in Section 409A, any Award may, to the extent provided in the Award Agreement, earn dividend equivalents. In respect of any such 
Award that is outstanding on a dividend record date for Common Stock, the Participant may be credited with an amount equal to the amount of cash or stock 
dividends that would have been paid on the Shares covered by such Award, had such covered Shares been issued and outstanding on such dividend record 
date. The Committee will establish such rules and procedures governing the crediting of dividend equivalents, including the timing, form of payment, and 
payment contingencies of such dividend equivalents, as it deems appropriate or necessary.

ARTICLE 12

ADJUSTMENTS UPON CHANGES IN CAPITALIZATION, ETC.

12.1 Plan Does Not Restrict Corporation. The existence of the Plan and the Awards granted under the Plan will not affect or restrict in any way the right or 
power of the Board or the shareholders of Corporation to make or authorize any adjustment, recapitalization, reorganization, or other change in Corporation’s 
capital structure or its business, any merger or consolidation of Corporation, any issue of bonds, debentures, preferred or prior preference stocks ahead of or 
affecting Corporation’s capital stock or the rights thereof, the dissolution or liquidation of Corporation or any sale or transfer of all or any part of its assets or 
business, or any other corporate act or proceeding.

12.2 Adjustments by the Committee. In the event of any change in capitalization affecting the Common Stock of Corporation, such as a stock dividend, stock 
split, recapitalization, merger, consolidation, split-up, combination or exchange of shares or other form of reorganization, or any other change affecting the 
Common Stock, such proportionate adjustments, if any, as the Committee, in its sole discretion, may deem appropriate to reflect such change, will be made 
with respect to the aggregate number of Shares for which Awards in respect thereof may be granted under the Plan, the 
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maximum number of Shares which may be sold or awarded to any Participant, the number of Shares covered by each outstanding Award, and the base price 
or purchase price per Share in respect of outstanding Awards. The Committee may also make such adjustments in the number of Shares covered by, and price 
or other value of, any outstanding Awards in the event of a spin-off or other distribution (other than normal cash dividends), of Corporation assets to 
shareholders.

ARTICLE 13

AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION

The Board may amend, suspend, or terminate the Plan or any portion of the Plan at any time, provided that no amendment may be made without shareholder 
approval if such approval is required by applicable law or the requirements of an applicable stock exchange or registered securities association.

ARTICLE 14

MISCELLANEOUS

14.1 Tax Withholding. Corporation has the right to deduct from any settlement of any Award under the Plan, including the delivery or Vesting of Shares or 
Awards, any federal, state, or local taxes of any kind required by law to be withheld with respect to such payments or to take such other action as may be 
necessary in the opinion of Corporation to satisfy all obligations for the payment of such taxes. The recipient of any payment or distribution under the Plan has 
the obligation to make arrangements satisfactory to Corporation for the satisfaction of any such tax withholding obligations. Corporation will not be required to 
make any such payment or distribution under the Plan until such obligations are satisfied.

14.2 Unfunded Plan. The Plan will be unfunded and Corporation will not be required to segregate any assets that may at any time be represented by Awards 
under the Plan. Any liability of Corporation to any person with respect to any Award under the Plan will be based solely upon any contractual obligations that 
may be effected pursuant to the Plan. No such obligation of Corporation will be deemed to be secured by any pledge of, or other encumbrance on, any property 
of Corporation.

14.3 Payments to Trust. The Committee is authorized to cause to be established a trust agreement or several trust agreements whereunder the Committee 
may make payments of amounts due or to become due to Participants in the Plan.

14.4 Annulment of Awards. Any Award Agreement may provide that the grant of an Award payable in cash is revocable until cash is paid in settlement thereof 
or that grant of an Award payable in Shares is revocable until the Participant becomes entitled to the certificate in settlement thereof. In the event the 
employment (or service as a Non-Employee Board Director, Non-Employee Subsidiary Director, or Consultant) of a Participant is terminated for cause (as 
defined below), any Award that is revocable will be annulled as of the date of such termination for cause. For the purpose of this Section 14.4, the term “for 
cause” has the meaning set forth in the Participant’s employment agreement, if any, or otherwise means any discharge (or removal) for material or flagrant 
violation of the policies and procedures of Corporation or for other performance or conduct which is materially detrimental to the best interests of Corporation, 
as determined by the Committee.

14.5 Engaging in Competition With Corporation. Any Award Agreement may provide that, if a Participant terminates employment (or service as a Non-
Employee Board Director, Non-Employee Subsidiary Director, or Consultant) with Corporation or a Subsidiary for any reason whatsoever, and within a period of 
time (as specified in the Award Agreement) after the date thereof accepts employment with any competitor of (or otherwise engages in competition with) 
Corporation, the Committee, in its sole discretion, may require such Participant to return to Corporation the economic value of any Award that is realized or 
obtained (measured at the date of exercise, Vesting, or payment) by such Participant at any time during the period beginning on the date that is six months 
prior to the date of such Participant’s termination of employment (or service as a Non-Employee Board Director, Non-Employee Subsidiary Director, or 
Consultant) with Corporation.

14.6 Other Corporation Benefit and Compensation Programs. Payments and other benefits received by a Participant under an Award made pursuant to the 
Plan are not to be deemed a part of a Participant’s regular, recurring compensation for purposes of the termination indemnity or severance pay law of any state 
or country and will not be included in, or have any effect on, the determination of benefits under any other employee benefit plan or similar arrangement 
provided by Corporation or a Subsidiary unless expressly so provided by such other plan or arrangements, or except where the Committee expressly 
determines that an Award or portion of an Award should be included to accurately reflect 
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competitive compensation practices or to recognize that an Award has been made in lieu of a portion of cash compensation. Awards under the Plan may be 
made in combination with or in tandem with, or as alternatives to, grants, awards, or payments under any other Corporation or Subsidiary plans, arrangements, 
or programs. The Plan notwithstanding, Corporation or any Subsidiary may adopt such other compensation programs and additional compensation 
arrangements as it deems necessary to attract, retain, and reward employees and directors for their service with Corporation and its Subsidiaries.

14.7 Securities Law Restrictions. No Shares may be issued under the Plan unless counsel for Corporation is satisfied that such issuance will be in compliance 
with applicable federal and state securities laws. Certificates for Shares delivered under the Plan may be subject to such stop-transfer orders and other 
restrictions as the Committee may deem advisable under the rules, regulations, and other requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission, any stock 
exchange or registered securities association upon which the Common Stock is then listed or quoted, and any applicable federal or state securities laws. The 
Committee may cause a legend or legends to be put on any such certificates to make appropriate reference to such restrictions.

14.8 Governing Law. Except with respect to references to the Code or federal securities laws, the Plan and all actions taken thereunder will be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the state of Maryland.

ARTICLE 15

SHAREHOLDER APPROVAL

The adoption of the Plan and the grant of Awards under the Plan are expressly subject to the approval of the Plan by Corporation’s shareholders holding a 
majority of Corporation’s outstanding Shares.
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 BARRETT BUSINESS SERVICES, INC.
AMENDED AND RESTATED

2015 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN
 

ARTICLE 1
ESTABLISHMENT AND PURPOSE

 
1.1           Establishment. Barrett Business Services, Inc. ("Corporation"), hereby establishes the Barrett Business Services, Inc., 2015 Stock 

Incentive Plan (the "Plan"), effective as of May 27, 2015 (the "Effective Date").
 
1.2           Purpose. The purpose of the Plan is to promote and advance the interests of Corporation and its stockholders by enabling Corporation to 

attract, retain, and reward key employees, directors, and outside consultants of Corporation and its subsidiaries. It is also intended to strengthen the mutuality 
of interests between such employees, directors, and consultants and Corporation's stockholders. The Plan is designed to serve these purposes by offering 
stock options and other equity-based incentive awards, thereby providing a proprietary interest in pursuing the long-term growth, profitability, and financial 
success of Corporation.

 
1.3           Prior Plans. The Plan will be separate from the Barrett Business Services, Inc. 1993 Stock Incentive Plan and related Barrett Business 

Services, Inc. Stock Option Plan for California Residents, the Barrett Business Services, Inc., 2003 Stock Incentive Plan and related Barrett Business Services, 
Inc., Stock Incentive Plan for California Residents, and the Barrett Business Services, Inc. 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (the "Prior Plans"). The adoption of the 
Plan will neither affect nor be affected by the continued existence of the Prior Plans, except that after the effective date of the Plan, no further Awards will be 
granted under the Prior Plans.

 
ARTICLE 2

DEFINITIONS
 
2.1           Defined Terms. For purposes of the Plan, the following terms have the meanings set forth below:

 
"Award" means an award or grant made to a Participant of Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, Restricted Awards, Performance Share 

Awards, or Other Stock-Based Awards pursuant to the Plan.
 
"Award Agreement" means an agreement as described in Section 6.4 of the Plan.
 
"Board" means the Board of Directors of Corporation.
 
"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended and in effect from time to time, or any successor statute, together with 

rules, regulations, and interpretations promulgated thereunder. Where the context so requires, any reference to a particular Code section will be 
construed to refer to the successor provision to such Code section.

 
"Committee" means the committee appointed by the Board to administer the Plan as provided in Article 3 of the Plan.
   
"Common Stock" means the $.01 par value common stock of Corporation.
 
"Consultant" means any consultant or adviser to Corporation or a Subsidiary selected by the Committee, who is not an employee of 

Corporation or a Subsidiary.
 
"Continuing Restriction" means a Restriction contained in Sections 6.5(g), 6.5(i), 6.5(k), 15.5, 15.6, 15.8, and 15.9 of the Plan and any 

other Restrictions expressly designated by the Committee in an Award Agreement as a Continuing Restriction.
 
"Corporation" means Barrett Business Services, Inc., a Maryland corporation, or any successor corporation.
 
"Disability" means the condition of being permanently "disabled" within the meaning of Section 22(e)(3) of the Code, namely being unable 

to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to result 
in death or which has lasted or can 
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be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than 12 months. However, the Committee may change the foregoing definition of "Disability" or 
may adopt a different definition for purposes of specific Awards.

 
"Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended and in effect from time to time, or any successor statute. 

Where the context so requires, any reference to a particular section of the Exchange Act, or to any rule promulgated under the Exchange Act, will be 
construed to refer to successor provisions to such section or rule.

 
"Fair Market Value" means, on any given day, the fair market value per share of the Common Stock determined as follows:
 
(a)          If the Common Stock is traded on an established securities exchange, the closing sale price per share of Common Stock as 

reported for such day by the principal exchange on which the Common Stock is traded (as determined by the Committee) or, if the Common Stock 
was not traded on such day, on the next preceding day on which the Common Stock was traded;

 
(b)          If trading activity in Common Stock is reported on the OTC Bulletin Board, the mean between the bid price and asked price 

quotes for such day as reported on the OTC Bulletin Board or, if there are no such quotes for Common Stock for such day, on the next preceding 
day for which bid and asked price quotes for Common Stock were reported on the OTC Bulletin Board; or

 
(c)          If there is no market for Common Stock or if trading activities for Common Stock are not reported in one of the manners 

described above, the Fair Market Value will be as determined by the Committee, including valuation by an independent appraisal that satisfies the 
requirements of Code Section 401(a)(28)(C) as of a date that is no more than 12 months before the date of the transaction for which the appraisal is 
used (e.g., the date of grant of an Award) or such other reasonable valuation method acceptable under Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(b)(5)
(iv).

  
"Incentive Stock Option" or "ISO" means any Option granted pursuant to the Plan that is intended to be and is specifically designated in 

its Award Agreement as an "incentive stock option" within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code.
 
"Non-Employee Board Director" means a member of the Board who is not an employee of Corporation or any Subsidiary.
 
"Non-Employee Subsidiary Director" means a member of the board of directors of a Subsidiary who is neither an employee of 

Corporation or a Subsidiary nor a member of the Board.
 
"Nonqualified Option" or "NQO" means any Option granted pursuant to the Plan that is not an Incentive Stock Option.
 
"Option" means an ISO or an NQO.
 
"Other Stock-Based Award" means an Award as defined in Section 11.1 of the Plan.
 
"Participant" means an employee of Corporation or a Subsidiary, a Consultant, a Non-Employee Board Director, or a Non-Employee 

Subsidiary Director who is granted an Award under the Plan.
 
"Performance Goals" means goals approved by the Committee pursuant to Section 6.6 of the Plan.
 
"Performance Period" means a period of time over which performance is measured.
 
"Performance Share" means a Share or Share unit having a value equal to a Share that is the unit of measure by which is expressed the 

value of a Performance Share Award as determined under Article 10 of the Plan.
 
"Performance Share Award" means an Award granted under Article 10 of the Plan.
 
"Plan" means this Barrett Business Services, Inc., 2015 Stock Incentive Plan, as set forth in this document and as it may be amended 

from time to time.
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"Reporting Person" means a Participant who is subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act.
 
"Restricted Award" means a Restricted Share or a Restricted Unit granted pursuant to Article 9 of the Plan.
 
"Restricted Share" means an Award described in Section 9.1(a) of the Plan.
  
"Restricted Unit" means an Award of units representing Shares described in Section 9.1(b) of the Plan.
 
"Restriction" means a provision in the Plan or in an Award Agreement that limits the exercisability or transferability, or governs the 

forfeiture, of an Award or the Shares, cash, or other property payable pursuant to an Award.
 
"Restriction Period" means a designated period pursuant to the provisions of Section 9.3 of the Plan.
 
"Retirement" means:
 
(a)          For Participants who are employees, retirement from active employment with Corporation and its Subsidiaries on or after age 65, 

or such earlier retirement date as approved by the Committee for purposes of the Plan;
 
(b)          For Participants who are Non-Employee Board Directors or Non-Employee Subsidiary Directors, retirement from the applicable 

board of directors after attaining the maximum age (if any) specified in the charter or bylaws of the applicable corporation; or
 
(c)          For Participants who are Consultants, termination of service as a Consultant after attaining a retirement age specified by the 

Committee for purposes of an Award to such Consultant.
 
However, the Committee may change the foregoing definition of "Retirement" or may adopt a different definition for purposes of specific 

Awards.
 
"Share" means a share of Common Stock.
 
"Stock Appreciation Right" or "SAR" means an Award to benefit from the appreciation of Common Stock granted pursuant to the 

provisions of Article 8 of the Plan.
 
"Subsidiary" means a "subsidiary corporation" of Corporation, within the meaning of Section 425 of the Code, namely any corporation in 

which Corporation directly or indirectly controls 50 percent or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock having voting power.
 
"Vest," "Vesting," or "Vested" means:
 
(a)          In the case of an Award that requires exercise, to be or to become immediately and fully exercisable and free of all Restrictions 

(other than Continuing Restrictions);
 
(b)          In the case of an Award that is subject to forfeiture, to be or to become nonforfeitable, freely transferable, and free of all 

Restrictions (other than Continuing Restrictions);
  
(c)          In the case of an Award that is required to be earned by attaining specified Performance Goals, to be or to become earned and 

nonforfeitable, freely transferable, and free of all Restrictions (other than Continuing Restrictions); or
 
(d)          In the case of any other Award as to which payment is not dependent solely upon the exercise of a right, election, or option, to be 

or to become immediately payable and free of all Restrictions (except Continuing Restrictions).
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2.2          Gender and Number. Except where otherwise indicated by the context, any masculine or feminine terminology used in the Plan also 
includes the opposite gender; and the definition of any term in Section 2.1 in the singular also includes the plural, and vice versa.

 
ARTICLE 3

ADMINISTRATION
 
3.1          General. The Plan will be administered by a Committee composed as described in Section 3.2.
 
3.2          Composition of the Committee. The Committee will be appointed by the Board and will consist of not less than a sufficient number of Non-

Employee Board Directors so as to qualify the Committee to administer the Plan as contemplated by Section 162(m)(4)(C) of the Code and Rule 16b-3 under 
the Exchange Act. The Board may from time to time remove members from, or add members to, the Committee. Vacancies on the Committee, however 
caused, will be filled by the Board. In the event that the Committee ceases to satisfy the requirements of Section 162(m)(4)(C) or Rule 16b-3, the Board will 
reconstitute the Committee as necessary to satisfy such requirements.

 
3.3          Authority of the Committee. The Committee has full power and authority (subject to such orders or resolutions as may be issued or adopted 

from time to time by the Board) to administer the Plan in its sole discretion, including the authority to:
 
(a)          Construe and interpret the Plan and any Award Agreement;
 
(b)          Promulgate, amend, and rescind rules and procedures relating to the implementation of the Plan;
 
(c)          Select the employees, Non-Employee Board Directors, Non-Employee Subsidiary Directors, and Consultants who will be granted 

Awards;
 
(d)          Determine the number and types of Awards to be granted to each such Participant;
 
(e)          Determine the number of Shares, or Share equivalents, to be subject to each Award;
 
(f)          Determine the Fair Market Value of Shares if no public market exists for such Shares;
 
 
(g)          Determine the option price, purchase price, base price, or similar feature for any Award;
 
(h)          Accelerate Vesting of Awards and waive any Restrictions; and
 
(i)          Determine all the terms and conditions of all Award Agreements, consistent with the requirements of the Plan.

 
Decisions of the Committee, or any delegate as permitted by the Plan, will be final, conclusive, and binding on all Participants.
 
3.4          Action by the Committee. A majority of the members of the Committee will constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. Action 

approved by a majority of the members present at any meeting at which a quorum is present, or action in writing by all of the members of the Committee, will be 
the valid acts of the Committee.

 
3.5          Delegation. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board may delegate to a committee with a single member who is a director and may also be 

an executive officer of Corporation, the authority to determine the recipients, types, amounts, and terms of Awards granted to Participants who are not 
Reporting Persons.

 
3.6          Liability of Committee Members. No member of the Committee will be liable for any action or determination made in good faith with respect 

to the Plan, any Award, or any Participant.
 
3.7          Costs of Plan. The costs and expenses of administering the Plan will be borne by Corporation.
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ARTICLE 4
DURATION OF THE PLAN AND SHARES SUBJECT TO THE PLAN1

 
4.1          Duration of the Plan. The Plan is effective May 27, 2015, 2015. Unless terminated by the Board on an earlier date, the Plan will remain in 

effect through May 27, 2020. Termination of the Plan will not affect outstanding Awards.
 
4.2          Shares Subject to the Plan. The shares which may be made subject to Awards under the Plan are Shares of Common Stock, which may be 

either authorized and unissued Shares or reacquired Shares. Subject to adjustment pursuant to Article 13, the maximum number of Shares for which Awards 
may be granted under the Plan is 4,000,000, of which the maximum aggregate number of Shares for which ISOs may be granted under the Plan is 3,600,000. If 
an Award under the Plan is canceled or expires for any reason prior to having been fully Vested or exercised by a Participant or is exchanged for other Awards, 
or is otherwise forfeited or terminated, all Shares covered by such Awards will be added back into the number of Shares available for future Awards under the 
Plan.

 
4.3          Reservation of Shares. Corporation, during the term of the Plan and any outstanding Awards, will at all times reserve and keep available 

such number of Shares as shall be sufficient to satisfy the requirements of the Plan.
 
1 Share amounts reflect 4-for-1 stock split effective June 2024.

   
ARTICLE 5

ELIGIBILITY
 
Officers and other key employees of Corporation and its Subsidiaries (including employees who may also be directors of Corporation or a 

Subsidiary), Consultants, Non-Employee Board Directors, and Non-Employee Subsidiary Directors who, in the Committee's judgment, are or will be 
contributors to the long-term success of Corporation, are eligible to receive Awards under the Plan.

 
ARTICLE 6
AWARDS

 
6.1          Types of Awards. The types of Awards that may be granted under the Plan are:

 
(a)          Options governed by Article 7 of the Plan;
 
(b)          Stock Appreciation Rights governed by Article 8 of the Plan;
 
(c)          Restricted Awards governed by Article 9 of the Plan;
 
(d)          Performance Share Awards governed by Article 10 of the Plan; and
 
(e)          Other Stock-Based Awards or combination awards governed by Article 11 of the Plan.

 
In the discretion of the Committee, any Award may be granted alone, in addition to, or in tandem with other Awards under the Plan.

 
6.2          General. Subject to the limitations of the Plan, the Committee may cause Corporation to grant Awards to such Participants, at such times, 

of such types, in such amounts, for such periods, with such option prices, purchase prices, or base prices, and subject to such terms, conditions, limitations, 
and restrictions as the Committee, in its discretion, deems appropriate. Awards may be granted as additional compensation to a Participant or in lieu of other 
compensation to such Participant. A Participant may receive more than one Award and more than one type of Award under the Plan. Performance Share 
Awards shall be earned solely upon attainment of Performance Goals, and the Committee shall have no discretion to increase such Awards.

 
6.3          Nonuniform Determinations. The Committee's determinations under the Plan or under one or more Award Agreements, including, without 

limitation, (a) the selection of Participants to receive Awards, (b) the type, form, amount, and timing of Awards, (c) the terms of specific Award Agreements, and 
(d) elections and determinations made by the Committee with respect to exercise or payments of Awards, need not be uniform and may be made by the 
Committee selectively among Participants and Awards, whether or not Participants are similarly situated.
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6.4          Award Agreements. Each Award will be evidenced by a written agreement (an "Award Agreement") between Corporation and the 

Participant. Award Agreements may, subject to the provisions of the Plan, contain any provision approved by the Committee.
 
6.5          Provisions Governing All Awards. All Awards are subject to the following provisions:

 
(a)          Alternative Awards. If any Awards are designated in their Award Agreements as alternative to each other, the exercise of all or 

part of one Award will automatically cause an immediate equal (or pro rata) corresponding termination of the other alternative Award or Awards.
 
(b)          Rights as Stockholders. No Participant will have any rights of a stockholder with respect to Shares subject to an Award until such 

Shares are issued in the name of the Participant.
 
(c)          Employment Rights. Neither the adoption of the Plan nor the granting of any Award confers on any person the right to continued 

employment with Corporation or any Subsidiary or the right to remain as a director of or a Consultant to Corporation or any Subsidiary, as the case 
may be, nor does it interfere in any way with the right of Corporation or a Subsidiary to terminate such person's employment or to remove such 
person as a Consultant or as a director at any time for any reason, or for no reason, with or without cause.

 
(d)          Restriction on Transfer. Unless otherwise expressly provided in an individual Award Agreement, each Award (other than 

Restricted Shares after they Vest) will not be transferable other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution and each Award will be 
exercisable (if exercise is required), during the lifetime of the Participant, only by the Participant or, in the event the Participant becomes legally 
incompetent, by the Participant's guardian or legal representative. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee, in its discretion, may provide in any 
Award Agreement that the Award:

 
·          May be freely transferred;
 
·          May be freely transferred to a class of transferees specified in the Award Agreement; or
 
·          May be transferred, but only subject to any terms and conditions specified in the Award Agreement (including, 

without limitation, a condition that an Award may only be transferred without payment of consideration).
 
Furthermore, notwithstanding the foregoing, any Award Agreement may provide that the Award or the Shares subject to the Award may be 
surrendered to Corporation pursuant to Section 6.5(h) in connection with the payment of the purchase or option price of another Award or the 
payment of the Participant's federal, state, or local tax withholding obligation with respect to the exercise or payment of another Award.
   

(e)          Termination of Employment. The terms and conditions under which an Award may be exercised, if at all, after a Participant's 
termination of employment or service as a Non-Employee Board Director, Non-Employee Subsidiary Director, or Consultant will be determined by 
the Committee and specified in the applicable Award Agreement.

 
(f)          Change in Control. The Committee, in its discretion, may provide in any Award Agreement that:

 
(i)          In the event of a change in control of Corporation (as the Committee may define such term in the Award Agreement), 

all or a specified portion of the Award (to the extent then outstanding) will become immediately Vested in full to the extent not previously 
Vested. Any such acceleration of Award Vesting must comply with applicable statutory and regulatory requirements and any Participant 
will be entitled to decline the accelerated Vesting of all or any portion of his or her Award, if he or she determines that such acceleration 
may result in adverse tax consequences to him or her; and

 
(ii)         In the event the Board approves a proposal for: (i) a merger, exchange or consolidation transaction in which 

Corporation is not the resulting or surviving corporation (or in which Corporation is the resulting or surviving corporation but becomes a 
subsidiary of another corporation); (ii) the transfer of all or substantially all the assets of Corporation; (iii) a sale of 40 percent or more of 
the combined voting power of Corporation's voting securities; or (iv) the dissolution or liquidation of Corporation (each, a 
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"Transaction"), the Committee will notify Participants in writing of the proposed Transaction (the "Proposal Notice") at least 30 days prior to 
the effective date of the proposed Transaction. The Committee may, in its sole discretion, and to the extent possible under the structure of 
the Transaction, select one of the following alternatives for treating outstanding Awards under the Plan:

 
(A)         The Committee may provide that outstanding Awards will be converted into or replaced by Awards of a 

similar type in the stock of the surviving or acquiring corporation in the Transaction. The amount and type of securities subject 
to and the exercise price (if applicable) of the replacement or converted Awards will be determined by the Committee based on 
the exchange ratio, if any, used in determining shares of the surviving corporation to be issued to holders of Shares of 
Corporation. If there is no exchange ratio in the Transaction, the Committee will, in making its determination, take into account 
the relative values of the companies involved in the Transaction and such other factors as the Committee deems relevant. Such 
replacement or converted Awards will continue to Vest over the period (and at the same rate) as the Awards which the 
replacement or converted Awards replaced, unless determined otherwise by the Committee;

   
(B)         The Committee may provide a 30-day period prior to the consummation of the Transaction during which all 

outstanding Awards will tentatively become fully Vested, and upon consummation of such Transaction, all outstanding and 
unexercised Awards will immediately terminate. If the Committee elects to provide such 30-day period for the exercise of 
Awards, the Proposal Notice must so state. Participants, by written notice to Corporation, may exercise their Awards and, in so 
exercising the Awards, may condition such exercise upon, and provide that such exercise will become effective immediately 
prior to, the consummation of the Transaction, in which event Participants need not make payment for any Common Stock to be 
purchased upon exercise of an Award until five days after written notice by Corporation to the Participants that the Transaction 
has been consummated (the "Transaction Notice"). If the Transaction is consummated, each Award, to the extent not 
previously exercised prior to the consummation of the Transaction, will terminate and cease being exercisable as of the 
effective date of such consummation. If the Transaction is abandoned, (1) all outstanding Awards not exercised will continue to 
be Vested and exercisable, to the extent such Awards were Vested and exercisable prior to the date of the Proposal Notice, 
and (2) to the extent that any Awards not exercised prior to such abandonment have become Vested and exercisable solely by 
operation of this Section 6.5(f)(ii), such Vesting and exercisability will be deemed annulled, and the Vesting and exercisability 
provisions otherwise in effect will be reinstituted, as of the date of such abandonment; or

 
(C)         The Committee may provide that outstanding Awards that are not fully Vested will become fully Vested 

subject to Corporation's right to pay each Participant a cash amount (determined by the Committee and based on the amount, if 
any, being received by Corporation's stockholders in the Transaction) in exchange for cancellation of the applicable Award.

 
Unless the Committee specifically provides otherwise in the change in control provision for a specific Award Agreement, Awards will 

become Vested as of a change in control date only if, or to the extent, such acceleration in the Vesting of the Awards does not result in an "excess 
parachute payment" within the meaning of Section 280G(b) of the Code. The Committee, in its discretion, may include change in control provisions in 
some Award Agreements and not in others, may include different change in control provisions in different Award Agreements, and may include 
change in control provisions for some Awards or some Participants and not for others.

 
(g)          Conditioning or Accelerating Benefits. The Committee, in its discretion, may include in any Award Agreement a provision 

conditioning or accelerating the Vesting of an Award or the receipt of benefits pursuant to an Award, either automatically or in the discretion of the 
Committee, upon the occurrence of specified events, including without limitation, a change in control of Corporation (subject to the foregoing 
paragraph (f)), a sale of all or substantially all of the property and assets of Corporation, or an event of the type described in Article 13 of this Plan.

   
(h)         Payment of Purchase Price and Withholding. The Committee, in its discretion, may include in any Award Agreement a provision 

permitting the Participant to pay the purchase or option price, if any, for the Shares or other property issuable pursuant to the Award, or the 
Participant's federal, state, or local tax withholding 
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obligations with respect to such issuance, in whole or in part, by one or more of the following methods; provided, however, that the availability of any 
one or more methods of payment may be suspended from time to time if the Committee determines that the use of such payment method would 
result in adverse financial accounting treatment for Corporation or adverse tax treatment for Corporation or Participants:

 
(i)          By delivering cash or a check;
 
(ii)         By delivering previously owned Shares (including Restricted Shares, whether or not Vested);
 
(iii)        By surrendering other outstanding Vested Awards under the Plan denominated in Shares or in Share equivalent units;
 
(iv)         By reducing the number of Shares or other property otherwise Vested and issuable pursuant to the Award;
 
(v)          Unless specifically prohibited by any applicable statute or rule, including, without limitation, the provisions of the 

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by delivering to Corporation a promissory note payable on such terms and over such period as the 
Committee may determine;

 
(vi)         In the event Shares are publicly traded, by delivery (in a form approved by the Committee) of an irrevocable direction 

to a securities broker acceptable to the Committee (subject to the provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and any other applicable 
statute or rule):

 
(A)         To sell Shares subject to the Award and to deliver all or a part of the sale proceeds to Corporation in 

payment of all or a part of the option or purchase price and taxes or withholding taxes attributable to the issuance; or
 
(B)         To pledge Shares subject to the Award to the broker as security for a loan and to deliver all or a part of the 

loan proceeds to Corporation in payment of all or a part of the option or purchase price and taxes or withholding taxes 
attributable to the issuance; or
 
(vii)        In any combination of the foregoing or in any other form approved by the Committee.
  

If Restricted Shares are surrendered in full or partial payment of the purchase or option price of Shares issuable under an Award, a 
corresponding number of the Shares issued upon exercise of the Award will be Restricted Shares subject to the same Restrictions as the 
surrendered Restricted Shares. Shares withheld or surrendered as described above will be valued based on their Fair Market Value on the date of 
the transaction. Any Shares withheld or surrendered with respect to a Reporting Person will be subject to such additional conditions and limitations 
as the Committee may impose to comply with the requirements of the Exchange Act.

 
(i)          Reporting Persons. With respect to all Awards granted to Reporting Persons, the following limitations will apply only if or to the 

extent required by Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act, unless the Award Agreement provides otherwise:
 
(i)          Awards requiring exercise will not be exercisable until at least six months after the date the Award was granted, except 

in the case of the death or Disability of the Participant; and
 
(ii)         Shares issued pursuant to any other Award may not be sold by the Participant for at least six months after acquisition, 

except in the case of the death or Disability of the Participant.
 
Award Agreements for Awards to Reporting Persons must also comply with any future restrictions imposed by such Rule 16b-3.

 
(j)          Service Periods. At the time of granting an Award, the Committee may specify, by resolution or in the Award Agreement, the 

period or periods of service performed or to be performed by the Participant in connection with the grant of the Award.
 
(k)          Clawback/Recovery. All Awards granted under the Plan will be subject to recoupment in accordance with any clawback policy 

that Corporation is required to adopt pursuant to the listing standards of any 
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national securities exchange or association on which Corporation's securities are listed or as is otherwise required by the Dodd-Frank Wall Street 
Reform and Consumer Protection Act or other applicable law, including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. In addition, the Committee may impose 
such other clawback, recovery or recoupment provisions in an Award Agreement as the Committee determines necessary or appropriate, including 
without limitation in the event the Participant accepts employment with a competitor of Corporation or otherwise competes with Corporation. No 
recovery of compensation under such a clawback policy will be an event giving rise to a right to resign for "good reason" or "constructive termination" 
(or similar term) under any agreement with Corporation or a Subsidiary.
  
6.6          Performance Goals.

 
(a)          In the event an Award is intended to be performance-based, the Committee will establish Performance Goals for each 

Performance Period on the basis of such criteria and to accomplish such objectives as the Committee may from time to time select. Unless otherwise 
permitted under Code Section 162(m), the Committee shall establish the Performance Goal(s) applicable to each Award intended to be performance-
based in writing no later than the earlier of (a) the date 90 days after the commencement of the applicable Performance Period or (b) the date on 
which 25% of the Performance Period has elapsed, and, in any event, at a time when the outcome of the Performance Goal(s) remains substantially 
uncertain. Performance Goals may be based on (i) performance criteria for the Corporation, a subsidiary, or an operating group, (ii) the performance 
of a business unit of the Corporation, (iii) a Participant's individual performance, or (iv) a combination of the three. Performance Goals may include 
objective and subjective criteria. Except with respect to goals set pursuant to Section 6.6(b), during any Performance Period, the Committee may 
adjust the Performance Goals for such Performance Period as it deems equitable in recognition of unusual or nonrecurring events affecting the 
Corporation, changes in applicable tax laws or accounting principles, or such other factors as the Committee may determine.

 
(b)          The Performance Goals for Performance Shares or Restricted Awards granted to executive officers of Corporation may relate to 

corporate performance, business unit performance, individual performance, or a combination of the three.
 
(i)          Corporate Performance Goals will be based on financial performance goals related to the performance of Corporation 

as a whole and may include one or more measures related to gross or net revenues, earnings, profitability, cash flow (including measures 
such as Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation, and Amortization (EBITDA)), efficiency, market share, gross margin, return to 
stockholders (such as earnings per share), stock price, revenue growth, return on equity, return on assets or return on invested capital, or 
other measures whether expressed as absolute amounts, ratios, or percentages of other amounts.

 
(ii)         Business unit Performance Goals will be based on a combination of financial goals and strategic goals related to the 

performance of an identified business unit for which a Participant has responsibility. Strategic goals for a business unit may include one or 
a combination of objective factors relating to success in implementing strategic plans or initiatives, introducing products or services, 
establishing new branches, identifying or completing potential acquisitions, limiting losses or containing risks, or other identifiable 
objectives. Financial goals for a business unit may include the degree to which the business unit achieves one or more objective 
measures related to its gross or net revenues, earnings, profitability, efficiency, gross margin, return on equity, or return on assets.

 
(iii)        Any corporate or business unit Performance Goals may be expressed as absolute amounts or as ratios or percentages. 

Success may be measured against various standards, including budget targets, improvement over prior periods, and performance relative 
to other companies, business units, or industry groups.

  
(iv)         Individual Performance Goals will measure success in developing and implementing particular tasks assigned to an 

individual Participant. Individual Performance Goals will naturally vary depending upon the responsibilities of individual Participants and 
may include, without limitation, goals related to success in developing and implementing particular management plans or systems, 
reorganizing departments, establishing business relationships, or resolving identified problems.
 
(c)          Prior to the payment of any Award intended to be performance-based, the Committee must certify in writing that applicable 

Performance Goals and any of the material terms thereof were, in fact, satisfied.
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ARTICLE 7
OPTIONS1

 
7.1          Types of Options. Options granted under the Plan may be in the form of Incentive Stock Options or Nonqualified Options. The grant of each 

Option and the Award Agreement governing each Option will identify the Option as an ISO or an NQO. In the event the Code is amended to provide for tax-
favored forms of stock options other than or in addition to Incentive Stock Options, the Committee may grant Options under the Plan meeting the requirements 
of such forms of options. ISOs may not be awarded unless the Plan is approved by stockholders within 12 months of adoption of the Plan.

 
7.2          General. All Options will be subject to the terms and conditions set forth in Article 6 and this Article 7 and Award Agreements governing 

Options may contain such additional terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the express provisions of the Plan, as the Committee deems desirable.
 
7.3          Option Price. Each Award Agreement for Options will state the option exercise price per Share of Common Stock purchasable under the 

Option, which may not be less than 100 percent of the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of grant for all Options.
 
7.4          Option Term. The Award Agreement for each Option will specify the term of each Option, which may be unlimited or may have a specified 

period during which the Option may be exercised, as determined by the Committee; provided, however, that no ISO may be exercisable after the expiration of 
ten years from the date such ISO is granted.

 
7.5          Time of Exercise. The Award Agreement for each Option will specify, as determined by the Committee:

 
(a)          The time or times when the Option becomes exercisable and whether the Option becomes exercisable in full or in graduated 

amounts based on: (i) continuation of employment over a period specified in the Award Agreement, (ii) satisfaction of Performance Goals or other 
criteria specified in the Award Agreement, or (iii) a combination of continuation of employment and satisfaction of Performance Goals or other 
criteria;

  
(b)          Such other terms, conditions, and restrictions as to when the Option may be exercised as determined by the Committee; and
 
(c)          The extent, if any, to which the Option will remain exercisable after the Participant ceases to be an employee, Consultant, or 

director of Corporation or a Subsidiary.
 
An Award Agreement for an Option may, in the discretion of the Committee, provide whether, and to what extent, the time when an Option becomes 
exercisable may be accelerated or otherwise modified (i) in the event of the death, Disability, or Retirement of the Participant, or (ii) upon the occurrence of a 
change in control of Corporation. The Committee may, at any time in its discretion, accelerate the time when all or any portion of an outstanding Option 
becomes exercisable.

 
7.6          Special Rules for Incentive Stock Options. In the case of an Option designated as an Incentive Stock Option, the terms of the Option and 

the Award Agreement will conform with the statutory and regulatory requirements specified pursuant to Section 422 of the Code, as in effect on the date such 
ISO is granted, including but not limited to the following requirements:

 
(a)          Limited to Employees. ISOs may be granted only to employees of Corporation or a Subsidiary;
 
(b)          Term of ISO. ISOs may not remain exercisable after the expiration of 10 years from its grant date;
 
(c)          Ten Percent Stockholders. In the case of any ISO granted to a Participant who, as of the date of grant, possesses more than 10 

percent of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of Corporation or any parent or Subsidiary of Corporation, the option exercise price 
may not be less than 110 percent of the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of grant and the ISO may not remain exercisable after the 
expiration of five years from its grant date; and

 
(d)          $100,000 Annual Limitation. In the event that Options intended to be ISOs are granted to a Participant in excess of the $100,000 

annual limitation set forth in Code Section 422(d)(1), the Options will be bifurcated so that the Options will be ISOs to the maximum extent allowable 
under that limitation and will be NQOs as to any excess over that limitation.
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7.7          Restricted Shares. In the discretion of the Committee, the Shares issuable upon exercise of an Option may have restrictions similar to 

Restricted Awards if so provided in the Award Agreement for the Option.
 
7.8          Limitation on Number of Shares Subject to Options. In no event may Options for more than 800,000 Shares be granted to any individual 

under the Plan during any calendar year. To the extent required by Section 162(m) of the Code, if any Option is canceled, the canceled Option shall continue to 
be counted against the maximum number of Shares for which Options may be granted to an individual under the Plan.
 
1 Share amounts reflect 4-for-1 stock split effective June 2024.
 

ARTICLE 8
STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS1

 
8.1          General. Stock Appreciation Rights are subject to the terms and conditions set forth in Article 6 and this Article 8 and Award Agreements 

governing Stock Appreciation Rights may contain such additional terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the express terms of the Plan, as the Committee 
deems desirable.

 
8.2          Nature of Stock Appreciation Right. A Stock Appreciation Right is an Award entitling a Participant to receive an amount equal to the excess 

(or, if the Committee determines at the time of grant, a portion of the excess) of the Fair Market Value of a Share of Common Stock on the date of exercise of 
the SAR over the base price, as described below, on the date of grant of the SAR, multiplied by the number of Shares with respect to which the SAR is being 
exercised. The base price will be designated by the Committee in the Award Agreement for the SAR and may be the Fair Market Value of a Share on the grant 
date of the SAR or such other higher price as the Committee determines. The base price may not be less than the Fair Market Value of a Share on the grant 
date of the SAR.

 
8.3          Exercise. A Stock Appreciation Right may be exercised by a Participant in accordance with procedures established by the Committee. The 

Committee may also provide that a SAR will be automatically exercised on one or more specified dates or upon the satisfaction of one or more specified 
conditions. In the case of SARs granted to Reporting Persons, exercise of the SARs will be limited by the Committee to the extent required to comply with the 
applicable requirements of Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act.

 
8.4          Form of Payment. Payment upon exercise of a Stock Appreciation Right may be made in cash, in Shares, in other property, or in any 

combination of the foregoing, or any other form as the Committee may determine.
 
8.5          Limitation on Number of Stock Appreciation Rights. In no event may more than 800,000 Stock Appreciation Rights be granted to any 

individual under the Plan during any calendar year. To the extent required by Section 162(m) of the Code, if any SAR is canceled, the canceled SAR shall 
continue to be counted against the maximum number of Shares for which SARs may be granted to an individual under the Plan.
 
1 Share amounts reflect 4-for-1 stock split effective June 2024.
 

ARTICLE 9
RESTRICTED AWARDS1

 
9.1          Types of Restricted Awards. Restricted Awards granted under the Plan may be in the form of either Restricted Shares or Restricted Units.

 
(a)          Restricted Shares. A Restricted Share is an Award of Shares to a Participant subject to such terms and conditions as the 

Committee deems appropriate, including, without limitation, a requirement that the Participant forfeit such Restricted Shares back to the Corporation 
upon termination of Participant's employment (or service as a Non-Employee Board Director, Non-Employee Subsidiary Director, or Consultant) for 
specified reasons within a specified period of time or upon other conditions, including failure to achieve Performance Goals, as set forth in the Award 
Agreement for such Restricted Shares. Each Participant receiving Restricted Shares will be issued a stock certificate in respect of such Shares, 
registered in the name of such Participant, and will execute a stock power in blank with respect to the Shares evidenced by such certificate. The 
certificate evidencing such Restricted Shares and the stock power will be held in custody by the Corporation until the Restrictions have lapsed.

   



 

-12-

(b)          Restricted Units. A Restricted Unit is an Award of units (with each unit having a value equivalent to one Share) granted to a 
Participant subject to such terms and conditions as the Committee deems appropriate, and may include a requirement that the Participant forfeit 
such Restricted Units upon termination of Participant's employment (or service as a Non-Employee Board Director, Non-Employee Subsidiary 
Director, or Consultant) for specified reasons within a specified period of time or upon other conditions, including failure to achieve Performance 
Goals, as set forth in the Award Agreement for such Restricted Units. The Committee will set the terms and conditions of the Award Agreement so 
that the Restricted Unit Award will comply with or be exempt from Code Section 409A.
 
9.2           General. Restricted Awards are subject to the terms and conditions of Article 6 and this Article 9 and Award Agreements governing 

Restricted Awards may contain such additional terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the express provisions of the Plan, as the Committee deems 
desirable.

 
9.3           Restriction Period. Award Agreements for Restricted Awards will provide that the Shares subject to Restricted Awards may not be 

transferred, and may provide that, in order for a Participant to Vest in such Restricted Awards, the Participant must remain in the employment (or remain as a 
Non-Employee Board Director, Non-Employee Subsidiary Director, or Consultant) of Corporation or its Subsidiaries, subject to relief for reasons specified in the 
Award Agreement, for a period commencing on the grant date of the Award and ending on such later date or dates as the Committee may designate at the time 
of the Award (the "Restriction Period"). During the Restriction Period, a Participant may not sell, assign, transfer, pledge, encumber, or otherwise dispose of 
Shares received under a Restricted Award grant. The Committee, in its sole discretion, may provide for the lapse of restrictions in installments during the 
Restriction Period. Upon expiration of the applicable Restriction Period (or lapse of Restrictions during the Restriction Period where the Restrictions lapse in 
installments) the Participant will be entitled to settlement of the Restricted Award or portion thereof, as the case may be. Although Restricted Awards will 
typically Vest based on continued employment (or service as a Non-Employee Board Director, Non-Employee Subsidiary Director, or Consultant), the 
Committee, in its discretion, may condition Vesting of Restricted Awards on attainment of designated Performance Goals as well as continued employment (or 
service as a Non-Employee Board Director, Non-Employee Subsidiary Director, or Consultant). In such case, the Restriction Period for such a Restricted Award 
will include the period prior to satisfaction of the Performance Goals.

 
9.4           Forfeiture. If a Participant ceases to be an employee (or Consultant, Non-Employee Board Director, or Non-Employee Subsidiary Director) 

of Corporation or a Subsidiary during the Restriction Period for any reason other than reasons which may be specified in an Award Agreement (such as death, 
Disability, or Retirement), the Award Agreement may require that all non-Vested Shares previously granted to the Participant be forfeited and returned to 
Corporation.

  
9.5          Settlement of Restricted Awards.

 
(a)          Restricted Shares. Upon Vesting of an Award of Restricted Shares, the restrictive stock legend on certificates for such Shares 

covering applicable Restrictions will be removed, the Participant's stock power will be returned, and the Shares will no longer be Restricted Shares.
 
(b)          Restricted Units. Upon Vesting of an Award of Restricted Units, a Participant is entitled to receive payment for Restricted Units in 

an amount equal to the aggregate Fair Market Value of the Shares covered by such Restricted Units at the expiration of the applicable Restriction 
Period. Payment in settlement of a Restricted Unit will be made as soon as practicable following the conclusion of the applicable Restriction Period in 
cash, in installments, in Restricted Shares or in unrestricted Shares equal to the number of Restricted Units or in any other manner or combination as 
the Committee, in its sole discretion, determines.
 
9.6           Rights as a Stockholder. A Participant has, with respect to unforfeited Shares received under an Award of Restricted Shares, all the rights 

of a stockholder of Corporation, including the right to vote the Shares and the right to receive any cash dividends. Stock dividends issued with respect to non-
Vested Shares granted under a Restricted Award will be treated as additional Shares covered by the Restricted Award and will be subject to the same 
Restrictions. A Participant will have no rights as a stockholder with respect to an Award of Restricted Units until Shares are issued to the Participant in 
settlement of the Award.

 
9.7           Limitation in Number of Restricted Awards. The maximum number of Shares with respect to which Restricted Awards may be granted to 

any individual under the Plan during any calendar year is 400,000. To the extent required by Section 162(m) of the Code, if any Restricted Award is canceled, 
the canceled Restricted Award shall continue to be counted against the maximum number of Shares for which Restricted Awards may be granted to an 
individual under the Plan.
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1 Share amounts reflect 4-for-1 stock split effective June 2024.
 

ARTICLE 10
PERFORMANCE SHARE AWARDS1

 
10.1         General. Performance Share Awards are subject to the terms and conditions set forth in Article 6 and this Article 10 and Award 

Agreements governing Performance Share Awards may contain such additional terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the express terms of the Plan, as 
the Committee deems desirable.

 
10.2         Nature of Performance Shares. Each Performance Share shall represent the right of a Participant to receive an actual Share or Share unit 

having a value equal to one Share.
 
10.3         Performance Period. At the time of each Performance Share Award, the Committee shall establish, with respect to each such Award, a 

Performance Period during which performance shall be measured. There may be more than one Performance Share Award in existence at any one time, and 
Performance Periods may differ.

  
10.4        Performance Measures. Performance Shares shall be awarded to a Participant and earned contingent upon the attainment of Performance 

Goals established in accordance with Section 6.6.
 
10.5        Payment.

 
10.5.1           Following the end of the Performance Period, a Participant holding a Performance Share Award will be entitled to receive 

payment of an amount, not exceeding the maximum value of the Performance Shares, based on the achievement of the Performance Goals for such 
Performance Period, as determined by the Committee.

 
10.5.2           Payment of Performance Shares shall be made in cash or Shares, as designated by the Committee in the Award Agreement. 

Payment shall be made in a lump sum or in installments and shall be subject to such other terms and conditions as shall be determined by the 
Committee. A Participant shall be paid with respect to the Participant's Performance Shares no later than the last date that causes the payment to 
constitute a short-term deferral that is not subject to Section 409A, unless the Award Agreement includes terms that comply with Section 409A.
 
10.6        Limitation on Performance Units. The maximum number of Shares with respect to which Performance Shares may be granted to any 

individual under the Plan during any calendar year is 400,000.
 

1 Share amounts reflect 4-for-1 stock split effective June 2024.
 

ARTICLE 11
OTHER STOCK-BASED AND COMBINATION AWARDS

 
11.1        Other Stock-Based Awards. The Committee may grant other Awards under the Plan pursuant to which Shares are or may in the future be 

acquired, or Awards denominated in or measured by Share equivalent units, including Awards valued using measures other than the market value of Shares. 
Other Stock-Based Awards are not restricted to any specific form or structure and may include, without limitation, grants of unrestricted Shares, Share purchase 
warrants, other rights to acquire Shares, and securities convertible into or redeemable for Shares. Such Other Stock-Based Awards may be granted either 
alone, in addition to, or in tandem with, any other type of Award granted under the Plan.

 
11.2        Combination Awards. The Committee may also grant Awards under the Plan in tandem or combination with other Awards or in exchange of 

Awards, or in tandem or combination with, or as alternatives to, grants or rights under any other employee plan of Corporation, including the plan of any 
acquired entity. No action authorized by this section will reduce the amount of any existing benefits or change the terms and conditions thereof without the 
Participant's consent.

  
ARTICLE 12

DIVIDEND EQUIVALENTS
 
Any Awards may, at the discretion of the Committee, earn dividend equivalents. In respect of any such Award which is outstanding on a dividend 

record date for Common Stock, the Participant may be credited with an amount equal to the amount of cash or stock dividends that would have been paid on 
the Shares covered by such Award, had such covered Shares been issued and outstanding on such dividend record date. The Committee will establish such 
rules and 
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procedures governing the crediting of dividend equivalents, including the timing, form of payment, and payment contingencies of such dividend equivalents, as 
it deems appropriate or necessary.

 
ARTICLE 13

ADJUSTMENTS UPON CHANGES IN CAPITALIZATION, ETC.
 
13.1         Plan Does Not Restrict Corporation. The existence of the Plan and the Awards granted under the Plan will not affect or restrict in any way 

the right or power of the Board or the stockholders of Corporation to make or authorize any adjustment, recapitalization, reorganization, or other change in 
Corporation's capital structure or its business, any merger or consolidation of Corporation, any issue of bonds, debentures, preferred or prior preference stocks 
ahead of or affecting Corporation's capital stock or the rights thereof, the dissolution or liquidation of Corporation or any sale or transfer of all or any part of its 
assets or business, or any other corporate act or proceeding.

 
13.2         Mandatory Adjustment. In the event of any stock dividend, stock split, reverse stock split, recapitalization, reclassification, or other 

distribution of Corporation's securities without the receipt of consideration by Corporation, of or on the Common Stock, the Committee shall make proportionate 
adjustments or substitution to the aggregate number and type of Shares for which Awards may be granted under the Plan, the maximum number and type of 
Shares which may be sold or awarded to any Participant, the number and type of Shares covered by each outstanding Award, and the base price or purchase 
price per Share in respect of outstanding Awards.

 
13.3         Adjustments by the Committee. In the event of any change in capitalization affecting the Common Stock of Corporation not described in 

Section 13.2 above, such proportionate adjustments, if any, as the Committee, in its sole discretion, may deem appropriate to reflect such change, will be made 
with respect to the aggregate number of Shares for which Awards in respect thereof may be granted under the Plan, the maximum number of Shares which 
may be sold or awarded to any Participant, the number of Shares covered by each outstanding Award, and the base price or purchase price per Share in 
respect of outstanding Awards. The Committee may also make such adjustments in the number of Shares covered by, and price or other value of, any 
outstanding Awards in the event of a spin-off or other distribution (other than normal cash dividends), of Corporation assets to stockholders.

  
ARTICLE 14

AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION
 
14.1         Amendment of Plan. The Board at any time, and from time to time, may amend or terminate the Plan; provided that the Plan will terminate 

on May 27, 2020, if not terminated by the Board on an earlier date. Except as provided in Article 13, no amendment shall be effective unless approved by the 
stockholders of the Corporation to the extent stockholder approval is required to satisfy any applicable law or securities exchange listing requirements. At the 
time of such amendment, the Board shall determine, upon advice from counsel, whether such amendment will be contingent on stockholder approval.

 
14.2         Stockholder Approval. The Board may, in its sole discretion, submit any other amendment to the Plan for stockholder approval, including, 

but not limited to, amendments to the Plan intended to satisfy the requirements of Section 162(m) of the Code and the regulations thereunder regarding the 
exclusion of performance-based compensation from the limit on corporate deductibility of compensation paid to certain executive officers.

 
14.3         Contemplated Amendments. It is expressly contemplated that the Board may amend the Plan in any respect the Board deems necessary 

or advisable to provide Participants with the maximum benefits provided or to be provided under the provisions of the Code and the regulations promulgated 
thereunder relating to Incentive Stock Options or to the nonqualified deferred compensation provisions of Code Section 409A or to bring the Plan or Awards 
granted under it into compliance therewith.

 
14.4         No Impairment of Rights. Rights under any Award granted before amendment of the Plan shall not be impaired by any amendment of the 

Plan unless (a) the Corporation requests the consent of the Participant and (b) the Participant consents in writing. However, an amendment of the Plan that 
results in a cancellation of an Award where the Participant receives a payment equal in value to the fair market value of the vested Award or, in the case of an 
Option, the difference between the Fair Market Value and the exercise price for all Shares subject to the Option, shall not be an impairment of the Participant's 
rights that requires consent of the Participant.

 
14.5         Amendment of Awards. Subject to Section 14.6, the Committee at any time, and from time to time, may amend the terms of any one or 

more Awards; provided, however, that if any such amendment impairs a Participant's rights or increases a Participant's obligations under his or her Award or 
creates or increases a Participant's federal income 
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tax liability with respect to an Award, such amendment shall also be subject to the Participant's consent (provided, however, a cancellation of an Award where 
the Participant receives a payment equal in value to the fair market value of the vested Award or, in the case of vested Options, the difference between the Fair 
Market Value of the Shares subject to an Option and the exercise price, shall not constitute an impairment of the Participant's rights that requires consent).

 
14.6         No Repricings or Underwater Buyouts. Except for adjustments made pursuant to Article 13, without the prior approval of the Corporation’s 

stockholders, no Option or SAR granted under the Plan may:
  

14.6.1           be amended to decrease the exercise price (in the case of an Option) or base price (in the case of a SAR),
 
14.6.2           be cancelled in exchange for the grant of any new Option or SAR with a lower exercise or base price or any other new 

Award, or
 
14.6.3           otherwise be subject to any action that would be treated under accounting rules or otherwise as a "repricing" of such Option 

or SAR (including a cash buyout or voluntary surrender/subsequent regrant of an underwater Option or SAR).
 

ARTICLE 15
MISCELLANEOUS

 
15.1        Tax Withholding. Corporation has the right to deduct from any settlement of any Award under the Plan, including the delivery or Vesting of 

Shares or Awards, any federal, state, or local taxes of any kind required by law to be withheld with respect to such payments or to take such other action as 
may be necessary in the opinion of Corporation to satisfy all obligations for the payment of such taxes. The recipient of any payment or distribution under the 
Plan has the obligation to make arrangements satisfactory to Corporation for the satisfaction of any such tax withholding obligations. Corporation will not be 
required to make any such payment or distribution under the Plan until such obligations are satisfied.

 
15.2        Unfunded Plan. The Plan will be unfunded and Corporation will not be required to segregate any assets that may at any time be 

represented by Awards under the Plan. Any liability of Corporation to any person with respect to any Award under the Plan will be based solely upon any 
contractual obligations that may be effected pursuant to the Plan. No such obligation of Corporation will be deemed to be secured by any pledge of, or other 
encumbrance on, any property of Corporation.

 
15.3        Payments to Trust. The Committee is authorized to cause to be established a trust agreement or several trust agreements whereunder the 

Committee may make payments of amounts due or to become due to Participants in the Plan.
 
15.4        Fractional Shares. No fractional Shares of Common Stock will be issued or delivered under the Plan or any Option and Options granted 

under the Plan will not be exercisable with respect to fractional Shares. In lieu of such fractional Shares, the Corporation will pay an amount in cash equal to the 
same fraction using the Fair Market Value of a Share of Common Stock.

 
15.5        Annulment of Awards. Any Award Agreement may provide that the grant of an Award payable in cash is revocable until cash is paid in 

settlement thereof or that grant of an Award payable in Shares is revocable until the Participant becomes entitled to the certificate in settlement thereof. In the 
event a Participant's employment (or service as a Non-Employee Board Director, Non-Employee Subsidiary Director, or Consultant) terminates for cause (as 
defined below), any Award which is revocable will be annulled as of the date of such termination for cause. For the purpose of this Section 15.5, the term "for 
cause" has the meaning set forth in the Participant's employment agreement, if any, or otherwise means any discharge (or removal) for material or flagrant 
violation of the policies and procedures of Corporation or for other performance or conduct which is materially detrimental to the best interests of Corporation, 
as determined by the Committee.

  
15.6         Engaging in Competition With Corporation. Any Award Agreement may provide that, if a Participant terminates employment (or service as 

a Non-Employee Board Director, Non-Employee Subsidiary Director, or Consultant) with Corporation or a Subsidiary for any reason whatsoever, and within a 
period of time (as specified in the Award Agreement) after the date thereof accepts employment with any competitor of (or otherwise engages in competition 
with) Corporation, the Committee, in its sole discretion, may require such Participant to return to Corporation the economic value of any Award that is realized 
or obtained (measured at the date of exercise, Vesting, or payment) by such 
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Participant at any time during the period beginning on the date that is six months prior to the date of such Participant's termination of employment (or service as 
a Non-Employee Board Director, Non-Employee Subsidiary Director, or Consultant) with Corporation.

 
15.7         Other Corporation Benefit and Compensation Programs. Payments and other benefits received by a Participant under an Award made 

pursuant to the Plan are not to be deemed a part of a Participant's regular, recurring compensation for purposes of the termination indemnity or severance pay 
law of any state or country and will not be included in, or have any effect on, the determination of benefits under any other employee benefit plan or similar 
arrangement provided by Corporation or a Subsidiary unless expressly so provided by such other plan or arrangements, or except where the Committee 
expressly determines that an Award or portion of an Award should be included to accurately reflect competitive compensation practices or to recognize that an 
Award has been made in lieu of a portion of cash compensation. Awards under the Plan may be made in combination with or in tandem with, or as alternatives 
to, grants, awards, or payments under any other Corporation or Subsidiary plans, arrangements, or programs. The Plan notwithstanding, Corporation or any 
Subsidiary may adopt such other compensation programs and additional compensation arrangements as it deems necessary to attract, retain, and reward 
employees and directors for their service with Corporation and its Subsidiaries.

 
15.8         Securities Law Restrictions. No Shares may be issued under the Plan unless counsel for Corporation is satisfied that such issuance will be 

in compliance with applicable federal and state securities laws. Certificates for Shares delivered under the Plan may be subject to such stop-transfer orders and 
other restrictions as the Committee may deem advisable under the rules, regulations, and other requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission, any 
stock exchange or registered securities association upon which the Common Stock is then listed or quoted, and any applicable federal or state securities laws. 
The Committee may cause a legend or legends to be put on any such certificates to make appropriate reference to such restrictions.

 
15.9         Continuing Restriction Agreement. Each Participant will, if requested by Corporation and as a condition to issuance of Shares under the 

Plan upon an Award or exercise of an Award granted under the Plan that results in the issuance of Shares, become a party to and be bound by a stock 
restriction or other agreement with Corporation containing restrictions on transfer of Shares, including a right of first refusal for the benefit of Corporation, a 
market stand-off provision, and such other terms as Corporation may reasonably require.

   
15.10         Governing Law. Except with respect to references to the Code or federal securities laws, the Plan and all actions taken thereunder will be 

governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the state of Maryland, without regard to principles of conflicts of laws.
 

As approved by the stockholders of Barrett Business Services, Inc., on May 27, 2015
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BARRETT BUSINESS SERVICES, INC.
AMENDED AND RESTATED 2020 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN

ARTICLE 1 
ESTABLISHMENT AND PURPOSE

1.1         Establishment. Barrett Business Services, Inc. ("Corporation"), hereby establishes the Barrett Business Services, Inc., Amended and Restated 2020 Stock 
Incentive Plan (the "Plan"), effective on the Effective Date. The original plan had an effective date of May 27, 2020.

1.2         Purpose. The purpose of the Plan is to promote and advance the interests of Corporation and its stockholders by enabling Corporation to attract, retain, and 
reward key employees, directors, and outside consultants of Corporation and its subsidiaries. It is also intended to strengthen the mutuality of interests between such employees, 
directors, and consultants and Corporation's stockholders. The Plan is designed to serve these purposes by offering stock options and other equity‑based incentive awards, 
thereby providing a proprietary interest in pursuing the long‑term growth, profitability, and financial success of Corporation.

1.3           Prior Plans. The Plan will be separate from the Barrett Business Services, Inc., 2015 Stock Incentive Plan (the "2015 Plan"). The adoption of the Plan will 
neither affect nor be affected by the continued existence of the 2015 Plan, except that after May 27, 2020, no further Awards will be granted under the 2015 Plan. The Plan will 
also be separate from the Barrett Business Services, Inc., 2009 Stock Incentive Plan, which was previously superseded by the 2015 Plan.

ARTICLE 2
DEFINITIONS

2.1           Defined Terms.  For purposes of the Plan, the following terms have the meanings set forth below:

"Award" means an award or grant made to a Participant of Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, Restricted Awards, or Performance Share Awards 
pursuant to the Plan.

"Award Agreement" means an agreement as described in Section 6.4 of the Plan.

"Board" means the Board of Directors of Corporation.

"Change in Control" means a change in the ownership or effective control of the Corporation or a change in the ownership of a substantial portion of 
the assets of the Corporation, as defined in Treasury Regulation § 1.409A‑3(i)(5) or in subsequent regulations or other guidance issued by the Internal 
Revenue Service.  For purposes of illustration, a Change in Control generally occurs on the date that:

(a)        Any one person, or more than one person acting as a group, acquires ownership of the Corporation's stock that, together with stock 
already held by the person or group, constitutes more than 50 percent of the total fair market value or total voting power of the Corporation's 
stock;

(b)        Any one person, or more than one person acting as a group, acquires (or has acquired during the 12‑month period ending on the date 
of the most recent acquisition), ownership of Corporation stock that constitutes 30 percent or more of the total voting power of the 
Corporation's stock;

(c)        A majority of members of the Board is replaced during any 12‑month period by directors whose appointment or election is not 
endorsed by a majority of the members of the Board before the appointment or election; or

(d)       Any one person, or more than one person acting as a group, acquires (or has acquired during the 12‑month period ending on the date 
of the most recent acquisition), assets from the Corporation that have a total gross fair market value equal to or more than 40 percent of the 
total gross fair market value of all of the Corporation's assets immediately before the acquisition.

"Change in Control Date" means the first date following the Grant Date on which a Change in Control has actually occurred.

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended and in effect from time to time, or any successor statute, together with rules, regulations, 
and interpretations promulgated thereunder.  Where the context so requires, any reference to a particular Code section will be construed to refer to the 
successor provision to such Code section.

"Committee" means the committee appointed by the Board to administer the Plan as provided in Article 3of the Plan.

"Common Stock" means the $.01 par value common stock of Corporation.
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"Consultant" means any consultant or adviser to Corporation or a Subsidiary selected by the Committee, who is not an employee of Corporation or a 
Subsidiary.

"Continuing Restriction" means a Restriction contained in Sections 6.5(d),6.5(g), 6.5(j),13.1,13.5,13.6, 13.8, and 13.9of the Plan and any other 
Restrictions expressly designated by the Committee in an Award Agreement as a Continuing Restriction.

"Continuous Service" means (a) for employees of Corporation or a Subsidiary, the absence of any interruption or termination of service as an employee 
and (b) for Non-Employee Board Directors and Non-Employee Subsidiary Directors, the absence of any interruption, removal, termination, or other 
cessation of service as a Non-Employee Board Director or Non-Employee Subsidiary Director.  An employee's Continuous Service is not considered 
interrupted in the case of a leave of absence or other time away from work during which Continuous Service is not considered interrupted in accordance 
with Corporation's policies.

"Corporation" means Barrett Business Services, Inc., a Maryland corporation, or any successor corporation.

"Disability" means the condition of being permanently "disabled" within the meaning of Section 22(e)(3) of the Code, namely being unable to engage in 
any substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to result in death or 
which has lasted or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than 12 months.  However, the Committee may change the foregoing 
definition of "Disability" or may adopt a different definition for purposes of specific Awards.

"Effective Date" The Effective Date of the Plan is stated on the cover page of the Plan; the Effective Date of the plan prior to its amendment and 
restatement was May 27, 2020. 

"Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended and in effect from time to time, or any successor statute.  Where the context 
so requires, any reference to a particular section of the Exchange Act, or to any rule promulgated under the Exchange Act, will be construed to refer to 
successor provisions to such section or rule.

"Fair Market Value" means, on any given day, the fair market value per share of the Common Stock determined as follows:

(a)        If the Common Stock is traded on an established securities exchange, the closing sale price per share of Common Stock as reported 
for such day by the principal exchange on which the Common Stock is traded (as determined by the Committee) or, if the Common Stock 
was not traded on such day, on the next preceding day on which the Common Stock was traded;

(b)        If trading activity in Common Stock is reported on the OTC Bulletin Board, the mean between the bid price and asked price quotes 
for such day as reported on the OTC Bulletin Board or, if there are no such quotes for Common Stock for such day, on the next preceding 
day for which bid and asked price quotes for Common Stock were reported on the OTC Bulletin Board; or 

(c)        If there is no market for Common Stock or if trading activities for Common Stock are not reported in one of the manners described 
above, the Fair Market Value will be as determined by the Committee, including valuation by an independent appraisal that satisfies the 
requirements of Code Section 401(a)(28)(C) as of a date that is no more than 12 months before the date of the transaction for which the 
appraisal is used (e.g., the Grant Date of an Award) or such other reasonable valuation method acceptable under Treasury Regulation 
Section 1.409A-1(b)(5)(iv).

"Grant Date" means the date of grant of an Award.

"Incentive Stock Option" or "ISO" means any Option granted pursuant to the Plan that is intended to be and is specifically designated in its Award 
Agreement as an "incentive stock option" within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code.

"Non-Employee Board Director" means a member of the Board who is not an employee of Corporation or any Subsidiary.

"Non-Employee Subsidiary Director" means a member of the board of directors of a Subsidiary who is neither an employee of Corporation or a 
Subsidiary nor a member of the Board.

"Nonqualified Option" or "NQO" means any Option granted pursuant to the Plan that is not an Incentive Stock Option.

"Option" means an ISO or an NQO.

"Participant" means an employee of Corporation or a Subsidiary, a Consultant, a Non‑Employee Board Director, or a Non‑Employee Subsidiary 
Director who is granted an Award under the Plan.
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"Performance Goals" means goals approved by the Committee pursuant to Section 6.6 of the Plan.

"Performance Period" means a period of time over which performance is measured.

"Performance Share" means a Share or Share unit having a value equal to a Share that is the unit of measure by which is expressed the value of a 
Performance Share Award as determined under Article 10 of the Plan.

"Performance Share Award" means an Award granted under Article 10 of the Plan.

"Plan" shall mean this Barrett Business Services, Inc., Amended and Restated 2020 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended from time to time.

"Reporting Person" means a Participant who is subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act.

"Restricted Award" means a Restricted Share or a Restricted Stock Unit granted pursuant to Article 9 of the Plan.

"Restricted Share" means an Award described in Section 9.1(a) of the Plan.

"Restricted Stock Unit" or "RSU" means an Award of units representing Shares described in Section 9.1(b) of the Plan.

"Restriction" means a provision in the Plan or in an Award Agreement that limits the exercisability or transferability, or governs the forfeiture, of an 
Award or the Shares, cash, or other property payable pursuant to an Award.

"Restriction Period" means a designated period pursuant to the provisions of Section 9.3 of the Plan.

"Share" means a share of Common Stock.

"Stock Appreciation Right" or "SAR" means an Award to benefit from the appreciation of Common Stock granted pursuant to the provisions of 
Article 8of the Plan.

"Subsidiary" means a "subsidiary corporation" of Corporation, within the meaning of Section 424 of the Code, namely any corporation in which 
Corporation directly or indirectly controls 50 percent or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock having voting power.

"Termination for Cause" means termination for conduct involving:

(a)        embezzlement, willful misconduct, gross negligence, dishonesty, or other fraudulent acts involving Corporation or its business 
operations or in the performance of Participant's duties, including but not limited to Participant's refusal to comply with legal directives of 
Participant’s supervisor, an executive officer of Corporation, or the Board;

(b)        a material breach of Participant's fiduciary duties to Corporation if the breach has not been remedied or is not being remedied to 
Corporation's reasonable satisfaction within 30 days after written notice, including a detailed description of the breach, has been delivered to 
Participant;

(c)        willful material breach of any confidentiality obligation of Participant pursuant to a separate agreement with, or confidentiality 
policy of, Corporation; or

(d)       an act or omission that materially injures Corporation's reputation, business affairs, or financial condition, if that injury reasonably 
could have been avoided by Participant, including but not limited to conviction or a plea of nolo contendere of a felony or crime involving 
dishonesty or moral turpitude.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a Participant is subject to a different definition of termination for cause in an employment or severance or similar 
agreement with Corporation, such other definition shall control.

"Vest," "Vesting," or "Vested" means:

(a)        In the case of an Award that requires exercise, to be or to become immediately and fully exercisable and free of all Restrictions 
(other than Continuing Restrictions);

(b)        In the case of an Award that is subject to forfeiture, to be or to become nonforfeitable, freely transferable, and free of all Restrictions 
(other than Continuing Restrictions);

(c)        In the case of an Award that is required to be earned by attaining specified Performance Goals, to be or to become earned and 
nonforfeitable, freely transferable, and free of all Restrictions (other than Continuing Restrictions); or
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(d)       In the case of any other Award as to which payment is not dependent solely upon the exercise of a right, election, or option, to be or 
to become immediately payable and free of all Restrictions (except Continuing Restrictions).

2.2         Number.  Except where otherwise indicated by the context, the definition of any term in Section 2.1 in the singular also includes the plural, and vice versa.

ARTICLE 3
ADMINISTRATION

3.1          General. The Plan will be administered by a Committee composed as described in Section 3.2. 

3.2          Composition of the Committee.  The Committee will be appointed by the Board and will consist of not less than a sufficient number of Non‑Employee 
Board Directors who meet the independence requirements set forth under the corporate governance standards or listing rules of the established securities exchange or quotation 
system, if any, on which the Common Stock is traded for members of a committee charged with overseeing the compensation of officers as defined in Rule 16a‑1 under the 
Exchange Act and who satisfy the definition of "Non-Employee Director" set forth in Rule 16b‑3 under the Exchange Act.  The Board may from time to time remove members 
from, or add members to, the Committee.  Vacancies on the Committee, however caused, will be filled by the Board.  In the event that the Committee ceases to satisfy the 
requirements of Rule 16b‑3, the Board will reconstitute the Committee as necessary to satisfy such requirements.

3.3          Authority of the Committee.  The Committee has full power and authority (subject to such orders or resolutions as may be issued or adopted from time to 
time by the Board) to administer the Plan in its sole discretion, including the authority to:

a. Construe and interpret the Plan and any Award Agreement;
b. Promulgate, amend, and rescind rules and procedures relating to the implementation of the Plan;
c. Select the employees, Non‑Employee Board Directors, Non‑Employee Subsidiary Directors, and Consultants who will be granted Awards;
d. Determine the number and types of Awards to be granted to each such Participant;
e. Determine the number of Shares, or Share equivalents, to be subject to each Award;
f. Determine the Fair Market Value of Shares if no public trading market exists for such Shares;
g. Determine the option exercise price, purchase price, base price, or similar feature for any Award;
h. Accelerate Vesting of Awards and waive any Restrictions;
i. Determine whether the requirement of Continuous Service has been met by a Participant; and
j. Determine all the terms and conditions of all Award Agreements, consistent with the requirements of the Plan.

Decisions of the Committee, or any delegate as permitted by the Plan, will be final, conclusive, and binding on all Participants.

3.4         Action by the Committee.  A majority of the members of the Committee will constitute a quorum for the transaction of business.  Action approved by a 
majority of the members present at any meeting at which a quorum is present, or action in writing by all of the members of the Committee, will be the valid acts of the 
Committee.

3.5         Delegation.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board may delegate to a committee with a single member who is a director (and may also be an executive 
officer) of Corporation, the authority to determine the recipients, types, amounts, and terms of Awards granted to Participants who are not Reporting Persons.

3.6         Liability of Committee Members.  No member of the Committee will be liable for any action or determination made in good faith with respect to the Plan, 
any Award, or any Participant.

3.7         Costs of Plan.  The costs and expenses of administering the Plan will be borne by Corporation.

ARTICLE 4
DURATION OF THE PLAN AND SHARES SUBJECT TO THE PLAN1

4.1         Duration of the Plan.  The Plan is effective as of the Effective Date.  Unless terminated by the Board on an earlier date, the Plan will terminate on May 27, 
2030.  Termination of the Plan will not affect outstanding Awards.

4.2         Shares Subject to the Plan.  The shares which may be made subject to Awards under the Plan are Shares of Common Stock, which may be either authorized 
and unissued Shares or reacquired Shares.  Subject to adjustment pursuant to Article 11, the maximum number of Shares for which Awards may be granted under the Plan is 
2,900,000, of which the maximum aggregate number of Shares for which ISOs may be granted under the Plan is 1,500,000. If an Award under the Plan is canceled or expires 
for any reason prior to having been fully Vested or exercised by a Participant or is exchanged for other Awards, is otherwise forfeited or terminated, or is payable or settled 
solely in cash, all Shares covered by such Awards will be added back into the number of Shares available for future Awards under the Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in 
no event will any of the following Shares again become available for 
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other Awards: (a) Shares tendered or withheld in respect of taxes, (b) Shares tendered or withheld to pay the exercise price of Options, (c) Shares repurchased by the 
Corporation from the Participant with the proceeds from the exercise of Options, and (d) Shares underlying any exercised SARs.  Shares issued in connection with awards that 
are assumed, converted, or substituted pursuant to a merger, acquisition, or similar transaction entered into by the Corporation shall not reduce the number of Shares available 
for issuance under the Plan.

4.3         Reservation of Shares. Corporation, during the term of the Plan and any outstanding Awards, will at all times reserve and keep available such number of 
Shares as shall be sufficient to satisfy the requirements of the Plan.
1 Share amounts reflect 4-for-1 stock split effective June 2024.

ARTICLE 5 
ELIGIBILITY

Officers and other key employees of Corporation and its Subsidiaries (including employees who may also be directors of Corporation or a Subsidiary), Consultants, 
Non‑Employee Board Directors, and Non-Employee Subsidiary Directors who, in the Committee's judgment, are or will be contributors to the long‑term success of 
Corporation, are eligible to receive Awards under the Plan.

ARTICLE 6
AWARDS

6.1         Types of Awards.  The types of Awards that may be granted under the Plan are:

a. Options governed by Article 7 of the Plan;
b. Stock Appreciation Rights governed by Article 8 of the Plan;
c. Restricted Awards governed by Article 9 of the Plan; and
d. Performance Share Awards governed by Article 10 of the Plan.

In the discretion of the Committee, any Award may be granted alone, in addition to, or in tandem with other Awards under the Plan.

6.2         General. Subject to the limitations of the Plan, the Committee may cause Corporation to grant Awards to such Participants, at such times, of such types, in 
such amounts, for such periods, with such option exercise prices, purchase prices, or base prices, and subject to such terms, conditions, limitations, and restrictions as the 
Committee, in its discretion, deems appropriate. A Participant may receive more than one Award and more than one type of Award under the Plan.

6.3         Nonuniform Determinations.  The Committee's determinations under the Plan or under one or more Award Agreements, including, without limitation, (a) 
the selection of Participants to receive Awards, (b) the type, form, amount, and timing of Awards, (c) the terms of specific Award Agreements, and (d) elections and 
determinations made by the Committee with respect to exercise or payments of Awards, need not be uniform and may be made by the Committee selectively among 
Participants and Awards, whether or not Participants are similarly situated.

6.4         Award Agreements.  Each Award will be evidenced by a written agreement (an "Award Agreement") between Corporation and the Participant.  Award 
Agreements may, subject to the provisions of the Plan, contain any provision approved by the Committee.

6.5         Provisions Governing All Awards.  All Awards are subject to the following provisions:

a. Alternative Awards.  If any Awards are designated in their Award Agreements as alternative to each other, the exercise of all or part of one 
Award will automatically cause an immediate equal (or pro rata) corresponding termination of the other alternative Award or Awards.

b. Rights as Stockholders.  No Participant will have any rights of a stockholder with respect to Shares subject to an Award until such Shares are 
issued in the name of the Participant, including the right to receive cash dividends or dividend equivalents.  

c. Employment Rights.  Neither the adoption of the Plan nor the granting of any Award confers on any person the right to continued employment 
with Corporation or any Subsidiary or the right to remain as a director of or a Consultant to Corporation or any Subsidiary, as the case may be, nor does it interfere 
in any way with the right of Corporation or a Subsidiary to terminate such person's employment or to remove such person as a Consultant or as a director at any 
time for any reason, or for no reason, with or without cause.

d. Restriction on Transfer.  No Award (other than Restricted Shares after they Vest) will be transferable other than by will or the laws of descent 
and distribution and each Award will be exercisable (if exercise is required), during the lifetime of the Participant, only by the Participant or, in the event the 
Participant becomes legally incompetent, by the 
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Participant's guardian or legal representative. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any Award may be surrendered to the Corporation pursuant to Section 6.5(g).

e. Termination of Continuous Service.  The terms and conditions under which an Award may be exercised, if at all, after a Participant's 
termination of Continuous Service will be determined by the Committee and specified in the applicable Award Agreement.

f. Change in Control.  The Committee, in its discretion, may provide in any Award Agreement that:

i. In the event of a Change in Control, all or a specified portion of the Award (to the extent then outstanding) will become immediately 
Vested in full to the extent not previously Vested.  Any such acceleration of Award Vesting must comply with applicable statutory and regulatory 
requirements.  A Participant will be entitled to decline the accelerated Vesting of all or any portion of his or her Award, if he or she determines that such 
acceleration may result in adverse tax consequences to him or her; and

ii. In the event the Board approves a proposal for:  (1) a merger, exchange or consolidation transaction in which Corporation is not the 
resulting or surviving corporation (or in which Corporation is the resulting or surviving corporation but becomes a subsidiary of another corporation); 
(2) the transfer of all or substantially all the assets of Corporation; (3) a sale of 50 percent or more of the combined voting power of Corporation's voting 
securities; or (4) the dissolution or liquidation of Corporation (each, a "Transaction"), the Committee will notify Participants in writing of the proposed 
Transaction (the "Proposal Notice") at least 30 days prior to the effective date of the proposed Transaction.  The Committee may, in its sole discretion, 
and to the extent possible under the structure of the Transaction, select one of the following alternatives for treating outstanding Awards under the Plan:

A. The Committee may provide that outstanding Awards will be converted into or replaced by Awards of a similar type in 
the stock of the surviving or acquiring corporation in the Transaction.  The amount and type of securities subject to and the exercise price (if 
applicable) of the replacement or converted Awards will be determined by the Committee based on the exchange ratio, if any, used in 
determining shares of the surviving corporation to be issued to holders of Shares of Corporation.  If there is no exchange ratio in the 
Transaction, the Committee will, in making its determination, take into account the relative values of the companies involved in the 
Transaction and such other factors as the Committee deems relevant.  Such replacement or converted Awards will continue to Vest over the 
period (and at the same rate) as the Awards which the replacement or converted Awards replaced, unless determined otherwise by the 
Committee;

B. The Committee may provide a 30-day period prior to the consummation of the Transaction during which all outstanding 
Awards will tentatively become fully Vested, and upon consummation of such Transaction, all outstanding and unexercised Awards will 
immediately terminate.  If the Committee elects to provide such 30-day period for the exercise of Awards, the Proposal Notice must so state.  
Participants, by written notice to Corporation, may exercise their Awards and, in so exercising the Awards, may condition such exercise 
upon, and provide that such exercise will become effective immediately prior to, the consummation of the Transaction, in which event 
Participants need not make payment for any Common Stock to be purchased upon exercise of an Award until five days after written notice 
by Corporation to the Participants that the Transaction has been consummated (the "Transaction Notice").  If the Transaction is 
consummated, each Award, to the extent not previously exercised prior to the consummation of the Transaction, will terminate and cease 
being exercisable as of the effective date of such consummation. If the Transaction is abandoned, (1) all outstanding Awards not exercised 
will continue to be Vested and exercisable, to the extent such Awards were Vested and exercisable prior to the date of the Proposal Notice, 
and (2) to the extent that any Awards not exercised prior to such abandonment have become Vested and exercisable solely by operation of 
this Section 6.5(f)(ii), such Vesting and exercisability will be deemed annulled, and the Vesting and exercisability provisions otherwise in 
effect will be reinstituted, as of the date of such abandonment; or

C. The Committee may provide that outstanding Awards that are not fully Vested will become fully Vested subject to 
Corporation's right to pay each Participant a cash amount (determined by the Committee and based on the amount, if any, being received by 
Corporation's stockholders in the Transaction) in exchange for cancellation of the applicable Award.

Unless the Committee specifically provides otherwise in the Change in Control provision for a specific Award Agreement, Awards will become Vested 
as of a Change in Control Date only if, or to the extent, such acceleration in the Vesting of the Awards does not result in an "excess parachute payment" within the 
meaning of Section 280G(b) of the Code.  The Committee, in its discretion, may include Change in Control provisions in some Award Agreements and not in 
others, may include different Change in Control provisions in different Award Agreements, and may include Change in Control provisions for some Awards or 
some Participants and not for others.
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g. Payment of Purchase Price and Withholding.  The Committee, in its discretion, may include in any Award Agreement a provision permitting 
the Participant to pay (x) the purchase or option exercise price, if any, for the Shares or other property issuable pursuant to the Award, or (y) the Participant's 
federal, state, or local tax withholding obligations with respect to such issuance (which in no event may exceed the amount calculated based on the maximum 
individual tax rates in the jurisdiction applicable to the Participant), in whole or in part, by one or more of the following methods; provided, however, that the 
availability of any one or more methods of payment may be suspended from time to time if the Committee determines that the use of such payment method would 
result in adverse financial accounting treatment for the Corporation or a violation of laws or regulations applicable to the Corporation:

i. By delivering cash or a check;
ii. By delivering previously owned Shares (excluding Restricted Shares that have not Vested);
iii. By reducing the number of Shares or other property otherwise Vested and issuable pursuant to the Award (other than Awards of ISOs);
iv. In the event Shares are publicly traded, by delivery (in a form approved by the Committee) of an irrevocable direction to a securities 

broker acceptable to the Committee (subject to the provisions of any applicable statute or rule), to sell Shares subject to the Award and 
to deliver all or a part of the sale proceeds to Corporation; or

v. In any combination of the foregoing or in any other form approved by the Committee.

Shares withheld or surrendered as described above will be valued based on their Fair Market Value on the date of the transaction. Any Shares withheld 
or surrendered with respect to a Reporting Person will be subject to such additional conditions and limitations as the Committee may impose to comply with the 
requirements of the Exchange Act.

h. Minimum Vesting Period.  No Award may Vest in whole or in part before the one-year anniversary of the Grant Date; provided that the 
Committee may grant Awards without regard to the foregoing minimum Vesting requirement with respect to a maximum of five percent of the available share 
reserve authorized for issuance under the Plan pursuant to Section 4.2; and provided, further, that the foregoing restriction does not apply to the Committee’s 
discretion to provide for acceleration of Vesting of any Award pursuant to Section 3.3(h), including in cases of retirement, death, Disability or a Change in Control, 
in the terms of the Award or otherwise.

i. Service Periods.  At the time of granting an Award, the Committee may specify, by resolution or in the Award Agreement, the period or periods 
of service performed or to be performed by the Participant in connection with the grant of the Award.

j. Clawback/Recovery.  All compensation pursuant to Awards granted under the Plan will be subject to recoupment as required (i) by the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 or other applicable law or (ii) by any clawback policy that the Corporation is required or the Board determines to adopt, including 
under the listing standards, if any, of any national securities exchange or association on which the Corporation's securities are listed or as is otherwise required by 
the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act.  In addition, the Committee may impose such other clawback, recovery, or recoupment 
provisions in an Award Agreement as the Committee determines necessary or appropriate in its sole discretion, including without limitation in the event the 
Participant accepts employment with a competitor of the Corporation or otherwise competes with the Corporation.  No recovery of compensation under such a 
clawback policy will be an event giving rise to a right to resign for "good reason" or "constructive termination" (or similar term) under any agreement with the 
Corporation or a Subsidiary.

6.6          Performance Goals.  In the event an Award is intended to be performance-based, the Committee will establish Performance Goals for each Performance 
Period on the basis of such criteria and to accomplish such objectives as the Committee may from time to time select.  Performance Goals may be based on (a) performance 
criteria for the Corporation, a Subsidiary, an operating group, or a branch, (b) a Participant's individual performance, or (c) a combination of both.  Performance Goals may 
include objective and subjective criteria.  During any Performance Period, the Committee may adjust the Performance Goals for such Performance Period as it deems equitable 
in recognition of unusual or nonrecurring events affecting the Corporation, changes in applicable tax laws or accounting principles, or such other factors as the Committee may 
determine in its sole discretion.  Prior to the payment of any Award intended to be performance-based, the Committee must certify, which certification shall be documented in 
writing, that applicable Performance Goals and any of the material terms thereof were, in fact, satisfied.

6.7          Maximum Awards to Non-Employee Board Directors.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Plan, the value of all Awards awarded under this 
Plan plus all other cash compensation paid by the Corporation to any Non-Employee Board Director in any calendar year shall not exceed a total of $400,000.  For the purpose 
of this limitation, the value of any Award shall be its grant date fair value, as determined in accordance with ASC 718 or any successor provision but excluding the impact of 
estimated forfeitures related to service-based vesting provisions.
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ARTICLE 7
OPTIONS

7.1          Types of Options.  Options granted under the Plan may be in the form of Incentive Stock Options or Nonqualified Options.  The grant of each Option and 
the Award Agreement governing each Option will identify the Option as an ISO or an NQO.  In the event the Code is amended to provide for tax favored forms of stock 
options other than or in addition to Incentive Stock Options, the Committee may grant Options under the Plan meeting the requirements of such forms of options. ISOs may not 
be awarded unless the Plan is approved by stockholders within 12 months of adoption of the Plan.

7.2          General. All Options will be subject to the terms and conditions set forth in Article 6 and this Article 7 and Award Agreements governing Options may 
contain such additional terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the express provisions of the Plan, as the Committee deems desirable.

7.3          Option Price.  Each Award Agreement for Options will state the option exercise price per Share of Common Stock purchasable under the Option, which 
may not be less than 100 percent of the Fair Market Value of a Share on the Grant Date for all Options.

7.4          Option Term.  The Award Agreement for each Option will specify the term of each Option as determined by the Committee; provided, however, that the 
term may not exceed 10 years from the Grant Date of such Option.

7.5          Time of Exercise.  The Award Agreement for each Option will specify, as determined by the Committee:

a. The time or times when the Option becomes Vest and exercisable and whether the Option becomes Vested in full or in graduated amounts 
based on:  (i) Continuous Service over a period specified in the Award Agreement, (ii) satisfaction of Performance Goals or other criteria specified in the Award 
Agreement, or (iii) a combination of Continuous Service and satisfaction of Performance Goals or other criteria;

b. Such other terms, conditions, and restrictions as to when the Option may be exercised as determined by the Committee; and 

c. The extent, if any, to which the Option will remain exercisable after termination of the Participant's Continuous Service.

7.6           Special Rules for Incentive Stock Options.  In the case of an Option designated as an Incentive Stock Option, the terms of the Option and the Award 
Agreement will conform with the statutory and regulatory requirements specified pursuant to Section 422 of the Code, as in effect on the date such ISO is granted, including but 
not limited to the following requirements:

a. Limited to Employees.  ISOs may be granted only to employees of Corporation or a Subsidiary;

b. Ten Percent Stockholders.  In the case of any ISO granted to a Participant who, as of the Grant Date, possesses more than 10 percent of the total 
combined voting power of all classes of stock of Corporation or any parent or Subsidiary of Corporation, the option exercise price may not be less than 110 percent 
of the Fair Market Value of a Share on the Grant Date and the ISO may not remain exercisable after the expiration of five years from its Grant Date; and

c. $100,000 Annual Limitation.  In the event that Options intended to be ISOs are granted to a Participant in excess of the $100,000 annual 
limitation set forth in Code Section 422(d)(1), the Options will be bifurcated so that the Options will be ISOs to the maximum extent allowable under that limitation 
and will be NQOs as to any excess over that limitation.

7.7            Restricted Shares.  In the discretion of the Committee, the Shares issuable upon exercise of an Option may have restrictions similar to Restricted Awards 
if so provided in the Award Agreement for the Option.

ARTICLE 8
STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS

8.1           General. Stock Appreciation Rights are subject to the terms and conditions set forth in Article 6 and this Article 8 and Award Agreements governing 
Stock Appreciation Rights may contain such additional terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the express terms of the Plan, as the Committee deems desirable.

8.2           Nature of Stock Appreciation Right.  A Stock Appreciation Right is an Award entitling a Participant to receive an amount equal to the excess (or, if the 
Committee determines at the time of grant, a portion of the excess) of the Fair Market Value of a Share of Common Stock on the date of exercise of the SAR over the base 
price, as described below, on the Grant Date of the SAR, multiplied by the number of Shares with respect to which the SAR is being exercised.  The base price will be 
designated by the Committee in the Award Agreement for the SAR and may be the Fair Market Value of a Share on the Grant Date of the SAR or such other higher price as the 
Committee determines.  The base price may not be less than the Fair Market Value of a Share on the Grant Date of the SAR.
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8.3          Exercise. A Stock Appreciation Right may be exercised by a Participant in accordance with procedures established by the Committee.  The Committee 
may also provide that a SAR will be automatically exercised on one or more specified dates or upon the satisfaction of one or more specified conditions.

8.4          Form of Payment.  Payment upon exercise of a Stock Appreciation Right may be made in cash, in Shares, in other property, or in any combination of the 
foregoing, or any other form as the Committee may determine.

ARTICLE 9
RESTRICTED AWARDS

9.1          Types of Restricted Awards.  Restricted Awards granted under the Plan may be in the form of either Restricted Shares or Restricted Stock Units.

a. Restricted Shares.  An Award of Restricted Shares is an Award of Shares subject to such terms and conditions as the Committee deems 
appropriate, including, without limitation, a requirement that the Participant forfeit such Restricted Shares back to the Corporation upon termination of the 
Participant's Continuous Service for specified reasons within a specified period of time or upon other conditions, as set forth in the Award Agreement for such 
Restricted Shares.  Each Participant receiving Restricted Shares will be issued a stock certificate (or other evidence of ownership on the books of the Corporation or 
the Corporation's duly authorized transfer agent) in respect of such Shares, registered in the name of such Participant, and will execute and deliver to the 
Corporation a stock power in blank with respect to the Shares evidenced by such certificate, if any.

b. Restricted Stock Units. An Award of Restricted Stock Units is an Award of RSUs (with each RSU having a value equivalent to one Share) 
granted to a Participant subject to such terms and conditions as the Committee deems appropriate, and may include a requirement that the Participant forfeit such 
RSUs upon termination of Participant's Continuous Service for specified reasons within a specified period of time or upon other conditions, as set forth in the 
Award Agreement for such RSUs.  The Committee will set the terms and conditions of the Award Agreement so that the Award of RSUs will comply with or be 
exempt from Code Section 409A.

9.2          General.  Restricted Awards are subject to the terms and conditions of Article 6 and this Article 9 and Award Agreements governing Restricted Awards 
may contain such additional terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the express provisions of the Plan, as the Committee deems desirable.

9.3          Restriction Period.  Award Agreements for Restricted Awards will provide that the Shares subject to Restricted Awards may not be transferred, and may 
provide that, in order for a Participant to Vest in such Restricted Awards, the Participant's Continuous Service must not be terminated, subject to relief for reasons specified in 
the Award Agreement, for a period commencing on the Grant Date of the Award and ending on such later date or dates as the Committee may designate at the time of the 
Award (the "Restriction Period").  During the Restriction Period, a Participant may not sell, assign, transfer, pledge, encumber, or otherwise dispose of Shares received under a 
Restricted Award grant. The Committee, in its sole discretion, may provide for the lapse of restrictions in installments during the Restriction Period.  Upon expiration of the 
applicable Restriction Period (or lapse of Restrictions during the Restriction Period where the Restrictions lapse in installments) the Participant will be entitled to settlement of 
the Restricted Award or portion thereof, as the case may be.

9.4         Forfeiture.  If a Participant's Continuous Service is terminated during the Restriction Period for any reason other than reasons which may be specified in an 
Award Agreement (such as death or Disability), the Award Agreement may require that all non‑Vested Restricted Shares or RSUs previously granted to the Participant be 
forfeited and, with respect to Restricted Shares, returned to Corporation.

9.5         Settlement of Restricted Awards.

a. Restricted Shares.  Upon Vesting of an Award of Restricted Shares, the restrictive stock legend on certificates, if any, for such Shares 
noting applicable Restrictions will be removed, the Participant's stock power, if any, will be returned, any stop transfer instructions in 
the records of the Corporation or its transfer agent will be removed, and the Shares will no longer be Restricted Shares.

b. Restricted Stock Units. Upon Vesting of an Award of RSUs, a Participant is entitled to receive payment in an amount equal to the 
aggregate Fair Market Value of the Shares covered by such RSUs at the expiration of the applicable Restriction Period.  Payment in 
settlement of RSUs will be made as soon as practicable following the conclusion of the applicable Restriction Period in cash, in 
installments, in Restricted Shares, or in unrestricted Shares equal to the number of RSUs, or in any other manner or combination as the 
Award Agreement approved by the Committee, in its sole discretion, provides.  A Participant shall be paid with respect to the 
Participant's RSUs no later than the last date that causes the payment to constitute a short-term deferral that is not subject to Section 
409A, unless the Award Agreement includes terms that comply with Section 409A.
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9.6          Rights as a Stockholder.  Until the Restrictions have lapsed with respect to Restricted Shares, a Participant will have voting rights as to such Restricted 
Shares, but cash dividends or dividend equivalents will not be paid or accrued with respect to such Restricted Shares.  Stock dividends issued with respect to non-Vested Shares 
granted under a Restricted Award will be treated as additional Shares covered by the Restricted Award and will be subject to the same Restrictions. A Participant will have no 
rights as a stockholder with respect to an Award of RSUs until Shares are issued to the Participant in settlement of the Award.

ARTICLE 10
PERFORMANCE SHARE AWARDS

10.1        General. Performance Share Awards are subject to the terms and conditions set forth in Article 6 and this Article 10 and Award Agreements governing 
Performance Share Awards may contain such additional terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the express terms of the Plan, as the Committee deems desirable.

10.2        Nature of Performance Shares.  Each Performance Share shall represent the right of a Participant to receive an actual Share or Share unit having a value 
equal to one Share.

10.3        Performance Period.  At the time of each Performance Share Award, the Committee shall establish, with respect to each such Award, a Performance 
Period during which performance shall be measured.  There may be more than one Performance Share Award in existence with respect to a given Participant at any one time, 
and Performance Periods may differ.   

10.4        Performance Measures.  Performance Shares shall be awarded to a Participant and earned contingent upon the attainment of Performance Goals 
established in accordance with Section 6.6.

10.5        Payment.

10.5.1   Following the end of the Performance Period, a Participant holding a Performance Share Award will be entitled to receive payment of an 
amount, not exceeding the maximum value of the Performance Shares, based on the achievement of the Performance Goals for such Performance Period, as 
determined by the Committee.

10.5.2   Payment of Performance Shares shall be made in cash or Shares, as designated by the Committee in the Award Agreement.  Payment shall be 
made in a lump sum or in installments and shall be subject to such other terms and conditions as shall be determined by the Committee.  A Participant shall be paid 
with respect to the Participant's Performance Shares no later than the last date that causes the payment to constitute a short-term deferral that is not subject to 
Section 409A, unless the Award Agreement includes terms that comply with Section 409A.

ARTICLE 11
ADJUSTMENTS UPON CHANGES IN CAPITALIZATION, ETC.

11.1         Plan Does Not Restrict Corporation.  The existence of the Plan and the Awards granted under the Plan will not affect or restrict in any way the right or 
power of the Board or the stockholders of Corporation to make or authorize any adjustment, recapitalization, reorganization, or other change in Corporation's capital structure 
or its business, any merger or consolidation of Corporation, any issue of bonds, debentures, preferred or prior preference stocks ahead of or affecting Corporation's capital stock 
or the rights thereof, the dissolution or liquidation of Corporation or any sale or transfer of all or any part of its assets or business, or any other corporate act or proceeding.

11.2          Mandatory Adjustment.  In the event of any stock dividend, stock split, reverse stock split, recapitalization, reclassification, or other distribution of 
Corporation's securities without the receipt of consideration by Corporation, of or on the Common Stock, the Committee shall make proportionate adjustments or substitution to 
the aggregate number and type of Shares for which Awards may be granted under the Plan, the maximum number and type of Shares which may be sold or awarded to any 
Participant, the number and type of Shares covered by each outstanding Award, and the base price, exercise price, or purchase price per Share in respect of outstanding Awards.

11.3          Adjustments by the Committee.  In the event of any change in capitalization affecting the Common Stock not described in Section 13.2 above, such 
proportionate adjustments, if any, as the Committee, in its sole discretion, may deem appropriate to reflect such change, will be made with respect to the aggregate number of 
Shares for which Awards in respect thereof may be granted under the Plan, the maximum number of Shares which may be sold or awarded to any Participant, the number of 
Shares covered by each outstanding Award, and the base price, exercise price, or purchase price per Share in respect of outstanding Awards. The Committee may also make 
such adjustments in the number of Shares covered by, and price or other value of, any outstanding Awards in the event of a spin‑off or other distribution (other than normal 
cash dividends), of Corporation assets to stockholders.

ARTICLE 12
AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION
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12.1          Amendment of Plan.  The Board at any time, and from time to time, may amend or terminate the Plan; provided that the Plan will terminate 10 years after 
the Effective Date, if not terminated by the Board on an earlier date.  No amendment shall be effective unless approved by the stockholders of the Corporation to the extent 
stockholder approval is required to satisfy any applicable law or securities exchange listing requirements.  At the time of such amendment, the Board shall determine whether 
such amendment will be contingent on stockholder approval. The Board may, in its sole discretion, submit any other amendment to the Plan for stockholder approval.

12.2          Contemplated Amendments.  It is expressly contemplated that the Board may amend the Plan in any respect the Board deems necessary or advisable to 
provide Participants with the maximum benefits provided or to be provided under the provisions of the Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder relating to Incentive 
Stock Options or to the nonqualified deferred compensation provisions of Code Section 409A or to bring the Plan or Awards granted under it into compliance therewith.

12.3          No Impairment of Rights.  Rights under any Award granted before amendment of the Plan shall not be impaired by any amendment of the Plan unless (a) 
the Corporation requests the consent of the Participant and (b) the Participant consents in writing. However, an amendment of the Plan that results in a cancellation of an Award 
where the Participant receives a payment equal in value to the fair market value of the vested Award or, in the case of an Option, the difference between the Fair Market Value 
and the exercise price for all Shares subject to the Option, shall not be an impairment of the Participant's rights that requires consent of the Participant.

12.4          Amendment of Awards.  Subject to Section 12.5, the Committee at any time, and from time to time, may amend the terms of any one or more Awards; 
provided, however, that if any such amendment impairs a Participant's rights or increases a Participant's obligations under the Participant’s Award or creates or increases a 
Participant's federal income tax liability with respect to an Award, such amendment shall also be subject to the Participant's consent (provided, however, a cancellation of an 
Award where the Participant receives a payment equal in value to the fair market value of the Vested Award or, in the case of Vested Options, the difference between the Fair 
Market Value of the Shares subject to an Option and the exercise price, shall not constitute an impairment of the Participant's rights that requires consent).

12.5          No Repricings or Underwater Buyouts.  Except for adjustments made pursuant to Article 13, without the prior approval of the Corporation's stockholders, 
no Option or SAR granted under the Plan may:

12.5.1 be amended to decrease the exercise price (in the case of an Option) or base price (in the case of a SAR),

12.5.2 be cancelled in exchange for the grant of any new Option or SAR with a lower exercise or base price or any other new Award, or

12.5.3 otherwise be subject to any action that would be treated under accounting rules or otherwise as a "repricing" of such Option or SAR (including a 
cash buyout or voluntary surrender/subsequent regrant of an underwater Option or SAR).

ARTICLE 13
MISCELLANEOUS

13.1           Tax Withholding. Corporation has the right, prior to and as a condition to settlement of any Award under the Plan, including the delivery or Vesting of 
Shares or Awards, to require the Participant to remit to the Corporation an amount sufficient to satisfy any federal, state, or local taxes of any kind required by law to be 
withheld with respect to such settlement or to take such other action as may be necessary in the opinion of Corporation to satisfy all obligations for the payment of such taxes. 
The recipient of any payment or distribution under the Plan has the obligation to make arrangements satisfactory to Corporation for the satisfaction of any such tax withholding 
obligations. Corporation will not be required to make any such payment or distribution under the Plan unless such obligations are satisfied.

13.2            Unfunded Plan.  The Plan will be unfunded and Corporation will not be required to segregate any assets that may at any time be represented by Awards 
under the Plan. Any liability of Corporation to any person with respect to any Award under the Plan will be based solely upon any contractual obligations that may be effected 
pursuant to the Plan.  No such obligation of Corporation will be deemed to be secured by any pledge of, or other encumbrance on, any property of Corporation.

13.3            Payments to Trust.  The Committee is authorized to cause to be established a trust agreement or several trust agreements whereunder the Committee 
may make payments of amounts due or to become due to Participants in the Plan.

13.4            Fractional Shares.  No fractional Shares will be issued or delivered under the Plan or any Option and Options granted under the Plan will not be 
exercisable with respect to fractional Shares.  In lieu of such fractional Shares, the Corporation will pay an amount in cash equal to the same fraction using the Fair Market 
Value of a Share of Common Stock.

13.5            Annulment of Awards.  Any Award Agreement may provide that the grant of an Award payable in cash is revocable until cash is paid in settlement 
thereof or that grant of an Award payable in Shares is revocable until the Participant becomes entitled to the certificate (or other evidence of ownership) in settlement thereof.  
In the event a Participant's Continuous Service is terminated due to Termination for Cause, any Award which is revocable will be annulled as of the date of such Termination 
for Cause.
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13.6            Engaging in Competition with Corporation.  Any Award Agreement may provide that, if a Participant's Continuous Service is terminated voluntarily 
and within a period of time (as specified in the Award Agreement) after the date thereof accepts employment with any competitor of (or otherwise engages in competition with) 
Corporation, the Committee, in its sole discretion, may require such Participant to return to Corporation the economic value of any Award that is realized or obtained (measured 
at the date of exercise, Vesting, or payment) by such Participant at any time during the period beginning on the date that is six months prior to the date that such Participant's 
Continuous Service is terminated.

13.7           Other Benefit and Compensation Programs.  Payments and other benefits received by a Participant under an Award made pursuant to the Plan are not to 
be deemed a part of a Participant's regular, recurring compensation for purposes of the termination indemnity or severance pay law of any state or country and will not be 
included in, or have any effect on, the determination of benefits under any other employee benefit plan or similar arrangement provided by Corporation or a Subsidiary unless 
expressly so provided by such other plan or arrangements, or except where the Committee expressly determines that an Award or portion of an Award should be included to 
accurately reflect competitive compensation practices or to recognize that an Award has been made in lieu of a portion of cash compensation.  Awards under the Plan may be 
made in combination with or in tandem with, or as alternatives to, grants, awards, or payments under any other Corporation or Subsidiary plans, arrangements, or programs.  
The Plan notwithstanding, Corporation or any Subsidiary may adopt such other compensation programs and additional compensation arrangements as it deems necessary to 
attract, retain, and reward employees and directors for their service with Corporation and its Subsidiaries.

13.8            Securities Law Restrictions.  No Shares may be issued under the Plan unless counsel for Corporation is satisfied that such issuance will be in 
compliance with applicable federal and state securities laws.  Certificates for, or other evidence of ownership of, Shares delivered under the Plan may be subject to such 
stop‑transfer orders and other restrictions as the Committee may deem advisable under the rules, regulations, and other requirements of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, any stock exchange or registered securities association upon which the Common Stock is then listed or quoted, and any applicable federal or state securities laws.  
The Committee may cause a legend or legends to be put on any such certificates to make appropriate reference to such restrictions.

13.9            Continuing Restriction Agreement.  Each Participant will, if requested by Corporation and as a condition to issuance of Shares under the Plan upon an 
Award or exercise of an Award granted under the Plan that results in the issuance of Shares, become a party to and be bound by a stock restriction or other agreement with 
Corporation containing restrictions on transfer of Shares, including, without limitation, a right of first refusal for the benefit of Corporation, a market stand-off provision, or 
such other terms as Corporation may reasonably require.

13.10          Governing Law.  Except with respect to references to the Code or federal securities laws, the Plan and all actions taken thereunder will be governed by 
and construed in accordance with the laws of the state of Maryland, without regard to principles of conflicts of laws.

As approved by the stockholders of Barrett Business Services, Inc., on June 5, 2023.



EXHIBIT 10.5
 

AWARD AGREEMENT
Under The

Barrett Business Services, Inc.
2015 Stock Incentive Plan
(amended and restated)

 
NONQUALIFIED STOCK OPTION

 
Corporation: BARRETT BUSINESS SERVICES, INC.

8100 N.E. Parkway Drive, Suite 200
Vancouver, Washington 98662

Participant: Tom Carley
10810 S.W. Tualatin-Sherwood Hwy.
Building 1, Unit 2
Tualatin, Oregon 97062

Date: July 1, 2016
 
Corporation maintains the Barrett Business Services, Inc., 2015 Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plan”).

This Award Agreement evidences the grant of a Nonqualified Option (the “Option”) to Participant under Article 7 of the Plan. 

The parties agree as follows:

1. Defined Terms
When used in this Agreement, the following terms have the meaning specified below:

(a) “Acquiring Person” means any person or related person or related persons which constitute a “group” for purposes of Section 13(d) and Rule 
13d-5 under the Exchange Act, as such Section and Rule are in effect as of the Grant Date; provided, however, that the term Acquiring Person shall not include 
(i) Corporation or any of its Subsidiaries, (ii) any employee benefit plan of Corporation or any of its Subsidiaries, (iii) any entity holding voting capital stock of 
Corporation for or pursuant to the terms of any such employee benefit plan, or (iv) any person or group solely because such person or group has voting power 
with respect to capital stock of Corporation arising from a revocable proxy or consent given in response to a public proxy or consent solicitation made pursuant 
to the Exchange Act.
 

(b) “Change in Control” means:
 

(i) A change in control of Corporation of a nature that would be required to be reported in response to Item 6(e) of Schedule 14A of Regulation 14A 
as in effect on the Grant Date pursuant to the Exchange Act; provided that, without limitation, such a change in control shall be deemed to have occurred at 
such time as any Acquiring Person hereafter becomes the “beneficial owner” (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of 40 
percent or more of the combined voting power of Voting Securities; or
 

(ii) During any period of 12 consecutive calendar months, individuals who at the beginning of such period constitute the Board cease for any reason 
to constitute at least a majority thereof unless the election, or the nomination for election, by Corporation stockholders of each new director was approved by a 
vote of at least a majority of the directors then in office who were directors at the beginning of the period; or
 

(iii) There shall be consummated (1) any consolidation or merger of Corporation in which Corporation is not the continuing or surviving corporation or 
pursuant to which Voting Securities would be converted into cash, securities, or other property, other than a merger of Corporation in which the holders of 
Voting Securities immediately prior to the merger have the same proportionate ownership of Common Stock of the surviving corporation immediately after the 
merger, or (2) any sale, lease, exchange, or other transfer (in one transaction or a series of related transactions) of all, or substantially all, of the assets of 
Corporation; or
 



(iv) Approval by the stockholders of Corporation of any plan or proposal for the liquidation or dissolution of Corporation.
 

(c) “Change in Control Date” means the first date following the Grant Date on which a Change in Control has occurred.
 

(d) “Employer” means Corporation or a Subsidiary of Corporation.
 

(e) “Grant Date” means the date the Option is granted, which is reflected as the date of this Agreement.
 

(f) “Voting Securities” means Corporation’s issued and outstanding securities ordinarily having the right to vote at elections for director.
 
Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this Agreement have the meanings given them in the Plan.
 
2. Grant of Option1

Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the Plan, Corporation grants to Participant the Option to purchase 40,000 Shares of 
Corporation’s common stock at $9.95 per share.
 
1 Share and per share amounts reflect 4-for-1 stock split effective June 2024.
 
3. Terms of Option

The Option is subject to all the provisions of the Plan and to the following terms and conditions:
 
3.1 Term. The term of the Option is ten years from the Grant Date and will automatically terminate on July 1, 2026, to the extent not exercised, unless 
terminated earlier in accordance with this Agreement.
 
3.2 Time of Exercise. Unless the Option is otherwise terminated or the time of its exercisability is accelerated in accordance with this Agreement, the Option 
may be exercised from time to time to purchase Shares up to the following limits (based on years after the Grant Date and including any Shares previously 
purchased pursuant to the Option):
 

(a) During the first year - none;
 

(b) During the second year - up to 25 percent of the total Shares;
 

(c) During the third year - up to 50 percent of the total Shares;
 

(d) During the fourth year - up to 75 percent of the total Shares; and
 

(e) After the fourth year- 100 percent.
 
3.3 Service Requirement. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 3.4 of this Agreement, the Option may not be exercised unless Participant is employed by 
or serves as a Non-Employee Board Director or Non-Employee Subsidiary Director for an Employer continuously for at least one year following the Grant Date, 
unless employment or service is terminated by death, Disability, or Retirement. For purposes of this Agreement, “employment” and “service” include periods of 
illness or other leaves of absence authorized by the Employer and any transfer(s) between employee and director status (whether as a Non-Employee Board 
Director or Non-Employee Subsidiary Director). If Participant ceases to be an active employee or active Non-Employee Board Director or Non-Employee 
Subsidiary Director, the right to exercise the Option, to the extent the Option had become exercisable on or before the date of termination of service, will expire 
at the end of the following periods:
 

After Termination On Account Of Period

Death 1 year
Retirement 3 months
Disability 1 year
Any other reason 3 months

 



3.4 Acceleration of Exercisability. Notwithstanding the schedule provided in subsection 3.2, the Option will become fully exercisable (unless Participant chooses 
to decline accelerated Vesting of all or any portion of the Option) upon the occurrence of either:
 
(a) Participant’s death or termination of employment or service by reason of Disability or Retirement; or
 
(b) A Change in Control Date.
 
3.5 Method of Exercise. The Option, or any portion thereof, may be exercised, to the extent it has become exercisable pursuant to this Agreement, by delivery 
of written notice to Corporation stating the number of Shares, form of payment, and proposed date of closing.
 
3.6 Other Documents. Participant will be required to furnish to Corporation before closing such other documents or representations as Corporation may require 
to assure compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
 
3.7 Payment. The exercise price for the Shares purchased upon exercise of the Option must be paid in full at or before closing by one or a combination of the 
following:

(a)  Payment in cash;
 

(b) Delivery of previously acquired Shares having a Fair Market Value equal to the exercise price;
 

(c) Withholding of Shares issuable to Participant upon exercise of the Option, with a Fair Market Value on the date of delivery equal to the aggregate 
purchase price of the Shares as to which the Option is exercised; or
 

(d) Delivery (in a form approved by the Committee) of an irrevocable direction to a securities broker acceptable to the Committee:
 

(i) To sell Shares subject to the Option and to deliver all or a part of the sales proceeds to Corporation in payment of all or a part of the exercise 
price, as well as withholding taxes due, if any; or
 

(ii) To pledge Shares subject to the Option to the broker as security for a loan and to deliver all or a part of the loan proceeds to Corporation in 
payment of all or a part of the exercise price, as well as withholding taxes due, if any.
 
3.8 Previously Acquired Shares. Delivery of previously acquired Shares in full or partial payment for the exercise of the Option will be subject to the following 
conditions:
 

(a) The Shares tendered must be in good delivery form;
 

(b) The Fair Market Value of the Shares tendered, together with the amount of cash, if any, tendered must equal or exceed the exercise price of the 
Option;
 

(c) Any Shares remaining after satisfying the payment for the Option will be reissued in the same manner as the Shares tendered; and
 

(d) No fractional Shares will be issued and cash will not be paid to the Participant for any fractional Share value not used to satisfy the Option 
exercise price.
 
4. Tax Withholding and Reimbursement

Participant will be responsible for payment of federal, state and local withholding taxes and Participant’s portion of applicable payroll taxes, if any, 
imposed in connection with the exercise of the Option and the issuance of Shares (collectively, the “Applicable Taxes”). Corporation’s obligation to issue Shares 
is expressly conditioned on Participant’s making arrangements satisfactory to Corporation, in its sole and absolute discretion, for the payment of all Applicable 
Taxes. Participant may satisfy his or her obligation to pay the Applicable Taxes by electing in Participant’s sole discretion (a) to pay to Corporation (in cash or 
by check) an amount equal to the Applicable Taxes, (b) to authorize Corporation to withhold a number of unrestricted Shares (thus reducing the number of 
unrestricted Shares to be issued to Participant) having a Fair Market Value (as of the Settlement Date) equal to the remaining balance of the Applicable Taxes, 
or (c) to authorize Corporation to withhold an amount equal to the Applicable Taxes 



from Participant’s payroll check or deposit to be made on or about the Settlement Date, provided such withholding is permissible under applicable state law. In 
no event will the amount withheld exceed the minimum amount of tax required to be withheld by law in connection with settlement of the Award.
 
5. Conditions Precedent

Corporation will not be required to issue any Shares upon exercise of the Option, or any portion thereof, until Corporation has taken any action 
required to comply with all applicable laws. Such action may include, without limitation, (a) registering or qualifying such Shares under any state or federal law 
or under the rules of any securities exchange or association, (b) satisfying any law or rule relating to the transfer of unregistered securities or demonstrating the 
availability of an exemption from any such law, (c) placing a restrictive legend or stop-transfer instructions on the Shares issued upon settlement of the Award, 
or (d) obtaining the consent or approval of any governmental or regulatory body.
 
6. Successorship

Subject to restrictions on transferability set forth in the Plan, this Agreement will be binding upon and benefit the parties, their successors and 
assigns.
 
7. Notices

Any notices under this Agreement must be in writing and will be effective when actually delivered personally or, if mailed, when deposited as 
registered or certified mail directed to the address of Corporation’s records or to such other address as a party may certify by notice to the other party.
 
8. Arbitration

Any dispute or claim that arises out of or that relates to this Agreement or to the interpretation, breach, or enforcement of this Agreement, must be 
resolved by mandatory arbitration administered by and in accordance with the then effective arbitration rules of Arbitration Service of Portland, Inc. The place of 
arbitration will be Multnomah County, Oregon. The award rendered by the arbitrator will be final and binding, and judgment may be entered on the award in any 
court having jurisdiction.
 
9. Attorney Fees

In the event of any suit or action or arbitration proceeding to enforce or interpret any provision of this Agreement (or which is based on this 
Agreement), the prevailing party will be entitled to recover, in addition to other costs, reasonable attorney fees in connection with such suit, action, or arbitration, 
and in any appeal. The determination of who is the prevailing party and the amount of reasonable attorney fees to be paid to the prevailing party will be decided 
by the arbitrator or arbitrators (with respect to attorney fees incurred prior to and during the arbitration proceedings) and by the court or courts, including any 
appellate courts, in which the matter is tried, heard, or decided, including the court which hears any exceptions made to an arbitration award submitted to it for 
confirmation as a judgment (with respect to attorney fees incurred in such confirmation proceedings).
 
10. Clawback/Recovery

Compensation paid to the Participant under this Award is subject to recoupment in accordance with any clawback policy of Corporation in effect from 
time to time, including any such policy adopted after the date of this Agreement, as well as any similar requirement of applicable law, including without limitation 
the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and rules adopted by a governmental agency or 
applicable securities exchange under any such law. Participant agrees to promptly repay or return any such compensation as directed by Corporation under 
any such clawback policy or requirement, including the value received from a disposition of Shares acquired pursuant to this Award.
 

BARRETT BUSINESS SERVICES, INC.
 

By  /s/ Michael L. Elich  
Name Michael L. Elich  
Its  President and Chief Executive Officer

 
/s/ Thomas J. Carley  
Participant



Attachment A
NOTICE OF STOCK OPTION EXERCISE 
BARRETT BUSINESS SERVICES, INC.

2015 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN
(amended and restated)

 
To: Barrett Business Services, Inc.

8100 N.E. Parkway Drive, Suite 200
Vancouver, Washington 98662
Attention:

Participant:
Print Name

Mailing Address:

Telephone Number:
 
 
Option: The option evidenced by an Award Agreement dated , .
 
OPTION EXERCISE
I hereby elect to exercise the Option to purchase shares of common stock (“Shares”) of Barrett Business Services, Inc. (“BBSI”) covered by the Option as 
follows:
 

Number of Shares Purchased (a)  
Per-Share Option Price (b)  
Aggregate Purchase Price (a times b) $
Closing Date of Purchase $

 
Form of Payment [Check One]:

☐ My check in the full amount of the Aggregate Purchase Price (as well as a check for any withholding taxes, if this box ☐ is checked). See “Instructions” 
below.

☐ Delivery of previously owned shares of BBSI common stock with a fair market value equal to the Aggregate Purchase Price (as well as any withholding 
taxes, if this box ☐ is checked). See “Instructions” below. Note that restricted shares acquired from BBSI under one of its stock plans may be used for this 
purpose only if such shares have become vested.

☐ Withholding of that number of shares of BBSI common stock otherwise issuable to me upon exercise of the Option, with a fair market value on the date of 
exercise equal to the Aggregate Purchase Price (as well as any withholding taxes, if this box ☐ is checked). See “Instructions” below. Note: This alternative is 
not available for incentive stock options.
☐ My irrevocable direction to my securities broker (see below) to sell Shares subject to the Option and deliver a portion of the sales proceeds to BBSI in full 
payment of the Aggregate Purchase Price (as well as any withholding taxes, if this box ☐ is checked). See “Instructions” below. I hereby confirm that any sale 
of Shares will be in compliance with BBSI’s policies on insider trading and Rule 144, if applicable. I HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AUTHORIZE to 
transfer funds to 

(name of broker)
BBSI from my account in payment of the Aggregate Purchase Price (and withholding taxes, if applicable) and BBSI is hereby directed to issue the Shares for 
my account with such broker and to transmit the Shares to the broker indicated above.

Instructions:
 

(1) If payment is to be by check, a check for the amount of the Aggregate Purchase Price payable to Barrett Business Services, Inc., should be 
submitted with this Notice.
 



(2) If payment is to be by surrender of previously owned shares or by attestation of ownership (see Attestation Form below), either a certificate for 
the shares accompanied by a stock power endorsed in blank or the completed Attestation Form should be submitted with this Notice. If applicable, a certificate 
for any shares in excess of those needed to satisfy the Aggregate Purchase Price and withholding taxes, if applicable, will be returned to you with the certificate 
for your option shares. Any change in registration between the payment shares and the new shares will require a properly executed stock power that is 
guaranteed by an institution participating in a recognized medallion signature guarantee program.
 

(3) No withholding tax is due upon exercise of an incentive stock option. Withholding tax is due immediately upon exercise of a nonqualified option by 
an employee. If withholding tax is due at the time of exercise, you will be notified of the amount and satisfactory arrangements must be made for payment 
before a stock certificate for your option shares will be delivered to you (or your broker, if applicable). Among other alternatives, amounts necessary to satisfy 
withholding obligations may be deducted from compensation otherwise payable to you.

 



ISSUANCE INSTRUCTIONS FOR STOCK CERTIFICATES
Please register the stock certificate(s) in the following name(s):

 

 
If applicable, please check one: ☐ JT TEN ☐ TEN COM ☐ Other 
 

Please deliver the stock certificate(s) to (check one):

☐ My brokerage account

Attn: 

Account No.:  ; or

☐ My mailing address set forth above.

Date Signature of Participant

 



ATTESTATION FORM
 
As indicated above, I have elected to use shares of BBSI common stock that I already own to pay the Aggregate Purchase Price of the Option (and withholding 
taxes, if applicable).
 
I attest to the ownership of the shares represented by the certificate(s) listed below or to the beneficial ownership of the shares held in the name of my broker, 
as indicated in the attached copy of my brokerage statement. I will be deemed to have delivered such shares to BBSI in connection with the exercise of my 
Option.
 
I understand that, because I (and any joint owner) will retain ownership of the shares (the “Payment Shares”) deemed delivered to pay the Aggregate Purchase 
Price (and withholding taxes, if applicable), the number of shares to be issued to me upon exercise of my Option will be reduced by the number of Payment 
Shares. I represent that I have full power to deliver and convey certificates representing the Payment Shares to BBSI and by such delivery and conveyance 
could have caused BBSI to become sole owner of the Payment Shares. The joint owner of the Payment Shares, if any, by signing this Form, consents to these 
representations and to the exercise of the Option by this attestation.
 
I certify that any Payment Shares originally issued to me as restricted shares are now fully vested. List certificate(s) and number of shares covered, or attach a 
copy of your brokerage statement:
 
Common Stock Certificate Number  Number of Shares Covered
   
   
   

Date: 
 

Print Name of Option Holder:  

Signature of Option Holder:  

Print Name of Joint Owner:  

Signature of Joint Owner:
 



If you are attaching a copy of your brokerage statement, you must have your securities broker complete the following: 

The undersigned hereby certifies that the foregoing attestation is correct.

 
Name of Brokerage Firm

 
Date: By:

Telephone No.:
 

Print Name of Signing Broker



EXHIBIT 10.6
 

FORM OF 
AWARD AGREEMENT

Under The
Barrett Business Services, Inc.

2015 Stock Incentive Plan
  (amended and restated)

 
EMPLOYEE NONQUALIFIED STOCK OPTION

This Award Agreement (this "Agreement"), effective as of the Grant Date indicated below, evidences the grant of a Nonqualified Option (the "Option") 
to Participant under the Barrett Business Services, Inc., 2015 Stock Incentive Plan (the "Plan").
 
Corporation: BARRETT BUSINESS SERVICES, INC.

8100 N.E. Parkway Drive, Suite 200
Vancouver, Washington 98662

 
Participant:
 
Grant Date: March 28, 2018
 
Option: 160,000 Shares1

 
Termination Date: March 28, 2028
 
Option Price: $20.55 per Share1, based on the closing sale price of a Share of Common Stock on the Grant Date
 

Exercise Limits: During the first, second, and third years after the Grant Date - none; 

During the fourth and fifth years - up to 25 % of the total Shares;

During the sixth and seventh years - up to 50 % of the total Shares; and 

During the eighth year and thereafter - up to 100 % of the total Shares.
 

The terms and conditions of the Option are set forth on the following pages of this Agreement and are, in each instance, subject to the terms and 
conditions of the Plan.

This Agreement may be acknowledged and accepted by Participant by signing, scanning, and returning a copy of this page by email.
 

 
BARRETT BUSINESS SERVICES, INC.

 
  By   
Participant Name

Its
 
 

 
1 Share and per share amounts reflect 4-for-1 stock split effective June 2024.



AWARD AGREEMENT
Under The

Barrett Business Services, Inc.
2015 Stock Incentive Plan
(amended and restated)

 
EMPLOYEE NONQUALIFIED STOCK OPTION

TERMS AND CONDITIONS
 

1. Defined Terms

When used in this Agreement, the following terms have the meaning specified below:
 

(a) "Acquiring Person" means any person or related person or related persons which constitute a "group" for purposes of Section 13(d) and Rule 
13d-5 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act"), as such Section and Rule are in effect as of the Grant Date; provided, 
however, that the term Acquiring Person shall not include (i) Corporation or any of its Subsidiaries, (ii) any employee benefit plan of Corporation 
or any of its Subsidiaries, (iii) any entity holding voting capital stock of Corporation for or pursuant to the terms of any such employee benefit 
plan, or (iv) any person or group solely because such person or group has voting power with respect to capital stock of Corporation arising from a 
revocable proxy or consent given in response to a public proxy or consent solicitation made pursuant to the Exchange Act.

 

(b) "Change in Control" means:
 

a. A change in control of Corporation of a nature that would be required to be reported in response to Item 6(e) of Schedule 14A of 
Regulation 14A as in effect on the Grant Date pursuant to the Exchange Act; provided that, without limitation, such a change in control 
shall be deemed to have occurred at such time as any Acquiring Person hereafter becomes the "beneficial owner" (as defined in Rule 
13d-3 under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of 40 percent or more of the combined voting power of Voting Securities; or

 

b. During any period of 12 consecutive calendar months, individuals who at the beginning of such period constitute the Board cease for any 
reason to constitute at least a majority thereof unless the election, or the nomination for election, by Corporation shareholders of each 
new director was approved by a vote of at least a majority of the directors then in office who were directors at the beginning of the period; 
or

 

c. There shall be consummated (1) any consolidation or merger of Corporation in which Corporation is not the continuing or surviving 
corporation or pursuant to which Voting Securities would be converted into cash, securities, or other property, other than a merger of 
Corporation in which the holders of Voting Securities immediately prior to the merger have the same proportionate ownership of common 
stock of the surviving corporation immediately after the merger, or (2) any sale, lease, exchange, or other transfer (in one transaction or a 
series of related transactions) of all, or substantially all, of the assets of Corporation; or

 

d. Approval by the shareholders of Corporation of any plan or proposal for the liquidation or dissolution of Corporation.
 

(c) "Change in Control Date " means the first date following the Grant Date on which a Change in Control has occurred.
 

(d) "Employer" means Corporation or a Subsidiary of Corporation.



 

(e) "Voting Securities" means Corporation's issued and outstanding securities ordinarily having the right to vote at elections for director.
Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this Agreement have the meanings given them in the Plan.

 

2. Grant of Option

Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the Plan, Corporation grants to Participant the Option to purchase the 
number of Shares of Common Stock at the Option Price shown on the first page of this Agreement.

 

3. Terms of Option

The Option is subject to all the provisions of the Plan and to the following terms and conditions:
 

3.1. Term. The term of the Option is ten years from the Grant Date and will automatically terminate on the Termination Date shown on the first 
page of this Agreement to the extent not exercised, unless terminated earlier in accordance with this Agreement.

 

3.2. Time of Exercise. Unless the Option is otherwise terminated or the time of its exercisability is accelerated in accordance with this 
Agreement, the Option may be exercised from time to time to purchase Shares up to the limits set forth on the first page of this 
Agreement (such limits include any Shares previously purchased pursuant to the Option).

 

3.3. Employment Requirement. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 3.4 of this Agreement, the Option may not be exercised unless 
Participant is employed by an Employer continuously for at least one year following the Grant Date, unless employment is terminated by 
death, Disability, or Retirement. For purposes of this Agreement, "employment" includes periods of illness or other leaves of absence 
authorized by the Employer. If Participant ceases to be an active employee, the right to exercise the Option, to the extent the Option had 
become exercisable on or before the Termination Date, will expire at the end of the following periods:

 
After Termination
On Account Of Period

Death 1 year
Retirement 3 months
Disability 1 year
Any other reason 3 months

 

3.4. Acceleration of Exercisability. Notwithstanding the schedule provided in subsection 3.2, the Option will become fully exercisable (unless 
Participant chooses to decline accelerated Vesting of all or any portion of the Option) upon the occurrence of either:

 

(a) Participant's death or termination of employment by reason of Disability or Retirement; or
 

(b) A Change in Control Date.
 

3.5. Method of Exercise. The Option, or any portion thereof, may be exercised, to the extent it has become exercisable pursuant to this 
Agreement, by delivery of written notice to 



Corporation in the form of Attachment A stating the number of Shares, form of payment, and proposed closing date.
 

3.6. Other Documents. Participant will be required to furnish to Corporation before closing such other documents or representations as 
Corporation may require to assure compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

 

3.7. Payment. The aggregate Option Price for the Shares to be purchased upon exercise of the Option must be paid in full on or before the 
closing date by one or a combination of the following:

 

(a) Payment in cash;
 

(b) Delivery of previously acquired Shares having a Fair Market Value equal to the aggregate Option Price;
 

(c) Withholding of Shares issuable to Participant upon exercise of the Option, with a Fair Market Value on the closing date equal to the aggregate 
Option Price; or

 

(d) Delivery (in a form approved by the Committee) of an irrevocable direction to a securities broker acceptable to the Committee to sell Shares 
subject to the Option and to deliver all or a part of the sale proceeds to Corporation in payment of all or a part of the aggregate Option Price.

 

3.8. Previously Acquired Shares. Delivery of previously acquired Shares in full or partial payment of the aggregate Option Price will be subject 
to the following conditions:

 

(a) The Shares tendered must be in good delivery form;
 

(b) The Fair Market Value of the Shares delivered as of the closing date, together with the amount of cash, if any, tendered must equal or exceed the 
aggregate Option Price;

 

(c) Any Shares remaining after satisfying the payment of the aggregate Option Price will be reissued in the same manner as the Shares tendered; 
and

 

(d) No fractional Shares will be issued and cash will not be paid to the Participant for any fractional Share value not used to pay the aggregate 
Option Price.

 

4. Tax Withholding and Reimbursement

Participant is responsible for the payment of all federal, state and local withholding taxes and Participant's portion of any 
applicable payroll taxes imposed in connection with the exercise or other settlement of the Option (collectively, the "Applicable Taxes"). Payment may be 
in cash, in Shares owned by Participant, duly endorsed for transfer, with a Fair Market Value on the closing date equal to the total amount of Applicable 
Taxes, in Shares issuable to Participant upon exercise of the Option with a Fair Market Value on the closing date equal to the total amount of Applicable 
Taxes, or in any combination of the foregoing methods of payment. In the event Participant has not otherwise made arrangements for satisfaction of his or 
her withholding tax obligation, Corporation is authorized to withhold from Participant's other compensation the Applicable Taxes. Corporation is not 
required to issue any Shares upon exercise of the Option until Participant's tax withholding obligations have been satisfied.

 

5. Conditions Precedent



Corporation will not be required to issue any Shares upon exercise of the Option, or any portion thereof, until Corporation has 
taken any action required to comply with all applicable laws. Such action may include, without limitation, (a) registering or qualifying such Shares under 
any state or federal law or under the rules of any securities exchange or association, (b) satisfying any law or rule relating to the transfer of unregistered 
securities or demonstrating the availability of an exemption from any such law, (c) placing a restrictive legend or stop-transfer instructions on the Shares 
issued upon settlement of the Award, or (d) obtaining the consent or approval of any governmental or regulatory body.

 

6. Termination for Cause; Competition

6.1. Annulment of Awards. The grant of the Option governed by this Agreement is revocable until Participant becomes entitled to a certificate 
for Shares in settlement thereof. In the event the employment of Participant is terminated for cause (as defined below), any portion of the 
Option which is revocable will be annulled as of the date of such termination for cause. For the purpose of this Section 6.1, the term "for 
cause" will have the meaning set forth in Participant's employment agreement, if any, or otherwise means any discharge (or removal) for 
material or flagrant violation of the policies and procedures of the Employer or for other performance or conduct which is materially 
detrimental to the best interests of Corporation, as determined by the Committee.

 

6.2. Engaging in Competition With Corporation. If Participant terminates employment with an Employer for any reason whatsoever, and within 
18 months after the date thereof accepts employment with any competitor of (or otherwise engages in competition with) Corporation, the 
Committee, in its sole discretion, may require Participant to return to Corporation the economic value of this Option that is realized or 
obtained (measured at the date of exercise) by Participant at any time during the period beginning on the date that is six months prior to 
the date of Participant's termination of employment with an Employer.

 

7. Clawback/Recovery

Compensation paid to Participant under this Agreement is subject to recoupment in accordance with any clawback policy of 
Corporation in effect from time to time, including any such policy adopted after the date of this Agreement, as well as any similar requirement of applicable 
law, including without limitation the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and rules adopted 
by a governmental agency or applicable securities exchange under any such law. Participant agrees to promptly repay or return any such compensation 
as directed by Corporation under any such clawback policy or requirement, including the value received from a disposition of Shares acquired pursuant to 
this Agreement.

 

8. Successorship

Subject to restrictions on transferability set forth in the Plan, this Agreement will be binding upon and benefit the parties, their
successors and assigns.

 

9. Notices

Any notices under this Agreement must be in writing and will be effective when actually delivered personally or, if mailed, when 
deposited as registered or certified mail directed to the address of Corporation's records or to such other address as a party may certify by notice to the 
other party.

 

10. Arbitration

Any dispute or claim that arises out of or that relates to this Agreement or to the interpretation, breach, or enforcement of this 
Agreement, must be resolved by mandatory arbitration 



administered by and in accordance with the then effective arbitration rules of Arbitration Service of Portland, Inc. The place of arbitration will be 
Multnomah County, Oregon. The award rendered by the arbitrator will be final and binding, and judgment may be entered on the award in any court 
having jurisdiction.

 

11. Attorney Fees

In the event of any suit or action or arbitration proceeding to enforce or interpret any provision of this Agreement (or which is 
based on this Agreement), the prevailing party will be entitled to recover, in addition to other costs, reasonable attorney fees in connection with such suit, 
action, or arbitration, and in any appeal. The determination of who is the prevailing party and the amount of reasonable attorney fees to be paid to the 
prevailing party will be decided by the arbitrator or arbitrators (with respect to attorney fees incurred prior to and during the arbitration proceedings) and by 
the court or courts, including any appellate courts, in which the matter is tried, heard, or decided, including the court which hears any exceptions made to 
an arbitration award submitted to it for confirmation as a judgment (with respect to attorney fees incurred in such confirmation proceedings).



Attachment A
NOTICE OF STOCK OPTION EXERCISE 
BARRETT BUSINESS SERVICES, INC.

2015 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN
(amended and restated)

 
EMPLOYEE NONQUALIFIED STOCK OPTION

 
To: Barrett Business Services, Inc.

8100 N.E. Parkway Drive, Suite 200
Vancouver, Washington 98662 
Attention: Gary Kramer

 
Participant:

Print Name
 

Mailing Address:

 
Telephone Number:

 
Option: The option evidenced by an Award Agreement dated , .

 
OPTION EXERCISE

 
I hereby elect to exercise the Option to purchase shares of common stock ("Shares") of Barrett Business Services, Inc. ("BBSI") covered by the Option as 
follows:

 
Number of Shares Purchased (a)
Per-Share Option Price (b) $ 
Aggregate Option Price (a times b) $ 
Closing Date of Purchase

 
Form of Payment [Check One]:

 

• My check in the full amount of the Aggregate Option Price (as well as a check for any withholding taxes, if this box ☐ is checked). See 
"Instructions" below.

 

• Delivery of previously owned Shares with a fair market value equal to the Aggregate Option Price (as well as any withholding taxes, if this box ☐ 
is checked). See "Instructions" below. Note that restricted Shares acquired from BBSI under one of its stock plans may be used for this purpose 
only if such Shares have become vested.

 

• Withholding of that number of Shares otherwise issuable to me upon exercise of the Option, with a fair market value on the closing date equal to 
the Aggregate Option Price (as well as any withholding taxes, if this box ☐ is checked). See "Instructions" below.

 

• My irrevocable direction to my securities broker (see below) to sell Shares subject to the Option and deliver a portion of the sale proceeds to 
BBSI in full payment of the Aggregate Option Price (as well as any withholding taxes, if this
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box ☐ is checked). See "Instructions" below. I hereby confirm that any sale of Shares will be in compliance with 
BBSI's policies on insider trading and Rule 144 under the Securities Act of 1933 , if applicable. I HEREBY 
IRREVOCABLY AUTHORIZE to transfer

        (name of broker)
funds to BBSI from my account in payment of the Aggregate Option Price and BBSI is hereby directed to issue the 
Shares for my account with such broker and to transmit the Shares to the broker indicated above.

 
Instructions:

 
(1) If payment is to be by check, a check for the amount of the 
Aggregate Option Price payable to Barrett Business Services, Inc., 
should be submitted with this Notice.

 

(2) If payment is to be by surrender of previously owned Shares or 
by attestation of ownership (see Attestation Form below), either a 
certificate for the Shares accompanied by a stock power endorsed in 
blank or the completed Attestation Form should be submitted with this 
Notice. If applicable, a certificate for any Shares in excess of those 
needed to pay the Aggregate Option Price and applicable withholding 
taxes will be returned to you with the certificate for your option Shares. 
Any change in registration between the payment shares and the new 
shares will require a properly executed stock power that is guaranteed 
by an institution participating in a recognized medallion signature 
guarantee program.

 

(3) Payment of the Applicable Taxes is due on the closing date of 
the exercise of a nonqualified option by an employee. You will be 
notified of the amount of Applicable Taxes due promptly following 
receipt of your Notice of Stock Option Exercise. Satisfactory 
arrangements must be made for payment before a stock certificate for 
your option Shares will be delivered to you (or your broker, if 
applicable). Among other alternatives, amounts necessary to satisfy 
withholding obligations may be deducted from compensation 
otherwise payable to you.
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ISSUANCE INSTRUCTIONS FOR STOCK CERTIFICATES
 

Please register the stock certificate(s) in the following name(s):

 
 If applicable, please check one: ☐ JT TEN ☐ TEN COM ☐ Other 

Please deliver the stock certificate(s) to (check one):

• My brokerage account

 Attn:
 Account No.: ; or

 
 

• My mailing address set forth above.

 
Date Signature of Participant
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ATTESTATION FORM
 

As indicated above, I have elected to use shares of BBSI common stock that I already own to pay the Aggregate Option Price of the Option.
 

I attest to the ownership of the shares represented by the certificate(s) listed below or to the beneficial ownership of the shares held in the name of my 
broker, as indicated in the attached copy of my brokerage statement. I will be deemed to have delivered such shares to BBSI in connection with the 
exercise of my Option.

 
I understand that, because I (and any joint owner) will retain ownership of the shares (the "Payment Shares") deemed delivered to pay the Aggregate 
Option Price, the number of shares to be issued to me upon exercise of my Option will be reduced by the number of Payment Shares. I represent that I 
have full power to deliver and convey certificates representing the Payment Shares to BBSI and by such delivery and conveyance could have caused BBSI 
to become sole owner of the Payment Shares. The joint owner of the Payment Shares, if any, by signing this Form, consents to these representations and 
to the exercise of the Option by this attestation.

 
I certify that any Payment Shares originally issued to me as restricted shares are now fully vested. 
 
List certificate(s) and number of shares covered, or attach a copy of your brokerage statement:
 

Common Stock
Certificate Number

Number of
Shares Covered

  
  
  

Date:
 

Print Name of Option Holder:  
Signature of Option Holder:  
Print Name of Joint Owner:  
Signature of Joint Owner:
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If you are attaching a copy of your brokerage statement, you must have your securities broker complete the following: 
 

The undersigned hereby certifies that the foregoing attestation is correct.

 
 Name of Brokerage Firm

 
Date: By: 
Telephone No.:

 
Print Name of Signing Broker
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EXHIBIT 10.11
 

BARRETT BUSINESS SERVICES, INC.
SUMMARY OF COMPENSATION ARRANGEMENTS 

FOR NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTORS

As of January 1, 2025, compensation arrangements for non-employee directors of Barrett Business Services, Inc. (the "Company"), include an annual retainer 
of $70,000 ($155,000 for the Chairman of the Board) payable in cash in monthly installments.  Committee chairs receive an annual cash retainer, payable in 
monthly installments, as follows: chair of Audit and Compliance Committee, $17,500; chair of Compensation Committee, $12,500; chair of Risk Management 
Committee, $12,500; and chair of Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee, $12,500. Committee members receive an annual cash retainer, payable 
in monthly installments, as follows: Audit and Compliance Committee, $7,500; Compensation Committee, $5,000; Risk Management Committee, $5,000; and 
Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee, $5,000.

The compensation arrangements also contemplate that each non-employee director in office on July 1, 2025, will be granted an award of restricted stock units 
("RSUs") under the Company's Amended and Restated 2020 Stock Incentive Plan with a grant date fair value of approximately $100,000, based on the closing 
sale price of the Company’s common stock on that date. The 2025 RSU awards will vest in full on July 1, 2026, provided that the grantee continues to serve as 
a director through that date.



EXHIBIT 10.26
AWARD AGREEMENT

under the
Barrett Business Services, Inc.

Amended and Restated 2020 Stock Incentive Plan

EMPLOYEE NONQUALIFIED STOCK OPTION

This Award Agreement (this "Agreement"), effective as of the Grant Date stated below, evidences the grant of a Nonqualified Option (the "Option") to 
Participant under the Barrett Business Services, Inc., Amended and Restated 2020 Stock Incentive Plan (the "Plan"). 

Corporation: BARRETT BUSINESS SERVICES, INC.
8100 N.E. Parkway Drive, Suite 200
Vancouver, Washington 98662

 
Participant:

 
Grant Date:
 
Option:  Shares 
 
Termination Date: [Date that is six years following Grant Date]
 
Option Price: $_____ per Share, based on the Fair Market Value of a Share of Common Stock on the Grant Date
 
Vesting Date: 100% of the total Shares covered by this Option will Vest and the Option will become fully exercisable on [date that is four years following 

Grant Date].

 
The terms and conditions of the Option are set forth on the following pages of this Agreement and are, in each instance, subject to the terms and 

conditions of the Plan.
 
This Agreement may be acknowledged and accepted by Participant by signing, scanning, and returning a copy of this page by email.

 
 
 
 
 
Participant

BARRETT BUSINESS SERVICES, INC.
 
 
By
Name
Its

 



AWARD AGREEMENT
Under The

Barrett Business Services, Inc.
Amended and Restated 2020 Stock Incentive Plan

 
EMPLOYEE NONQUALIFIED STOCK OPTION

TERMS AND CONDITIONS
 

1. Defined Terms

When used in this Agreement, “Grant Date” means the date the Option is granted, as shown on the first page of this Agreement.
 

Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this Agreement have the meanings given them in the Plan.

2. Grant of Option

Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the Plan, Corporation grants to Participant an Option to purchase the number of Shares of 
Common Stock at the Option Price shown on the first page of this Agreement.

3. Terms of Option

The Option is subject to all the provisions of the Plan and to the following terms and conditions:

3.1 Term.  The term of the Option is six years from the Grant Date and will automatically terminate on the Termination Date shown on the first page 
of this Agreement to the extent not exercised, unless terminated earlier in accordance with this Agreement.  

3.2 Time of Exercise.  Unless the Option is terminated prior to the Vesting Date set forth on the first page of this Agreement, then, beginning on the 
Vesting Date, or such earlier date or dates to which its exercisability is accelerated in accordance with subsection 3.4 of this Agreement or Section 3.3(h) of the 
Plan, the Option may be exercised from time to time to purchase the total Shares covered by the Option, subject to subsection 3.3 of this Agreement. 

3.3Requirement of Continuous Service.  Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, if Participant’s Continuous Service terminates prior to the 
Termination Date, the right to exercise the Option, to the extent the Option had become exercisable prior to termination of Participant’s Continuous Service, will 
expire at the end of the following periods:

After Termination
  On Account Of  Period

Death 1 year
Retirement 3 months
Disability 1 year
Any other reason 3 months

 
3.4Acceleration of Exercisability.  Notwithstanding subsection 3.2, the Option will become fully exercisable (unless Participant chooses to decline 

accelerated Vesting of all or any portion of the Option) upon the occurrence of either of the following events prior to the Vesting Date:

(a) Participant's death or termination of Continuous Service by reason of Disability or Retirement; or

(b) A Change in Control Date.



3.5Method of Exercise.  The Option, or any portion thereof, may be exercised, to the extent it has become exercisable pursuant to this Agreement, 
by delivery of written notice to Corporation in the form of Attachment A stating the number of Shares, form of payment, and proposed closing date.

3.6Other Documents.  Participant will be required to furnish to Corporation before closing such other documents or representations as Corporation 
may require to assure compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

3.7Payment.  The aggregate Option Price for the Shares to be purchased upon exercise of the Option must be paid in full on or before the closing 
date by one or a combination of the following:

(a) Payment in cash;

(b) Delivery of previously acquired Shares having a Fair Market Value equal to the aggregate Option Price;

(c) Withholding of Shares issuable to Participant upon exercise of the Option, with a Fair Market Value on the closing date equal to 
the aggregate Option Price; or

(d) Delivery (in a form approved by the Committee) of an irrevocable direction to a securities broker acceptable to the Committee to 
sell Shares subject to the Option and to deliver all or a part of the sale proceeds to Corporation in payment of all or a part of the aggregate Option 
Price.

3.8Previously Acquired Shares.  Delivery of previously acquired Shares in full or partial payment of the aggregate Option Price will be subject to the 
following conditions:

(a) The Shares tendered must be in good delivery form;

(b) The Fair Market Value of the Shares delivered as of the closing date, together with the amount of cash, if any, tendered must 
equal or exceed the aggregate Option Price;

(c) Any Shares remaining after satisfying the payment of the aggregate Option Price will be reissued in the same manner as the 
Shares tendered; and

(d) No fractional Shares will be issued and cash will not be paid to the Participant for any fractional Share value not used to pay the 
aggregate Option Price.

4. Tax Withholding and Reimbursement

Participant is responsible for the payment of all federal, state and local withholding taxes and Participant's portion of any applicable payroll taxes 
imposed in connection with the exercise or other settlement of the Option (collectively, the "Applicable Taxes").   Payment may be in cash, in Shares owned by 
Participant, duly endorsed for transfer, with a Fair Market Value on the closing date equal to the total amount of Applicable Taxes, in Shares issuable to 
Participant upon exercise of the Option with a Fair Market Value on the closing date equal to the total amount of Applicable Taxes, or in any combination of the 
foregoing methods of payment.  In the event Participant has not otherwise made arrangements for satisfaction of Participant’s withholding tax obligations, 
Corporation is authorized to withhold the Applicable Taxes from Participant's other compensation.  Corporation is not required to issue any Shares upon 
exercise of the Option until Participant's tax withholding obligations have been satisfied. 

 
5. Conditions Precedent

Corporation will not be required to issue any Shares upon exercise of the Option, or any portion thereof, until Corporation has taken any action 
required to comply with all applicable laws. Such action may include, without limitation, (a) registering or qualifying such Shares under any state or federal law 
or under the rules of any securities exchange or association, (b) satisfying any law or rule relating to the transfer of unregistered securities or demonstrating the 
availability of an exemption from any such law, (c) 



placing a restrictive legend or stop-transfer instructions on the Shares issued upon settlement of the Award, or (d) obtaining the consent or approval of any 
governmental or regulatory body.

 
6. Termination for Cause; Competition

6.1Annulment of Awards.  The grant of the Option governed by this Agreement is revocable until Participant becomes entitled to a certificate for 
Shares in settlement thereof.  In the event the Continuous Service of Participant ends due to Termination for Cause, any portion of the Option which is 
revocable will be annulled as of the date of such Termination for Cause.  

6.2Engaging in Competition With Corporation.  If Participant terminates Continuous Service with an Employer for any reason whatsoever, and within 
18 months after the date thereof accepts employment with any competitor of (or otherwise engages in competition with) Corporation, the Committee, in its sole 
discretion, may require Participant to return to Corporation the economic value of this Option that is realized or obtained (measured at the date of exercise) by 
Participant at any time during the period beginning on the date that is six months prior to the date of Participant's termination of Continuous Service with an 
Employer.

7. Clawback/Recovery

Compensation paid to Participant under this Agreement is subject to recoupment in accordance with any clawback policy of Corporation in effect 
from time to time, including any such policy adopted after the date of this Agreement, as well as any similar requirement of applicable law, including without 
limitation the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and rules adopted by a governmental agency 
or applicable securities exchange under any such law.  Participant agrees to promptly repay or return any such compensation as directed by Corporation under 
any such clawback policy or requirement, including the value received from a disposition of Shares acquired pursuant to this Agreement.

 
8. Successorship

Subject to restrictions on transferability set forth in the Plan, this Agreement will be binding upon and benefit the parties, their successors and 
assigns.

9. Notices

Any notices under this Agreement must be in writing and will be effective when actually delivered personally or, if mailed, when deposited as 
registered or certified mail directed to the address of Corporation's records or to such other address as a party may certify by notice to the other party.

10. Arbitration

Any dispute or claim that arises out of or that relates to this Agreement or to the interpretation, breach, or enforcement of this Agreement, must be 
resolved by mandatory arbitration administered by and in accordance with the then effective arbitration rules of Arbitration Service of Portland, Inc. The place of 
arbitration will be Multnomah County, Oregon.  The award rendered by the arbitrator will be final and binding, and judgment may be entered on the award in 
any court having jurisdiction.

11. Attorney Fees

In the event of any suit or action or arbitration proceeding to enforce or interpret any provision of this Agreement (or which is based on this 
Agreement), the prevailing party will be entitled to recover, in addition to other costs, reasonable attorney fees in connection with such suit, action, or arbitration, 
and in any appeal.  The determination of who is the prevailing party and the amount of reasonable attorney fees to be paid to the prevailing party will be 
decided by the arbitrator or arbitrators (with respect to attorney fees incurred prior to and during the arbitration proceedings) and by the court or courts, 
including any appellate courts, in which the matter is tried, heard, or decided, including the court which hears any exceptions made to an arbitration award 
submitted to it for confirmation as a judgment (with respect to attorney fees incurred in such confirmation proceedings).
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Attachment A
 

NOTICE OF STOCK OPTION EXERCISE

BARRETT BUSINESS SERVICES, INC.
AMENDED AND RESTATED 2020 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN

 
EMPLOYEE NONQUALIFIED STOCK OPTION

 
 
To: Barrett Business Services, Inc.

8100 N.E. Parkway Drive, Suite 200
Vancouver, Washington  98662
Attention:  Gary Kramer

 
Participant: ____________________________

Print Name
 
Mailing Address: ____________________________

____________________________
____________________________

 
Telephone Number: ____________________________
 
Option: The option evidenced by an Award Agreement dated ___________, ____.
 
OPTION EXERCISE
 
I hereby elect to exercise the Option to purchase shares of common stock ("Shares") of Barrett Business Services, Inc. ("BBSI") covered by the Option as 
follows:
 

Number of Shares Purchased (a)   ___________________
Per-Share Option Price (b) $___________________
Aggregate Option Price (a times b) $___________________
Closing Date of Purchase   ___________________

 
Form of Payment [Check One]:

 
☐ My check in the full amount of the Aggregate Option Price (as well as a check for any withholding taxes, if this box ☐ is 

checked).  See "Instructions" below.
 
☐ Delivery of previously owned Shares with a fair market value equal to the Aggregate Option Price (as well as any withholding 

taxes, if this box ☐ is checked).  See "Instructions" below.  Note that restricted Shares acquired from BBSI under one of its 
stock plans may be used for this purpose only if such Shares have become Vested.

 
☐ Withholding of that number of Shares otherwise issuable to me upon exercise of the Option, with a fair market value on the 

closing date equal to the Aggregate Option Price (as well as any withholding taxes, if this box ☐ is checked).  See "Instructions" 
below.

 
☐ My irrevocable direction to my securities broker (see below) to sell Shares subject to the Option and deliver a portion of the sale 

proceeds to BBSI in full 



 

A-2
 

 
 

payment of the Aggregate Option Price (as well as any withholding taxes, if this box ☐ is checked).  See "Instructions" below.  I 
hereby confirm that any sale of Shares will be in compliance with BBSI's policies on insider trading and Rule 144 under the 
Securities Act of 1933, if applicable.  I HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AUTHORIZE _____________________________ to transfer 

(name of broker)
funds to BBSI from my account in payment of the Aggregate Option Price and BBSI is hereby directed to issue the Shares for 
my account with such broker and to transmit the Shares to the broker indicated above.

 
Instructions:
 

(1)  If payment is to be by check, a check for the amount of the Aggregate Option Price payable to Barrett Business Services, Inc., should be submitted 
with this Notice.
 

(2)  If payment is to be by surrender of previously owned Shares or by attestation of ownership (see Attestation Form below), either a certificate for the 
Shares accompanied by a stock power endorsed in blank or the completed Attestation Form should be submitted with this Notice.  If applicable, a certificate for 
any Shares in excess of those needed to pay the Aggregate Option Price and applicable withholding taxes will be returned to you with the certificate for your 
option Shares.  Any change in registration between the payment shares and the new shares will require a properly executed stock power that is guaranteed by 
an institution participating in a recognized medallion signature guarantee program.
 

(3)  Payment of the Applicable Taxes is due on the closing date of the exercise of an NQO by an employee.  You will be notified of the amount of 
Applicable Taxes due promptly following receipt of your Notice of Stock Option Exercise.  Satisfactory arrangements must be made for payment before a stock 
certificate for your option Shares will be delivered to you (or your broker, if applicable).  Among other alternatives, amounts necessary to satisfy withholding 
obligations may be deducted from compensation otherwise payable to you.
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ISSUANCE INSTRUCTIONS FOR STOCK CERTIFICATES
 

Please register the stock certificate(s) in the following name(s):
 

______________________________
______________________________
______________________________

 
If applicable, please check one:  ☐  JT TEN ☐  TEN COM     ☐  Other

 
Please deliver the stock certificate(s) to (check one):

 
☐  My brokerage account

______________________________
______________________________
______________________________
Attn:  _________________________
Account No.:___________________; or

 
☐  My mailing address set forth above.

 
 
 
___________________________ ___________________________________
Date Signature of Participant
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ATTESTATION FORM
 
As indicated above, I have elected to use shares of BBSI common stock that I already own to pay the Aggregate Option Price of the Option.
 
I attest to the ownership of the shares represented by the certificate(s) listed below or to the beneficial ownership of the shares held in the name of my broker, 
as indicated in the attached copy of my brokerage statement.  I will be deemed to have delivered such shares to BBSI in connection with the exercise of my 
Option.
 
I understand that, because I (and any joint owner) will retain ownership of the shares (the "Payment Shares") deemed delivered to pay the Aggregate Option 
Price, the number of shares to be issued to me upon exercise of my Option will be reduced by the number of Payment Shares.  I represent that I have full 
power to deliver and convey certificates representing the Payment Shares to BBSI and by such delivery and conveyance could have caused BBSI to become 
sole owner of the Payment Shares.  The joint owner of the Payment Shares, if any, by signing this Form, consents to these representations and to the exercise 
of the Option by this attestation.
 
I certify that any Payment Shares originally issued to me as restricted shares are now fully Vested.
 
List certificate(s) and number of shares covered, or attach a copy of your brokerage statement:
 

Common Stock
Certificate Number

Number of
Shares Covered

   
   
   

 
Date:  __________________
 
Print Name of Option Holder: ____________________________________________
 
Signature of Option Holder: ____________________________________________
 
Print Name of Joint Owner: ____________________________________________
 
Signature of Joint Owner: ____________________________________________
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If you are attaching a copy of your brokerage statement, you must have your securities broker complete the following:
 

The undersigned hereby certifies that the foregoing attestation is correct.
 

__________________________________
Name of Brokerage Firm

 
Date:  ______________________ By:  ______________________________

Telephone No.:_______________
____________________________
Print Name of Signing Broker

 
 



EXHIBIT 19.1
 

BARRETT BUSINESS SERVICES, INC.
 INSIDER TRADING POLICY  

EFFECTIVE DATE APRIL 29, 2024

This Insider Trading Policy describes the restrictions imposed by Barrett Business Services, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the "Company"), on trading or 
causing trading in the Company's securities or securities of other publicly traded companies while in possession of certain confidential information. This 
Policy is divided into two parts:

• Part I prohibits trading under specified circumstances and applies to all directors, officers, and employees1 of the Company and certain 
third parties that have agreed to be subject to this Policy (“Part I Persons”), and

• Part II imposes additional trading restrictions on all (i) directors of the Company, (ii) officers of the Company at the level of Vice President 
and above (together with the directors, "Company Insiders"), (iii) the individual and categories of employees listed on Appendix A (together 
with Company Insiders, "Part II Persons") and (iv) certain other employees that the Company may designate from time to time as "Part II 
Persons" because of their position, responsibilities or their actual or potential access to material information.

One of the principal purposes of the federal securities laws is to prohibit so-called "insider trading." In this context, insider trading occurs when a person 
uses material nonpublic information obtained through involvement with the Company or persons associated with the Company to make decisions to 
purchase, sell, give away, or otherwise trade the Company's securities or the securities of certain other companies or to provide that information to others 
outside the Company. The prohibitions against insider trading may apply to trades, communications, and recommendations by virtually any person, 
including all persons associated with the Company, if the information involved is "material" and "nonpublic." These terms are defined in this Policy under 
Part I, Section 3 below. Among other things, the prohibitions apply to any director, officer or employee of the Company who buys or sells securities on the 
basis of material nonpublic information that he or she obtained about the Company, its customers, suppliers, partners, competitors, or other companies 
with which the Company has contractual relationships or may be negotiating transactions.

1 Employee is not intended to include worksite employees of Company clients.



PART I

1. Applicability

This Policy applies to all trading or other transactions in (i) the Company's securities, including common stock, options and any other securities that the 
Company may issue, such as preferred stock, notes, bonds and convertible securities, as well as to derivative securities relating to any of the Company's 
securities, whether or not issued by the Company and (ii) comparable securities of certain other companies, where the person trading used information 
obtained while working for the Company.

This Policy applies to all Part I Persons as defined above.

2. General Policy: No Trading or Causing Trading While in Possession of Material Nonpublic Information

(a) No Part I Person may purchase, sell, give away, or otherwise trade, or offer to do any of the foregoing, any Company security, whether or not issued 
by the Company, while in possession of material nonpublic information about the Company. (The terms "material" and "nonpublic" are defined in Part I, 
Section 3(a) and (b) below.)

(b) No Part I Person who knows of any material nonpublic information about the Company may communicate that information to (commonly referred to 
as "tipping") any other person, including family members and friends, or otherwise disclose such information without the
Company’s authorization.

(c) No Part I Person may purchase, sell, give away, or otherwise trade any security of any other publicly traded company while in possession of material 
nonpublic information that was obtained in the course of his or her involvement with the Company. No Part I Person who knows of any such material 
nonpublic information may communicate that information to (tip) any other person, including family members and friends, or otherwise disclose such 
information without the Company's authorization.

(d) For compliance purposes, you should never trade, tip or recommend securities (or otherwise cause the purchase, sale, gift, or other trading of 
securities) while in possession of information that you have reason to believe is material and nonpublic unless you first consult with, and obtain the advance 
approval of, the Compliance Officer (defined in Part I, Section 3(c) below). If you realize that you have tipped someone inadvertently regarding material, 
nonpublic information subject to this Policy, you must immediately notify the Compliance
Officer and advise the person tipped that they are prohibited by the federal securities laws from trading on or further tipping with regard to that information.

(e) All Part I Persons who are also Part II Persons as defined above must "pre-clear" all trading in securities of the Company in accordance with 
the procedures set forth in Part II, Section 3 below.

3. Definitions

(a) Material. Insider trading restrictions come into play only if the information you possess is "material." Materiality, however, involves a relatively low 
threshold. Information is generally regarded as "material" if it has market significance, that is, if its public dissemination is likely to affect the market price of 
securities, or if it otherwise is information that a reasonable investor would want to know before making an investment decision.

Information dealing with the following subjects is reasonably likely to be found material in particular situations:



(i) significant changes in the Company's prospects;

(ii) significant write-downs in assets or increases in reserves;

(iii) developments regarding significant litigation or government agency investigations;

(iv) liquidity problems;

(v) changes in earnings estimates or unusual gains or losses in major operations;

(vi) major changes in the Company's management or the board of directors;

(vii) changes in dividends;

(viii) extraordinary borrowings;

(ix) major changes in accounting methods or policies;

(x) award or loss of a significant contract;

(xi) significant cybersecurity risks and incidents, including vulnerabilities and breaches;

(xii) changes in debt ratings;

(xiii) proposals, plans or agreements, even if preliminary in nature, involving mergers, acquisitions, divestitures, recapitalizations, strategic alliances, licensing 
arrangements, or purchases or sales of substantial assets; and

(xiv) offerings of Company securities.

Material information is not limited to historical facts but may also include projections and forecasts. With respect to a future event, such as a merger, 
acquisition or introduction of a new product, the point at which negotiations or product development are determined to be material is determined by 
balancing the probability that the event will occur against the magnitude of the effect the event would have on a company's operations or stock price should 
it occur. Thus, information concerning an event that would have a large effect on stock price, such as a merger, may be material even if the possibility that 
the event will occur is relatively small. When in doubt about whether particular nonpublic information is material, you should presume it is material. If you 
are unsure whether information is material, you should either consult the Compliance Officer before making any decision to trade in or 
recommend trading in securities to which that information relates, or assume that the information is material and refrain from trading or 
recommending trading.

(b) Nonpublic. Insider trading prohibitions come into play only when you possess information that is material and "nonpublic." The fact that information 
has been disclosed to a few members of the public does not make it public for insider trading purposes. To be "public" the information must have been 
disseminated in a manner designed to reach investors generally, and the investors must be given the opportunity to absorb the information. Even after 
public disclosure of information about the Company, you must wait until the close of business on the second trading day after the information was publicly 
disclosed before you can treat the information as public.

Nonpublic information may include:

(i) information available to a select group of analysts or brokers or institutional investors;

(ii) undisclosed facts that are the subject of rumors, even if the rumors are widely circulated; and



(iii) information that has been entrusted to the Company on a confidential basis until a public announcement of the information has been made and enough 
time has elapsed for the market to respond to a public announcement of the information (normally two trading days).

As with questions of materiality, if you are not sure whether information is considered public, you should either consult with the Compliance 
Officer or assume that the information is nonpublic and treat it as confidential.

(c) Compliance Officer. The Company has appointed the Company’s General Counsel as the Compliance Officer for this Policy. In the absence of the 
General Counsel, the Company’s Chief Financial Officer shall act as the Compliance Officer. The duties of the Compliance Officer include, but are not 
limited to, the following:

(i) assisting with implementation and enforcement of this Policy;

(ii) circulating this Policy to all employees and ensuring that this Policy is amended as necessary to remain up to date with insider trading laws;

(iii) pre-clearing all trading in securities of the Company by Part II Persons in accordance with the procedures set forth in Part II, Section 3 below;

(iv) providing approval of any Rule 10b5-1 trading plan under Part II, Section 1(c) below and any prohibited transactions under Part II, Section 4 below; and

(v) providing a reporting system with an effective whistleblower protection mechanism.

4. Exceptions

The trading restrictions of this Policy do not apply to the following:

(a) 401(k) Plan. Investing 401(k) plan contributions in a Company stock fund, if one exists, in accordance with the terms of the Company's 401(k) plan. 
However, any changes in your
investment election regarding the Company’s stock are subject to trading restrictions under this
Policy.

(b) ESPP. Purchasing Company stock through periodic, automatic payroll contributions to the Company's Employee Stock Purchase Plan ("ESPP"). 
However, electing to enroll in the ESPP, making any changes in your elections under the ESPP, and selling any Company stock acquired under the ESPP 
are subject to trading restrictions under this Policy.

(c) Options. Exercising stock options granted under the Company's Stock Incentive Plans for cash or the delivery of previously owned Company stock. 
However, the sale of any shares issued on the exercise of Company-granted stock options and any cashless exercise of
Company-granted stock options are subject to trading restrictions under this Policy.

5. Violations of Insider Trading Laws

Penalties for trading on or communicating material nonpublic information can be severe, both for individuals involved in such unlawful conduct and their 
employers and supervisors, and may include jail terms, criminal fines, civil penalties, and civil enforcement injunctions. Given the severity of the potential 
penalties, compliance with this Policy is absolutely mandatory.

(a) Legal Penalties. An individual who violates insider trading laws by engaging in transactions in a company's securities when he or she has material 
nonpublic information can be sentenced to a substantial jail term (up to 20 years) and required to pay a fine of up to $5 million. An individual may 



also be banned from serving as a director or executive officer of a public company for a period of years, or even permanently. In addition, a person 
who tips others may be liable for transactions by the tippees to whom he or she has disclosed material nonpublic information. Tippers can be subject to 
the same penalties and sanctions as the tippees, and the SEC has imposed large penalties even when the tipper did not profit from the transaction.

The SEC can also seek substantial civil penalties from persons who engage in insider trading, as well as individuals who, at the time of an insider trading 
violation, "directly or indirectly controlled the person who committed such violation," including the company and management and supervisory personnel. A 
civil monetary penalty may be in an amount up to the greater of approximately $2.5 million (as of January 15, 2023; subject to annual adjustments for 
inflation), or three times the amount of the profits gained or losses avoided. Even for violations that result in a small or no profit, the SEC can seek penalties 
from a company and its management and supervisory personnel as control persons.

(b) Company-Imposed Penalties. Officers and employees who violate this Policy may be subject to disciplinary action by the Company, up to and 
including termination for cause. Any exceptions to the Policy, if permitted, may only be granted by the Compliance Officer (or the Chief Financial Officer 
in the case of the Compliance Officer) and must be received before any activity contrary to the above requirements takes place.

6. Inquiries

If you have any questions regarding any of the provisions of this Policy, please contact the Compliance Officer.



PART II

1. Blackout Periods

All Part II Persons are prohibited from trading in the Company's securities during blackout periods as defined below.

(a) Quarterly Blackout Periods. Trading in the Company's securities is prohibited during the period beginning at the close of the market on the first 
trading day that falls at least one week after the end of each fiscal quarter and ending at the close of business on the second trading day following the date 
the Company's financial results are publicly disclosed. During these periods, Part II Persons generally possess or are presumed to possess material 
nonpublic information about the Company's financial results.

(b) Other Blackout Periods. From time to time, other types of material nonpublic information regarding the Company (such as negotiation of mergers, 
acquisitions or dispositions, investigation and assessment of cybersecurity incidents, or new product developments) may be pending and not be publicly 
disclosed. While such material nonpublic information is pending, the Company may impose special blackout periods during which Part II Persons are 
prohibited from trading in the Company's securities. If the Company imposes a special blackout period, it will notify the Part II Persons affected.

(c) Exception. These trading restrictions do not apply to transactions under a written plan, contract, instruction, or arrangement under Rule 10b5-1 
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (an "Approved 10b5-1 Plan") that meets the following requirements:

(i) it has been reviewed and approved by the Compliance Officer at least five days in advance of being entered into (or, if revised or amended, such 
proposed revisions or amendments have been reviewed and approved by the Compliance Officer at least five days in advance of being entered into);

(ii) it provides that no trades may occur thereunder until expiration of the applicable cooling-off period specified in Rule 10b5-1(c)(ii)(B), and no trades do 
occur until after that time. The appropriate cooling-off period will vary based on the status of the Part II Person. For directors and officers (as defined in SEC 
Rule 16a-1(f)), the cooling-off period ends on the later of (x) 90 days after adoption or certain modifications of the 10b5-1 plan; or (y) two business days 
following disclosure of the Company's financial results in a Form 10-Q or Form 10-K for the quarter during which the 10b5-1 plan was adopted. For all other 
Part II Persons, the cooling-off period ends 30 days after adoption or modification of the 10b5-1 plan. This required cooling-off period will apply to the entry 
into a new 10b5-1 plan and any revision or modification of a 10b5-1 plan;

(iii) it is entered into in good faith by the Part II Person, and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions of Rule 10b5-1, at a time when the 
Part II Person is not in possession of material nonpublic information about the Company; and, if the Part II Person is a director or officer (as defined in Rule 
16a-1(f)), the 10b5-1 plan must include representations by the Part II Person certifying to the accuracy of those statements;

(iv) it: (x) specifies the amount of securities to be purchased or sold and the price at which and the date on which the securities were to be purchased or 
sold; (y) includes a written formula or algorithm, or computer program, for determining the items specified in clause (x); or (z) does not permit the Part II 
Person to exercise any subsequent influence over how, when or whether to effect trades, so long as any person to whom the plan has given discretionary 
authority to effect trades is not aware of any material nonpublic information when doing so; and

(v) it is the only outstanding Approved 10b5-1 Plan entered into by the Part II Person 



(subject to the exceptions set out in Rule 10b5-1(c)(ii)(D)).

No Approved 10b5-1 Plan may be adopted during a blackout period.

If you are considering entering into, modifying, or terminating an Approved 10b5-1 Plan or have any questions regarding Approved 10b5-1 Plans, please 
contact the Compliance Officer. You should consult your own legal and tax advisors before entering into, or modifying or terminating, an Approved 10b5-1 
Plan. A trading plan, contract, instruction, or arrangement will not qualify as an Approved 10b5-1 Plan without the prior review and approval of the 
Compliance Officer as described above.

2. Trading Window

Part II Persons are permitted to trade in the Company's securities when no blackout period is in effect. Generally, this means that Part II Persons can trade 
during the period beginning on the day that the blackout period under Section 1(a) ends and ending on the day that the next blackout period under Section 
1(a) begins. However, even during this trading window, a Part II Person who is in possession of any material nonpublic information must not trade in the 
Company's securities until the information has been made publicly available or is no longer material. In addition, the Company may close a trading window if 
a special blackout period under Part II, Section 1(b) above is imposed and will re-open the trading window once the special blackout period has ended.

3. Pre-Clearance of Securities Transactions

(a) Because Part II Persons are likely to obtain material nonpublic information on a regular basis, the Company requires all such persons to refrain from 
trading, even during a trading window under Part II, Section 2 above, without first pre-clearing all transactions in the Company's securities. In addition, 
certain executive officers of the Company may be required to provide other notices before trading pursuant to the Company’s Stock Ownership Policy for 
Executive Officers.

(b) Subject to the exemption in subsection (d) below, no Part II Person may, directly or indirectly, purchase or sell (or otherwise make any transfer, gift, 
pledge, or loan of) any Company security at any time without first obtaining prior approval from the Compliance Officer, or in the case of the Compliance 
Officer, from the Chief Financial Officer or Chief Executive Officer. The Part II Person seeking to trade shall certify in writing to the Compliance Officer or 
other approving executive officer before the proposed trade(s) that he or she is not aware of any material nonpublic information concerning the Company. 
These procedures also apply to transactions by such person's spouse, other persons living in such person's household and minor children and to 
transactions by entities over which such person exercises control. The existence of the foregoing approval procedures does not in any way obligate the 
Compliance Officer or other approving executive officer to approve any trades requested by a Part II Person.

(c) The Compliance Officer shall keep a record of the date each request is received and the date and time each request is approved or disapproved. 
Unless revoked, a grant of permission will normally remain valid until the close of trading one week following the day on which it was granted. If the 
transaction does not occur during the one-week period, pre-clearance of the transaction must be re-requested.

(d) Pre-clearance is not required for purchases and sales of securities under an Approved 10b5-1 Plan once the applicable cooling-off period has 
expired. No trades may be made under an Approved 10b5-1 Plan until expiration of the applicable cooling-off period. With respect to any purchase or sale 
under an Approved 10b5-1 Plan, the third party effecting transactions on behalf of the Part II Person should be instructed to send duplicate confirmations 
of all such transactions to the Compliance Officer.



4. Prohibited Transactions

(a) Company Insiders are prohibited from trading in the Company's equity securities during a blackout period imposed under an "individual account" 
retirement or pension plan of the Company, during which at least 50% of the plan participants are unable to purchase, sell or
otherwise acquire or transfer an interest in equity securities of the Company, due to a temporary suspension of trading by the Company or the plan 
fiduciary.

(b) The persons specified below, including any such person's spouse, other persons living in such person's household and minor children and entities 
over which such person exercises control, are prohibited from engaging in the following transactions in the Company's securities unless advance approval 
is obtained from the Compliance Officer or, in the case of the Compliance Officer, the Chief Financial Officer or Chief Executive Officer, and, in the case of 
the Chief Executive Officer or any Board member, the Board of Directors:

(i) Short-term trading. Part II Persons who purchase Company securities may not sell any Company securities of the same class for at least six 
months after the purchase;

(ii) Short sales. Part II Persons may not sell the Company's securities short;

(iii) Options trading. Part II Persons may not buy or sell puts or calls or other derivative securities on the Company's securities;

(iv) Trading on margin or pledging. Part II Persons may not hold Company securities in a margin account or pledge Company securities as collateral 
for a loan; and

(v) Hedging. Part II Persons may not enter into hedging or monetization transactions or similar arrangements with respect to Company securities, 
including through the use of financial instruments such as prepaid variable forwards, equity swaps, collars, exchange funds, puts, calls, or other derivative 
securities that are designed to hedge or offset a decrease in market value of Company securities. This restriction is in addition to the restrictions applicable 
to
Directors and Executive Officers in the Company’s Anti-Hedging Policy.

5. Acknowledgment and Certification

All Part II Persons are required to sign the attached acknowledgment and certification.



ACKNOWLEDGMENT AND CERTIFICATION

The undersigned does hereby acknowledge receipt of Barrett Business Services, Inc.’s Insider Trading Policy. The undersigned has read and understands 
(or has had explained) such Policy and agrees to be governed by such Policy at all times in connection with the purchase and sale of securities and the 
confidentiality of nonpublic information.

 
 
 

 
 

(Signature)
 
 
 

(Print Name)
 



APPENDIX A

Members of the Accounting Department (excluding Accounts Payable personnel)

Members of the Finance Department

Members of the Internal Audit Department



 

 

EXHIBIT 21
 

SUBSIDIARIES OF BARRETT BUSINESS SERVICES, INC.

At December 31, 2024
 

Subsidiary   Jurisdiction of Formation
     
Associated Insurance Company for Excess   Arizona
Ecole Insurance Company   Arizona
BBS I, LLC   Oregon
 



 

 

EXHIBIT 23.1
 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-33487, 333-105833, 333-161592, 333-205434, 333-231926, 333-239460, 
333-272945 on Form S-8, and Registration Statement 333-260745 on Form S-3 of our reports dated February 28, 2025 relating to the financial statements of 
Barrett Business Services, Inc., and the effectiveness of Barrett Business Services, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting, appearing in this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K of Barrett Business Services, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2024. 
 
/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP 
 
Portland, Oregon
February 28, 2025
 
 



EXHIBIT 31.1
 
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

I, Gary E. Kramer, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Barrett Business Services, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the Registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by 
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this annual report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report, based on such 
evaluation; and

d. disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most-
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably 
likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to 
the Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal 
control over financial reporting.

 
Date:  February 28, 2025   /s/ Gary E. Kramer
    Gary E. Kramer
    Chief Executive Officer
 



EXHIBIT 31.2
 
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, Anthony J. Harris, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Barrett Business Services, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the Registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by 
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this annual report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report, based on such 
evaluation; and

d. disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most-
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably 
likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to 
the Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal 
control over financial reporting.

 
Date:  February 28, 2025   /s/ Anthony J. Harris
    Anthony J. Harris
    Chief Financial Officer
 



 

 

EXHIBIT 32
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the Annual Report of Barrett Business Services, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024 as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), the undersigned certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
/s/ Gary E. Kramer   /s/ Anthony J. Harris
Gary E. Kramer   Anthony J. Harris
Chief Executive Officer   Chief Financial Officer
     
February 28, 2025   February 28, 2025
 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Barrett Business Services, Inc. and will be retained by Barrett Business 
Services, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.


